# Disciple Christian Chapter 13 Ministry, Evangelism and Missions

### Contents

Christian Ministry, Evangelism, and Missions:
Introduction:
The key areas of preparation and execution for Christian Ministry, Evangelism and Missions, focusing on challenges and biblical / practical solutions,
Establishing and Maintaining a Personal Relationship with Jesus
Some Challenges and Biblical Solutions For Ministry, Evangelism and Missions17
Ministry22
Biblical Commentary on Ministry and Ministries — Ministering to Those Inside the Church and Outside in the Community 26
Aspects Of Ministry: A Biblical Perspective
Evangelism40
Proclaiming the Good News: A Commentary on Evangelism in the Bible44
Proclaiming the Good News - The Heart of Evangelism45
Missions
How did Jesus Instruct and commission His disciples to reach the lost of House of Israel?50
Types Of Ministries, Evangelism and Missions List56
Christian Missions vs. Christian Tours:63
Preparing Our Hearts and Minds for Missions64
Spiritual Division within Team Members65
Biblical Foundation for Unity and Love in Mission Teams 66
Counting the Cost of Being a Missionary (A Biblical Reflection). 67
Following Jesus and Being Led by the Holy Spirit in Missions: 68

Be a Witness for Jesus Christ	69
Biblical Commentary on Being a Witness for Christ	72
Confessing Jesus	80
The Word of Our Testimony	82
Feed The Hungary, Clothe The Naked, Shelter The Homele	ess,
and Welcome The Strangers	
Christlike Love	85
Compassion	88
Good Works and Fruit	93
Christian Works and Talents	98
Spiritual Fruit	102
Visit and Support The Sick, Widows, Orphans	106
Visit Troubled Youth and Prisoners	108
Good Neighbor	109
Hospitality	112
Gifts Of The Holy Spirit	113
Stewardship	119
Holiness and Integrity	125
Servant of God and Others	127
Serve One Another	131
Be Doers of God's Word, Not Just Hearers	134
Go the Extra Mile	135
Let Your Light Shine	138
Charity / Giving To Those In Need	141
Vision And Objectives	
Church Planting	

#### Christian Ministry, Evangelism, and Missions:

#### Introduction:

**Matthew 9:37-38:(AKJV)** In Matthew 9:37-38, Jesus speaks to His disciples about the need for more laborers in the harvest, stating, "But when he (Jesus) saw the multitudes, he was moved with compassion on them, because they fainted, and were scattered abroad, as sheep having no shepherd. 37Then says he to his disciples, **The harvest truly is plenteous, but the laborers are few; 38Pray you therefore the Lord of the harvest, that he will send forth laborers into his harvest.**" This conveys the urgency of the mission and the need for active participation.

John 4: 35-38 (AKJV) Say not you, There are yet four months, and then comes harvest? behold, I say to you, Lift up your eyes, and look on the fields; for they are white already to harvest. 36And he that reaps receives wages, and gathers fruit to life eternal: that both he that sows and he that reaps may rejoice together. 37And herein is that saying true, One sows, and another reaps. 38I sent you to reap that where on you bestowed no labor: other men labored, and you are entered into their labors.

very Christian, as a disciple of Jesus Christ, in a sense is or should be a type of a "missionary or evangelist" because we are all called to be ministers to those in our local communities, and country, serving the needs of the people, visiting the sick, elderly, widows, providing food, clothing, shelter to those in need etc. This primarily includes, confessing Jesus publicly, testifying of Jesus and how He alone saved us, about His grace and forgiveness, sharing His Word of truth, Bringing light and hope to a dark, confused world, and most of all for us to demonstrate the same divine love of Jesus Christ, to those around us.

Yet a "missionary" more typically refers to a Christian who is specifically called by God goes to a foreign land—or at least beyond their local community—to proclaim and teach the Word of God, sharing a message of repentance and salvation through Jesus Christ. (All Christians are not specifically called by God to a foreign mission field or project) Missionaries also declare that the Kingdom of Heaven is at hand. In addition to preaching, they demonstrate Christ's love through acts of service, such as building and infrastructure projects, providing clean water, teaching personal hygiene, nutrition, electricity, food, shelter, clothing, medical supplies and care, and various other assistance. They may also teach practical skills like reading, education, farming, carpentry, and other trades to help improve the lives of the people they serve.

Although every Christian is called to openly confess Jesus Christ as their Lord and Savior wherever God has them, in their local community or foreign lands. We are to share our personal testimonies of our relationship with Jesus Christ and about all that He has done for us. Proclaiming the Word of God, and demonstrating the love of Jesus Christ to the world, and making disciples.

Mission work is generally divided into two categories:

- 1. Short-term mission work, which involves serving for a few weeks or months in a foreign land; and
- 2. Long-term mission work, which typically involves serving for six months, a year, or longer

Romans 10:13-15 ( AKJV) For whoever shall call on the name of the Lord shall be saved.14How then shall they call on him in whom they have not believed? and how shall they believe in him of whom they have not heard? and how shall they hear without a preacher? 15And how shall they preach, except they be sent? as it is written, How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the gospel of peace, and bring glad tidings of good things!

It is not necessary for a Christian to attend formal school to qualify for mission work. However, Christian discipleship, personal Bible study, logistics and research into the specific needs of the people they are called to serve can be extremely helpful. What's really most essential is spending intimate time with Jesus, in prayer, worship, meditating on God's word, and seeking the divine wisdom of Jesus, and guidance of God's Holy Spirit. Planning and seeking God's guidance in prayer for how to best help and reach a particular people group—considering factors such as regional culture, customs, geography, and climate—are all essential for equipping a Christian to be more effective in the mission field.

There are still many unreached people groups throughout the world, however now with technology and the internet more and more people are hearing the gospel of Jesus Christ for the first time. Even if you are unable or not called to be a foreign missionary, still every Christian should try to support various foreign missions projects, Christian missionaries and ministries around the world as the Lord leads.

Christians who already speak the native language or dialect of the people they are called to serve are invaluable. However, those who do not speak the language can learn over time, use human or electronic translators or use basic sign language of sorts. Remember with God all things are possible, it is the Holy Spirit that teaches all truth, we are only the vessels of the love of Jesus Christ, and to use our talents wisely. Learning the culture of a specific people group before going is also highly beneficial.

Every Christian should prayerfully seek where God is leading them to serve, responding willingly and joyfully when He calls. In doing so, they will experience God's abundant blessings—not only for themselves but also for those they serve.

Missionary work has had a profound impact on both individuals and societies, both physically and spiritually, over the centuries.

As Christians, we have been called by God to bring the love, hope, and salvation of Jesus Christ to those who are often marginalized or overlooked by the broader world. Through various world mission outreaches and projects, Christian missionaries have been instrumental in bringing needed life sustaining provisions, education, healthcare, and spiritual renewal by proclaiming hope in Jesus to regions where these resources were scarce or nonexistent. As disciples of Jesus Christ, we have not only shared His message of eternal life but have also demonstrated His love in tangible ways by meeting the physical needs of people—food, clothing, shelter, clean water, sanitation, needed infrastructure and medical care etc..

Spiritually, as disciples of Jesus Christ, we have been entrusted with the incredible mission of spreading the Gospel message, a message that brings hope, healing, and transformation to countless individuals. Through the faithful proclamation of the good news of Jesus Christ, we have seen multitudes come to faith, experiencing the new birth that only He can offer. By God's grace, people who were once bound by sin, fear, confusion, or despair have encountered the life-changing love, forgiveness, and redemption that is found only in Jesus. Through the Gospel, they have received lasting peace, the true peace only Jesus can give that transcends circumstances, and the gift of eternal salvation.

The most important aspect of being a missionary is bringing and demonstrating the divine love of Jesus Christ to the world. This love is made evident through wholehearted service, instilled and empowered by God's Holy Spirit working spiritually through us to reach the peoples of the world. As disciples of Jesus, we are called to reflect His character, and this means embodying genuine Christlike virtues in everything we do.

In the name of Christ, dedicated missionary servants, historically have laid a foundation for long-term transformation in communities around the world. By building hospitals, schools, orphanages, and clinics, we have helped provide the infrastructure and services necessary to uplift the most vulnerable. We have introduced practices that improve public health, reduce human suffering, and offer opportunities for growth and development. Many of the earliest healthcare and educational institutions in some of the world's poorest regions were established by missionaries who were driven by the compassion of Christ.

As we serve in His name, we are not only helping to alleviate immediate suffering but also equipping communities with the tools for lasting change. These institutions and services have been a critical lifeline, lifting people out of poverty and bringing them closer to global standards of living. Through these efforts, we, as followers of Christ, are continuing His work on earth—bringing His Kingdom into the lives of those who need it most.

We are called to serve with **kindness**, offering a hand to those in need, and speaking words filled with kindness and understanding, not being rude or harsh unjustly. Our service is marked by **compassion**, responding to the pain and suffering of others with hearts full of empathy and the willingness to walk alongside them in their struggles. Actually putting our compassion into action doing our part to help those in need with the resources and talents that God gave us and not just walking by doing nothing. Of course

we cannot aid everyone in need, but we should be attentive and willing to serve others as God directs.

As Jesus demonstrated, we should practice **hospitality**, welcoming others—especially strangers—into our lives with open hearts and open homes. We should invite others into the warmth of Christian community, making them feel seen, valued, and loved. In our words and actions, we should offer **encouragement** to those who are weary and **comfort** to those in sorrow, reminding them of their identity in Christ and the hope we have in Him.

We are also called to act with **forgiveness**, extending the same grace that Christ has shown us to those who have wronged us. Just as Jesus forgave His enemies, we are to offer the hope of reconciliation and peace, even in the most challenging relationships.

We should practice **charity**, not only in material help but in the love that seeks the best for others, even when it costs us something. We should be generous with our time, resources, and energy, sharing freely with those in need.

Through **helps** and **visitation**, we are to come alongside the hurting and isolated, offering both practical assistance and the presence of Christ's love. We should offer **empathy**, putting ourselves in the lives of others, loving others as we would want them to love us, seeking to understand their pain and needs with deep, heartfelt care. In all these things, we reflect the heart of Jesus, who came not to be served, but to serve, giving His life for the sake of others.

We are called to serve with **sacrificial love**, putting the needs of others before our own, just as Jesus gave His life for us. This love is not just a feeling, but an active, self-giving commitment to others, even when it costs us personally or materially. We are also called to serve with **humility**, not seeking recognition or status, but embracing the role of a servant just as Jesus washed His disciples' feet, demonstrating that true greatness is found in serving others.

Our service is should be marked by **patience**, giving others the grace and time they need to grow and change. Like Jesus, who was patient with His disciples and the crowds, we are called to be long-suffering with others, allowing God's timing to unfold in their lives.

We are called to embody **joyful service**, serving with a glad heart ,not grudgingly even in the midst of trials, knowing that our work is not in vain. Like Jesus, who endured the cross for the joy set before Him, we are called to serve others with joy, trusting in God's eternal purposes even when the work is difficult.

In all these things, we are to reflect the heart of Jesus, who came not to be served, but to serve, giving His life for the sake of others. By allowing the Holy Spirit to work through us, we become instruments of His love, demonstrating the power of the Gospel through our actions and offering the world a glimpse of Christ's Kingdom.

By allowing the Holy Spirit to work through us, we demonstrate the love of Christ through our words and actions, showing the world that the Gospel is not just a message but a lived reality—one that transforms not only the lives of those we serve but also our own hearts, as we follow in the footsteps of our Savior.

In our mission work, we may also be called helped establish local churches and raise up indigenous leaders who can carry the torch of Christ's love forward. As missionaries we

should support and work alongside local believers, as needed to create vibrant, self-sustaining Christian communities—communities that continue to thrive and grow long after we have departed. As foreign churches become established they become much more than places of worship; they have become beacons of light, offering education, aid, and spiritual support to entire regions, sending out more local missionaries who know their own people, customs, language and logistics. Thereby they are able to reach more people for Christ, who would not otherwise hear the Good News.nAs disciples of Jesus, we know that this is not just the work of individuals, but of the Holy Spirit, who continues to work through the faithful to bring the Kingdom of God to the nations.

The love of Jesus Christ, demonstrated by missionaries through both word and action, has had a profound and lasting impact on the world.

#### Key Scriptures:

#### The Great Commission and Evangelism

- 1. Matthew 28:18–20 "Go therefore and make disciples of all nations..." Jesus 'command to make disciples of all people groups.
- 2. Mark 16:15 "Go into all the world and preach the gospel to all creation." A global call to proclaim the gospel to everyone.
- 3. Acts 1:8 "You will be my witnesses... to the ends of the earth." Empowerment by the Holy Spirit for witness locally and globally.
- **4.** Romans 1:16 "For I am not ashamed of the gospel..." The gospel is God's power for salvation to everyone who believes.
- 5. 2 Corinthians 5:20 "We are therefore Christ's ambassadors..."
  - Believers represent Christ in reconciling the world to God.

#### **God's Heart for the Nations**

- 6. Genesis 12:3 "All peoples on earth will be blessed through you."
  - God's covenant with Abraham includes a blessing for all nations.
- 7. Psalm 96:3 "Declare his glory among the nations..."
  - A call to proclaim God's glory and wonders to every people.
- 8. Isaiah 6:8 "Here am I. Send me!"
  - Isaiah's response to God's call to be sent.
- 9. Isaiah 49:6 "I will make you a light for the Gentiles..."
  - The mission of the servant of the Lord to reach all nations.

- **10.** Revelation 7:9 "A great multitude... from every nation..."
  - A vision of redeemed people from every nation worshiping God.

#### Power and Role of the Holy Spirit

- 11. Luke 4:18–19 "The Spirit of the Lord is upon me..."
  - Jesus declares His mission, empowered by the Holy Spirit.
- 12. **John 20:21–22** "As the Father has sent me, I am sending you..." Jesus commissions His disciples and gives them the Holy Spirit.
- **13. 1 Thessalonians 1:5** "Our gospel came... with power and with the Holy Spirit..."
  - Ministry marked by Spirit-empowered proclamation and conviction.

#### **Ministry and Discipleship**

- **14. Ephesians 4:11–12** "To equip the saints for the work of ministry..."
  - Church leaders are given to equip others for ministry.
- 15. 2 Timothy 2:2 "Entrust to faithful men who will be able to teach others also."
  - A model of multiplication through faithful teaching.
- **16.** Colossians 1:28–29 "Him we proclaim... so that we may present everyone mature in Christ."
  - The goal of ministry is spiritual maturity through Christ-centered teaching.

#### **Faithfulness and Endurance in Ministry**

- 17. 1 Corinthians 9:22–23 "I have become all things to all people..."
  - Paul's strategy of adaptability for the sake of the gospel.
- **18.** Galatians 6:9 "Let us not grow weary of doing good..."
  - Encouragement to persist in ministry without giving up.
- 19. 2 Timothy 4:2 "Preach the word; be ready in season and out of season..."
  - A call to faithful, consistent proclamation of God's Word.
- **20. Matthew 9:37–38** "The harvest is plentiful but the laborers are few..."
  - Jesus calls us to pray for more workers to be sent into the harvest.

# The key areas of preparation and execution for Christian Ministry, Evangelism and Missions, focusing on challenges and biblical / practical solutions,

#### 1. Discipleship

Preparation for Christian ministry, evangelism, and missions begins with a deep understanding that every believer is called to be a disciple who makes disciples. Ministry is not a title; it's a lifestyle of surrender, learning, and obedience to Jesus Christ. Before Jesus sent His followers out, He first called them to follow Him—to walk with Him in relationship and transformation (Matthew 4:19). Effective ministry begins here: following Jesus as Lord, learning His ways, and becoming more like Him. Discipleship is the training ground for all evangelistic and missionary work, because it aligns the heart with the mission of God and purifies motives. Ministry without discipleship becomes performance-based or self-centered. But when rooted in Christ, ministry becomes a natural overflow of abiding in Him (John 15:5), aimed not at results for personal glory, but at faithful service for the glory of God.

Christian discipleship is not an optional aspect of the faith—it is the very essence of following Jesus. From the moment Christ called His first disciples with the words, "Follow me, and I will make you fishers of men" (Matthew 4:19), He set the standard: discipleship involves transformation and mission. Jesus did not call people to merely believe in Him mentally or emotionally but to walk with Him, learn from Him, and become like Him. Discipleship means surrendering our will, dying to self, and embracing the lifelong journey of spiritual growth (Luke 9:23; Romans 12:1–2). This calling was not reserved for the Twelve; it extends to all believers (Matthew 28:19–20). The church today must not reduce Christianity to a decision or a Sunday experience—it must return to the biblical model of discipleship: relationship, teaching, obedience, and reproduction of other disciples.

#### 2. Equipped by the Word: The Foundation of Effective Ministry

One of the greatest preparations for ministry and missions is being thoroughly grounded in the **Word of God**. Scripture is not just information—it is the source of our **authority**, **instruction**, **and transformation**. Paul reminded Timothy that "all Scripture is breathed out by God and profitable for teaching... that the man of God may be complete, equipped for every good work" (2 Timothy 3:16–17). Every faithful evangelist, teacher, or missionary must first be a diligent student of the Bible. The Word renews the mind (Romans 12:2), corrects error, and forms convictions. Without it, ministry lacks power and integrity. Execution of evangelism and missions must therefore be **Word-driven**, presenting the gospel clearly (Romans 1:16) and responding to the spiritual hunger of others with truth, not opinion. The worker who rightly handles the Word (2 Timothy 2:15) builds strong foundations, avoids deception, and brings lasting fruit.

At the core of true discipleship is the **Word of God**. A disciple is, by definition, a learner—and the source of our learning is Scripture. Jesus Himself taught continually from the Scriptures and affirmed that man does not live by bread alone but by every word that proceeds from the mouth of God (Matthew 4:4). In John 8:31–32, He declared, "If you abide in my word, you are truly my disciples, and you will know the truth, and the truth will set you free." God's Word not only informs the disciple but transforms the heart, renews the mind, and aligns the will with God's purposes (Psalm 119:9–11; 2 Timothy 3:16–17). Without immersion in Scripture, discipleship becomes shallow, vulnerable to error, and disconnected from the authority of Christ. Every disciple must be taught to study, memorize, meditate on, and rightly handle the Word of truth (2 Timothy 2:15).

#### 3. Obedience and Application: Living the Message You Proclaim

Learning God's Word is essential, but knowledge without application leads to deception and pride (James 1:22–25; 1 Corinthians 8:1). Discipleship must lead to **life transformation**. Jesus described the wise disciple as the one who hears His words and puts them into practice—building a life on rock rather than sand (Matthew 7:24–27). Application begins with conviction, then obedience. It affects our speech, thoughts, relationships, and decisions. As the Word takes root, it produces the fruit of the Spirit (Galatians 5:22–23) and leads to holy living (1 Peter 1:14–16). True discipleship will always confront the sinful nature and call believers to die to the flesh. It requires humility, repentance, and submission. But this obedience is not a burden—it is the path to abundant life (John 10:10), joy (John 15:11), and freedom from sin's dominion (Romans 6:14–18).

The authority of our ministry flows not only from the truth we preach but from the **lives** we live. A major challenge in modern ministry is the gap between knowing God's Word and applying it. James warns that hearing without doing leads to self-deception (James 1:22–25). For evangelism and missions to bear genuine fruit, the messenger must **live** out the message. Personal holiness, humility, and visible obedience lend credibility and power to gospel proclamation. Paul told Timothy to "watch your life and doctrine closely" (1 Timothy 4:16) because both are critical. Preparation for ministry means letting the Word of God confront sin, shape attitudes, and direct choices. This application is often forged in quiet surrender and tested in public ministry. Only when the gospel transforms the life of the minister can it be effectively preached to others with conviction, authenticity, and spiritual authority.

#### 4. Love in Action: Demonstrating Christ in Spirit and in Truth

The ultimate aim of all ministry and mission is to **reveal the love of Jesus Christ**—a love that is not abstract but tangible, rooted in truth and empowered by the Holy Spirit. Jesus said, "By this all men will know that you are my disciples, if you love one another" (John 13:35). Ministry executed without love becomes noise (1 Corinthians 13:1–3). In

evangelism and missions, this love must be demonstrated across cultures, personalities, and brokenness. However, **true love does not compromise truth**. It speaks the truth in love (Ephesians 4:15) and rejoices with righteousness (1 Corinthians 13:6). Ministry must be **Spirit-filled**, not just emotionally driven, and should carry both compassion and conviction. The Spirit enables believers to love deeply, forgive continually, and serve sacrificially—all marks of Christ-centered ministry. Preparation for such love comes through time with God, purification of motives, and dependence on the Spirit.

Love is the mark of a true disciple. Jesus said, "By this all people will know that you are my disciples, if you have love for one another" (John 13:35). But this love is not mere sentiment—it is rooted in **truth** and guided by the **Holy Spirit**. True love flows from a heart changed by the gospel and aligns with God's Word (1 John 3:18; Romans 12:9). The Holy Spirit empowers believers to love as Jesus did—sacrificially, sincerely, and consistently (Romans 5:5). A Spirit-filled disciple will love others with patience, forgiveness, humility, and courage—even when it costs something. At the same time, love must be grounded in truth. It does not affirm sin or compromise righteousness. As Paul says, "Love rejoices with the truth" (1 Corinthians 13:6). To demonstrate Jesus's love in spirit and truth is to hold both grace and truth together, just as Christ did (John 1:14).

#### 5. Endurance and Growth: The Lifelong Journey of Ministry

Ministry and missions are not one-time events—they are **lifelong assignments** that require perseverance and continual growth. Jesus warned that the road is narrow and filled with trials (Matthew 7:14), and Paul described ministry as a race that requires endurance (2 Timothy 4:7). Preparation includes developing habits of spiritual discipline, emotional resilience, and theological maturity. Execution of long-term ministry demands flexibility, learning from setbacks, and remaining rooted when fruit is delayed. God matures His servants through both victories and sufferings. Just as Moses was prepared for 40 years before leading Israel, so too God often refines His servants in hidden seasons. Missionaries and evangelists must continually return to God's presence, staying refreshed, teachable, and faithful. Discipleship doesn't end with basic knowledge—it grows into wisdom and produces leaders who can teach others (Hebrews 5:14; 2 Timothy 2:2).

Discipleship is not a one-time course or seasonal effort—it is a **lifelong pursuit** of Christ. Paul, nearing the end of his life, still pressed on to know Christ more deeply (Philippians 3:10–14). Spiritual growth happens gradually, through seasons of joy and trial, and often in community with others. There is no graduation in discipleship—only deeper maturity, deeper dependence on Christ, and greater usefulness in His kingdom. As disciples grow, they increasingly reflect the character of Christ (Romans 8:29), walk in wisdom (Colossians 1:9–10), and bear lasting fruit (John 15:5,8). Mistakes and failures are part of the process, as seen in Peter's life, but Christ restores and strengthens those who continue to follow Him (John 21:15–19). Therefore, discipleship requires perseverance, accountability, and faith that God will finish the good work He began (Philippians 1:6).

#### 6. Multiplication and Reproduction: Disciples Making Disciples

The mission of discipleship is not complete until a disciple becomes a **disciple-maker**. The Great Commission (Matthew 28:19–20) is not only about evangelizing the lost—it's about **teaching them to obey all that Christ commanded**, which includes making more disciples. Paul told Timothy to entrust what he learned to faithful men who would teach others also (2 Timothy 2:2). This multiplication is the biblical model. Churches and ministries must prioritize relational, reproducible discipleship—raising leaders, equipping new believers, and mentoring the next generation. Discipleship is not a program; it's a lifestyle. It happens over meals, in small groups, in honest conversations, and in walking through life together. As disciples invest in others, the gospel spreads not just wide, but deep—creating spiritually mature believers who stand firm, love boldly, and serve faithfully.

The Great Commission is not only a call to preach the gospel, but to **make disciples**—who in turn make more disciples (Matthew 28:19–20). This principle of **multiplication** is central to effective missions and ministry strategy. Jesus did not build crowds—He built people. His investment in twelve men changed the world. Similarly, Paul told Timothy to entrust the gospel to faithful men who would teach others also (2 Timothy 2:2). Preparation for mission work must include not only Bible study and evangelism training but also skills in mentoring, teaching, and relationship-building. Execution means moving beyond event-based ministry to **life-on-life discipleship**, walking with others in their growth, and equipping them to lead. Churches and ministries that fail to multiply disciples remain stagnant. The goal is not personal success but spiritual reproduction—passing on the faith, training new leaders, and expanding God's kingdom across generations and cultures.

# 7. Christ-Centered Ministry: Deny Self, Exalt Jesus, and Glorify God

The ultimate purpose of ministry, missions, and evangelism is to **exalt Jesus Christ and glorify God** (John 17:4; Philippians 2:9–11). It is not about building platforms or gaining recognition. Jesus taught that those who would follow Him must **deny themselves, take up their cross, and follow** (Luke 9:23). This self-denial is essential in preparation—it purifies motives and redirects the heart toward God's agenda. In execution, it ensures that Christ remains the focus, not the servant. Paul declared, "We do not preach ourselves, but Jesus Christ as Lord" (2 Corinthians 4:5). Every sermon, every outreach, every act of service must exist to lift up the name of Jesus. Ministry is successful not when crowds gather, but when God is glorified and His will is done. Disciples who serve with this mindset will not only endure—they will bear fruit that remains (John 15:16), and bring glory to the Father.

All Christian discipleship and service ultimately exists through Jesus for the **glory of God**. The purpose of learning God's Word, applying it, and loving others is not self-improvement or spiritual prestige—it is to magnify and honor God (1 Corinthians 10:31; Matthew 5:16). As disciples grow in Christlikeness, the world sees the reality of the gospel displayed through our lives (Titus 2:10). The goal is not merely to be better people, but to be living testimonies that point to Jesus. Discipleship must always remain Christ-centered and God-exalting. This keeps the focus away from performance and rooted in grace. It protects the church from pride and fosters humility and worship. As Jesus said, when we bear much fruit, we prove to be His disciples—and in doing so, we bring glory to the Father (John 15:8). True discipleship, then, is not about us—it is about Him.

# Establishing and Maintaining a Personal Relationship with Jesus

#### 1. Genuine Relationship vs. Superficialness Belief

- **Personal relationship with Jesus** means living in daily communion with Him—praying, listening, obeying, trusting, and loving Him as Savior and Lord.
- Saying you believe without following can reflect a more superficial or cultural belief—acknowledging His existence but lacking transformation or obedience.

#### 2. Faith That Transforms vs. Dead Faith

- **True faith produces change**: A real relationship leads to repentance, love, obedience, and growth.
- Mere belief without obedience is considered "dead faith."

"Faith by itself, if it does not have works, is dead." – James 2:17 "If you love me, you will keep my commandments." – John 14:15

#### 3. Lordship of Christ

- Following Jesus means recognizing Him as Lord—yielding your life to His will.
- **Just believing without submission** keeps you in control of your life, which contradicts the call of discipleship.

<sup>&</sup>quot;This people honors me with their lips, but their heart is far from me." - Matthew 15:8

<sup>&</sup>quot;Why do you call me 'Lord, Lord, 'and not do what I tell you?" - Luke 6:46

#### 4. Assurance and Intimacy

- A personal relationship brings peace, joy, and assurance of salvation.
- Nominal belief often leaves people insecure or lukewarm in faith.

"My sheep hear my voice, and I know them, and they follow me." – John 10:27 "Not everyone who says to me, 'Lord, Lord, 'will enter the kingdom of heaven, but the one who does the will of my Father..." – Matthew 7:21

#### 5. Fruitfulness

- A real relationship bears fruit: love, kindness, self-control, evangelism, etc.
- False or shallow belief often produces no fruit, or even hypocrisy.

#### 6. Quality Time and Devotion

- Personal Relationship: Spending daily time with Jesus in prayer, worship, and reading the Word. Pursuing Him as your best friend or loved one, above all others.
- Mere Belief: Little to no time spent with God; Jesus is not prioritized or pursued.

#### 7. Willing Obedience Rooted in Love

- **Personal Relationship:** Obeying Jesus out of love, not obligation. Joyfully doing what He asks because you trust and love Him.
- Mere Belief: Selective or reluctant obedience, often motivated by fear, guilt, or convenience.

#### **Establishing and Maintaining a Personal Relationship with Jesus**

Establishing a personal relationship with Jesus begins with the foundational truth of the **gospel**—that we are saved by grace through faith in Jesus Christ (Ephesians 2:8–

<sup>&</sup>quot;You will recognize them by their fruits." – Matthew 7:16
"Every branch in me that does not bear fruit he takes away..." – John 15:2

<sup>&</sup>quot;Whoever has my commands and keeps them is the one who loves me." – John 14:21 "Remain in me, as I also remain in you... apart from me you can do nothing." – John 15:4–5

9). This relationship is not based on religious performance but on God's loving initiative to reconcile sinners to Himself through the life, death, and resurrection of His Son (Romans 5:8). Jesus Himself declared, "I am the way, and the truth, and the life. No one comes to the Father except through me" (John 14:6). To enter into a relationship with Him, one must recognize their need for salvation, repent of sin, and place their full trust in Christ as Lord and Savior (Romans 10:9–10). This marks the beginning of a spiritual rebirth (John 3:3), where the believer is adopted into God's family and indwelt by the Holy Spirit (Romans 8:14–17). A relationship with Jesus is not merely a decision; it is the start of a daily walk of faith, rooted in love and built on truth.

Maintaining this relationship involves **ongoing intimacy**, cultivated through spiritual disciplines such as prayer, Scripture reading, worship, and fellowship with other believers. Jesus models this intimacy with the Father, often withdrawing to pray and commune with Him (Mark 1:35). In John 15:4–5, Jesus urges us as His followers to "abide in me, and I in you," emphasizing that apart from Him, they can do nothing. This abiding is not passive but intentional—believers are called to remain in His Word (John 8:31), walk in the Spirit (Galatians 5:16), and seek His presence continually (Psalm 27:8). Just as a branch draws life from the vine, so a believer must draw spiritual life and strength from constant communion with Christ. Maintaining a relationship with Jesus means keeping Him at the center of our lives, inviting Him into every decision, struggle, and joy, and resisting the drift toward spiritual apathy.

Obedience is another vital component of relationship. Jesus equated love for Him with keeping His commands: "If you love me, you will keep my commandments" (John 14:15). True intimacy with Jesus does not lead to lawlessness or complacency but to a heartfelt desire to please Him. The commands of Christ are not burdensome (1 John 5:3) but lifegiving, guiding believers into holiness, peace, and purpose. Obedience flows from love, not obligation. The one who follows Christ out of love will find that His commands are a delight rather than a duty (Psalm 119:97). Furthermore, Jesus promised that obedience deepens fellowship: "Whoever has my commands and keeps them is the one who loves me. The one who loves me will be loved by my Father, and I too will love them and show myself to them" (John 14:21). As we obey, we encounter more of Christ's presence and power, reinforcing and enriching our relationship with Him.

Finally, a growing relationship with Jesus involves a **willing surrender of our will to His**, marked by trust in His goodness, even when the path is difficult. Spiritual maturity is not about religious perfection but about increasing dependence on Christ and decreasing self-reliance (John 3:30). Life with Jesus is a journey of transformation, where the Holy Spirit conforms us to His image (Romans 8:29). Trials, rather than weakening the relationship, can actually deepen it—drawing us closer to Jesus as our refuge and sustaining grace (2 Corinthians 12:9). Maintaining this relationship requires perseverance, humility, and vulnerability. It means saying "yes" when He calls, forgiving as He forgives, and loving others as He has loved us (John 13:34–35). A personal relationship with Jesus is not a static status; it is a dynamic, growing, love-filled walk that touches every part of our lives—and ultimately leads us home to eternal communion with Him.

### Some Challenges and Biblical Solutions For Ministry, Evangelism and Missions

#### 1. Spiritual Preparation and Foundation

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Spiritual warfare and temptation (Ephesians 6:12)
- Discouragement, fear, or doubt
- Shallow motivation or self-centered ambition

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Trusting God Fully Lean not on your own understanding (Proverbs 3:5-6)
- Faith in Jesus Christ and His Promises Believe and obey His Word (John 14:1; Hebrews 10:23)
- **Prayer, Fasting, and Bible Study** Seek God's will and grow spiritually (Mark 9:29; 2 Timothy 3:16-17)
- Obtain and Demonstrate a Sincere Love for God and Others Love God with all your heart and love your neighbor (Matthew 22:37-39; John 13:34-35)
- Follow Jesus and Keep His Word True love for God is shown in obedience (John 14:15, 23)

#### 2. Reliance on the Holy Spirit

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Human self-reliance
- Lack of spiritual discernment or power
- Uncertainty in decisions and direction

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- **Depend on the Holy Spirit's Leading** Be led as sons and daughters of God (Romans 8:14)
- Receive Power to Witness Be bold and effective through the Spirit (Acts 1:8)
- **Discernment and Wisdom** The Spirit teaches and reminds us of Jesus' words (John 14:26)

#### 3. Cultural and Contextual Understanding

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Cultural offense or misunderstanding
- Ethnocentrism or insensitivity
- Language and communication barriers

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Adapt to the People You're Reaching As Paul did (1 Corinthians 9:22)
- Study the Local Language and Culture To show respect and communicate clearly (Acts 2:6-8)
- Work with Local Believers Strengthen and empower indigenous leadership (Titus 1:5)

#### 4. Physical and Logistical Preparation

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Health risks or dangerous environments
- Financial shortages or lack of resources
- Poor logistical planning

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Plan Wisely and Steward Resources Well Count the cost before beginning (Luke 14:28)
- **Be Content in All Circumstances** Trust God's provision (Philippians 4:11-13)

• Establish a Strong Support System – Through prayer, financial backing, and accountability (Philippians 1:5; 3 John 1:5-8)

#### 5. Team Dynamics and Unity

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Conflict within the team
- Burnout or emotional stress
- Miscommunication or lack of shared vision

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- **Be Strong and Courageous in the Lord** God is your strength (Joshua 1:9; Ephesians 6:10)
- Practice Humility and Forgiveness Work in unity and love (Philippians 2:1-4; Colossians 3:13-14)
- Daily Prayer and Team Devotions Stay spiritually connected and focused (Acts 1:14)

#### 6. Evangelism and Discipleship Strategy

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Gospel rejection or hostility
- Superficial decisions for Christ
- Inadequate follow-up or discipleship

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Share the Gospel in Love and Truth Speak the truth in love (Ephesians 4:15)
- **Disciple Faithfully, Not Just Convert** Teach obedience to all Christ's commands (Matthew 28:19-20)
- Rely on the Holy Spirit for Results It is God who changes hearts (John 16:8;
   1 Corinthians 3:6-7)

#### 7. Endurance, Perseverance, and Courage

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Physical and emotional exhaustion
- Opposition or persecution
- Delayed fruit or progress

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Persevere in Trials and Suffering Don't grow weary in doing good (Galatians 6:9; James 1:12)
- Endure Hardship as a Good Soldier Stay focused on Christ (2 Timothy 2:3)
- **Be Strong in the Lord and of Good Courage** God is with you (Deuteronomy 31:6; Psalm 27:14)

#### 8. Denying Self and Keeping Jesus the Focus

#### **Common Challenges:**

- Temptation to seek personal recognition or success
- Drift from God's purpose toward self-driven goals
- Pride, comfort-seeking, or misplaced motivations

#### **Biblical and Practical Solutions:**

- Deny Self and Follow Christ Daily Take up your cross and follow Him (Luke 9:23)
- **Keep the Will of God as the Mission's Purpose** Like Jesus, seek to do the Father's will above all (John 4:34; John 5:30)
- **Give All Glory to God** Serve not for applause, but so God may be glorified (1 Corinthians 10:31; Matthew 5:16)
- **Fix Your Eyes on Jesus** He is the author and perfecter of our faith (Hebrews 12:1–2)

# Some Challenges and Biblical Solutions For Ministry, Evangelism and Missions

#### 1. Spiritual Preparation and Foundation

At the core of Christian missions is a deeply rooted relationship with God through Jesus Christ. No mission can be genuinely fruitful apart from a foundation built on trust in God, obedience to His Word, and sincere love for Him and others. Jesus Himself said the greatest commandments are to love God with all our heart and to love our neighbor as ourselves (Matthew 22:37–39). A missionary's success is not primarily measured by results but by faithfulness to God's call and character. Scripture reminds us that without love, even the most sacrificial works are empty (1 Corinthians 13:1–3). To prepare spiritually, missionaries must grow in the knowledge of God's Word (2 Timothy 2:15), spend regular time in prayer and fasting (Mark 9:29), and learn to walk by faith, not by sight (2 Corinthians 5:7). A life that follows Jesus is marked by obedience (John 14:15), and this obedience leads to a demonstration of genuine love, humility, and sacrifice that testifies of Christ even before words are spoken.

#### 2. Reliance on the Holy Spirit

One of the greatest hindrances in Christian missions is attempting to do God's work in human strength. Jesus made it clear that the mission of spreading the gospel could not begin until the disciples received the Holy Spirit (Acts 1:8). The Holy Spirit empowers believers with boldness, wisdom, and spiritual gifts necessary to fulfill the Great Commission. He brings conviction (John 16:8), guides into all truth (John 16:13), and reminds us of all that Jesus taught (John 14:26). A missionary who does not rely on the Spirit is vulnerable to burnout, confusion, and fruitlessness. Paul's ministry exemplified dependence on the Spirit, not only for power but for direction (Acts 16:6-10). This reliance is practical: before major decisions, ministry moves, or conflict resolution, the early church sought the Spirit's guidance through prayer and fasting. Missions today must do the same. The Spirit equips the church to contextualize the gospel wisely and live out the gospel boldly.

#### 3. Cultural and Contextual Understanding

A critical but often neglected component of mission work is the ability to understand and adapt to different cultures without compromising the gospel. Paul's approach in 1 Corinthians 9:19–23 offers a powerful model—he became all things to all people so that by all means he might save some. Effective missionaries respect the dignity, history, and language of the people they serve. They do not impose their cultural customs but instead seek to embody the timeless truths of the gospel within the local context. Failure to do this can lead to misunderstanding, resistance, or even the appearance of religious colonialism. The account of Pentecost in Acts 2 illustrates how the Holy Spirit used language to bridge cultural divides and draw people to Christ. The modern missionary

must study the language and customs of the people they serve, listen well, and collaborate with local believers. Humility, patience, and cultural intelligence are essential to avoid offense and promote true gospel understanding.

#### 4. Physical and Logistical Preparation

Though missions is a spiritual endeavor, it also involves real-world, physical challenges. The Apostle Paul endured shipwrecks, beatings, hunger, and imprisonment (2 Corinthians 11:23–28), showing the costliness of gospel ministry. Therefore, wise planning, health precautions, and financial stewardship are not expressions of doubt but of faith and responsibility. Jesus Himself taught the importance of preparation, saying in Luke 14:28–30 that anyone intending to build a tower must first count the cost. Missionaries must prepare their bodies (1 Corinthians 9:27), finances (Philippians 4:11–13), and materials for the task ahead. Contentment in hardship is crucial; Paul testified that he had learned to be content in all circumstances through Christ's strength (Philippians 4:11–13). A mission team must also develop solid logistical systems, including local contacts, backup plans, medical resources, and clear communication with sending churches or agencies. Faith does not preclude planning—it informs and shapes wise stewardship.

#### 5. Team Dynamics and Unity

Missions are rarely carried out in isolation; they involve teams, families, and partnerships. However, even among our fellow Christians, conflict can arise, and disunity can cripple the mission's effectiveness. Paul and Barnabas, two faithful missionaries, once parted ways due to a disagreement (Acts 15:36–41), highlighting the reality of interpersonal strain. Unity is not automatic; it requires humility, forgiveness, and mutual submission (Ephesians 4:1–3). The team must regularly pray together (Acts 1:14), encourage one another, and maintain clarity in roles and responsibilities (1 Corinthians 12:12–27). Strength in the Lord and courage (Joshua 1:9) must be matched with gentleness and love. A unified team reflects the heart of Jesus 'prayer in John 17:21—that His followers would be one, so that the world may believe. Missions rooted in love, communication, and forgiveness not only survive trials—they thrive and give a living witness to the transforming power of Christ.

#### 6. Evangelism and Discipleship Strategy

At the center of Christian missions is the Great Commission: to make disciples of all nations (Matthew 28:19–20). This is not simply about making converts but about teaching people to obey all that Jesus commanded. The challenge in many contexts is rejection, superficial responses, or opposition from religious or political systems. Jesus Himself warned that not everyone would receive the message (Matthew 10:14), yet He continued

with compassion and truth. Missionaries must preach the gospel faithfully (Romans 1:16), not altering the message for acceptance. They must also be committed to the slow, patient work of discipleship, just as Jesus spent years investing in His disciples. Paul echoed this pattern, returning to strengthen churches and leaders he had planted (Acts 14:21–23). Evangelism must be relational, clear, and Spirit-led, while discipleship must be intentional, ongoing, and rooted in Scripture. Relying on the Spirit, missionaries can trust that God's Word will not return void (Isaiah 55:11).

#### 7. Endurance, Perseverance, and Courage

Christian missions involve suffering, setbacks, and seasons of little visible fruit. Jesus warned that His followers would be hated for His name's sake (Matthew 10:22), and Paul urged Timothy to endure hardship like a good soldier of Christ (2 Timothy 2:3). Missions is not for the faint-hearted, but for those who find strength in the Lord (Ephesians 6:10). The ability to persevere comes from abiding in Christ (John 15:4–5), trusting in His promises, and remembering that He is always with us (Matthew 28:20). Courage is not the absence of fear, but faith in the presence of God. Endurance is formed through trials (James 1:2–4), and missionaries must keep their eyes on the eternal reward, not immediate results. Like the heroes of faith in Hebrews 11, they press on, often without receiving what was promised, yet confident in the One who called them. Their legacy is not only in the work they do but in the faith they display under pressure, showing that Jesus is worth everything.

#### 8. Denying Self and Keeping Jesus the Focus

At the heart of true Christian missions lies the call to **deny oneself** and live fully for the glory of God. Jesus gave this command clearly: "If anyone would come after me, let him deny himself and take up his cross daily and follow me" (Luke 9:23). Missionaries are not ambassadors of themselves, their culture, or even their personal dreams—they are ambassadors of Christ (2 Corinthians 5:20). The mission field demands a continual surrender of ego, comfort, reputation, and even personal safety. The driving force behind every word preached and every act of compassion must be the glory of God and obedience to His will (John 5:30; 1 Corinthians 10:31). Jesus is both the model and the goal. He said, "My food is to do the will of Him who sent me and to finish His work" (John 4:34). When missionaries keep Jesus at the center—rather than results, recognition, or personal ambition—their work becomes an act of worship. It is this humble, Christ-exalting posture that transforms hearts and magnifies the name of God among the nations. The true fruit of missions is not just in conversions but in lives, both missionary and recipient, that reflect the image and glory of Christ.

#### **Ministry**

# Ministering to those inside the church and outside in the community:

All Christians are called to be ministers of God's word by serving others daily and meeting their needs. While every believer has the responsibility to live as a servant, Scripture also speaks of specific callings such as pastors, teachers, evangelists, apostles, and prophets.

Pastors and teachers are called to equip fellow Christians by teaching the truth of God's Word and encouraging the body of Christ to serve others in the name of the Lord. This is how the world will know that we are followers of Christ—by the love we have for one another.

As we genuinely minister to others, we bear much fruit, just as Jesus commanded. It is not enough to hear or learn the Word—we must also live it. Faith without works is dead. God does not want us to merely sit in church; He calls us to go out into our communities and into the world to meet both physical and spiritual needs.

You don't have to be a full-time missionary to make a lasting impact with the love of God. There are countless ways to fulfill your calling—whether through specific ministries or by serving your family, friends, coworkers, strangers, and even enemies.

God does not want us to claim faith without demonstrating it through good works. As Scripture says, "Faith without works is dead." At the same time, our service should not be driven by selfish motives or done just for appearance. All that we do must be done with sincere love.

If we find ourselves lacking love, but earnestly desire to grow in it, we should turn to Jesus in prayer. As we seek Him, God will establish His love within us.

As followers of Christ, we are called not only to believe in Him but also to actively demonstrate His love and compassion to those around us. Each of us has been uniquely gifted and equipped by God for the purpose of ministering to others in His name. Whether it's visiting the sick, caring for the needy, or sharing the truth of Jesus Christ with those in prison, we are all called to be ministers of His grace and mercy.

Jesus Himself exemplified this ministry of compassion during His earthly ministry. He healed the sick, fed the hungry, and proclaimed the good news of salvation to the lost. He taught His disciples, "As the Father has sent me, I am sending you" (John 20:21), commissioning them to continue His work of reconciliation and redemption in the world.

One of the most powerful ways we can minister to others is by extending a hand of love and kindness to those who are suffering or marginalized. Jesus taught that whatever we do for the least of His brothers and sisters, we do for Him (Matthew 25:40). Whether it's visiting someone in the hospital, providing food for the hungry, or reaching

out to those who are imprisoned, our acts of service are a tangible expression of God's love to those in need.

Ministering to others also involves sharing the truth of Jesus Christ and His saving grace. As ambassadors of Christ, we have been entrusted with the message of reconciliation (2 Corinthians 5:20), proclaiming the hope of salvation to a world in desperate need of redemption. Whether through words of encouragement, sharing our faith with others, or providing spiritual guidance and support, we have the privilege of pointing others to the truth and love found in Jesus Christ.

May we, therefore, embrace our calling to minister to those around us, recognizing that every act of service is an opportunity to demonstrate the love of Christ. Let us be faithful stewards of the gifts and opportunities God has given us, seeking to glorify Him and advance His kingdom through acts of compassion, mercy, and love.

#### **Key Scriptures:**

Matthew 25:31-41 (AKJV) When the Son of man shall come in his glory, and all the holy angels with him, then shall he sit on the throne of his glory: 32And before him shall be gathered all nations: and he shall separate them one from another, as a shepherd divides his sheep from the goats: 33And he shall set the sheep on his right hand, but the goats on the left. 34Then shall the King say to them on his right hand, Come, you blessed of my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world: 35For I was an hungered, and you gave me meat: I was thirsty, and you gave me drink: I was a stranger, and you took me in: 36Naked, and you clothed me: I was sick, and you visited me: I was in prison, and you came to me. 37Then shall the righteous answer him, saying, Lord, when saw we you an hungered, and fed you? or thirsty, and gave you drink? 38When saw we you a stranger, and took you in? or naked, and clothed you? 39Or when saw we you sick, or in prison, and came to you? 40And the King shall answer and say to them, Truly I say to you, Inasmuch as you have done it to one of the least of these my brothers, you have done it to me..

Isaiah 58:6-12 (AKJV) Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that you break every yoke? 7Is it not to deal your bread to the hungry, and that you bring the poor that are cast out to your house? when you see the naked, that you cover him; and that you hide not yourself from your own flesh?

8Then shall your light break forth as the morning, and your health shall spring forth speedily: and your righteousness shall go before you; the glory of the LORD shall be your rear guard. 9Then shall you call, and the LORD shall answer; you shall cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If you take away from the middle of you the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity; 10And if you draw out your soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall your light rise in obscurity, and your darkness be as the noon day: 11And the LORD shall guide you continually, and satisfy your soul in drought, and make fat your bones: and you shall be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not. 12And they that shall be of you shall build the old

waste places: you shall raise up the foundations of many generations; and you shall be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in.

#### MINISTRY.

2 Corinthians 6:1-10 ( AKJV) We then, as workers together with him, beseech you also that you receive not the grace of God in vain. 2(For he says, I have heard you in a time accepted, and in the day of salvation have I succored you: behold, now is the accepted time; behold, now is the day of salvation.) 3Giving no offense in any thing, that the ministry be not blamed: 4But in all things approving ourselves as the ministers of God, in much patience, in afflictions, in necessities, in distresses, 5In stripes, in imprisonments, in tumults, in labors, in watchings, in fastings; 6By pureness, by knowledge, by long-suffering, by kindness, by the Holy Ghost, by love unfeigned, 7By the word of truth, by the power of God, by the armor of righteousness on the right hand and on the left, 8By honor and dishonor, by evil report and good report: as deceivers, and yet true; 9As unknown, and yet well known; as dying, and, behold, we live; as chastened, and not killed; 10 As sorrowful, yet always rejoicing; as poor, yet making many rich; as having nothing, and yet possessing all things.

2 Corinthians 5:18-21 (AKJV) And all things are of God, who has reconciled us to himself by Jesus Christ, and has given to us the ministry of reconciliation; 19To wit, that God was in Christ, reconciling the world to himself, not imputing their trespasses to them; and has committed to us the word of reconciliation. 20Now then we are ambassadors for Christ, as though God did beseech you by us: we pray you in Christ's stead, be you reconciled to God. 21For he has made him to be sin for us, who knew no sin; that we might be made the righteousness of God in him.

# Biblical Commentary on Ministry and Ministries — Ministering to Those Inside the Church and Outside in the Community

Ministry, in its most biblical sense, is not confined to pastors or church leaders but is the shared responsibility of all believers to serve others in love, truth, and power. The Greek word *diakonia*, often translated as "ministry," literally means service. In *Ephesians 4:11–12*, Paul teaches that Christ gave spiritual leaders "to equip the saints for the work of ministry, for building up the body of Christ." This passage reveals two core truths: (1) ministry is for all believers, not just leaders, and (2) ministry begins within the Church but is never meant to stay there. Ministry must first strengthen the Body of Christ through teaching, discipleship, worship, pastoral care, and mutual support. As the Church is built up internally, it is then equipped and empowered to go outward—to carry the message and mercy of Christ into a broken world.

Ministering to those inside the Church is foundational. In *Acts 2:42–47*, we see the early Church devoting themselves to the apostles 'teaching, fellowship, breaking of bread, and prayer. They also met one another's practical needs by sharing resources and caring for the poor among them. This internal ministry was marked by unity, spiritual growth, and holiness. In *Galatians 6:10*, Paul encourages believers, "As we have opportunity, let us

do good to all people, especially to those who belong to the family of believers." Ministry within the Church nurtures spiritual health and maturity, providing a model of gospel-shaped community that prepares members to minister effectively outside. It is here that the fruit of the Spirit is cultivated, spiritual gifts are exercised, and accountability is embraced—making the Church a training ground for compassion, truth, and mission.

However, the Church's ministry must also extend outward to the community, reflecting the outward movement of the gospel itself. Jesus set this model when He ministered not only in synagogues but also in streets, homes, and public spaces—healing the sick, feeding the hungry, and proclaiming the kingdom to the lost. In *Matthew 5:14–16*, Jesus tells His followers, "You are the light of the world... let your light shine before others, that they may see your good deeds and glorify your Father in heaven." Ministry in the community is not limited to evangelism, though it includes it. It also involves acts of justice, mercy, hospitality, advocacy, and compassionate presence. Christians are called to care for the poor, visit the sick and imprisoned, and welcome the stranger (see *Matthew 25:31–46*). These actions embody the love of Christ and demonstrate the gospel in tangible ways.

True biblical ministry, therefore, holds both internal and external dimensions in balance. It builds up the saints and reaches out to the lost. It disciples believers and serves the hurting. The Church is not a retreat from the world but a launchpad into it. In *James 1:27*, the Word defines pure religion as "to look after orphans and widows in their distress and to keep oneself from being polluted by the world." Ministry must address both spiritual and physical needs, and it must flow from hearts transformed by grace, and given in the love of Jesus Christ. Whether preaching a sermon, leading a Bible study, mentoring a youth, serving meals to the homeless, or simply offering a listening ear, all forms of faithful ministry matter. The Church thrives and glorifies God when every believer embraces their calling to serve, both within the body of Christ and in the world Christ came to redeem.

Ministering to others' needs—physically, emotionally, and spiritually—is a vital part of Christian ministry. Scripture consistently teaches that serving and caring for others is at the heart of following Christ. Here are **key biblical principles and Scriptures** that focus on **ministering to others 'needs**:

#### 1. Love as the Foundation

#### John 13:34-35

"A new command I give you: Love one another. As I have loved you, so you must love one another."

Love is the defining mark of Christlike ministry.

#### 1 John 3:17-18

"If anyone has material possessions and sees a brother or sister in need but has no pity... how can the love of God be in that person?"

- Real love leads to action.

#### 2. Serving Others Like Christ

#### Mark 10:45

"For even the Son of Man did not come to be served, but to serve..."

Jesus is our example of humble, sacrificial service.

#### Philippians 2:3-5

"Do nothing out of selfish ambition... Rather, in humility value others above yourselves."

– Ministering to others requires humility and Christlike attitude.

#### 3. Meeting Physical Needs

#### Matthew 25:35-40

"I was hungry and you gave me something to eat... whatever you did for one of the least of these... you did for me."

Serving others physically is serving Christ Himself.

#### James 2:15-17

"Suppose a brother or a sister is without clothes and daily food... what good is it?"

- Faith must result in tangible action.

#### 4. Bearing One Another's Burdens

#### Galatians 6:2

"Carry each other's burdens, and in this way you will fulfill the law of Christ."

Ministry involves walking with others through hardship.

#### **Romans 12:15**

"Rejoice with those who rejoice; mourn with those who mourn."

Empathy is a vital part of caring ministry.

#### 5. Encouraging and Building Up

#### 1 Thessalonians 5:11

"Therefore encourage one another and build each other up..."

Words can heal, restore, and strengthen others.

#### Hebrews 10:24-25

"Let us consider how we may spur one another on toward love and good deeds..."

- Ministry is about mutual encouragement within the body of Christ.

#### 6. Using Your Gifts to Serve Others

#### 1 Peter 4:10

"Each of you should use whatever gift you have received to serve others..."

- Every believer is called and equipped to minister.

#### Romans 12:6-8

"We have different gifts... If your gift is serving, then serve..."

- God has uniquely gifted each person for specific areas of ministry.

#### **Summary: The Heart of Ministering to Others 'Needs**

- Love deeply and act tangibly
- Serve with humility and compassion
- Meet both spiritual and physical needs
- Walk alongside others through joy and suffering
- Use your God-given gifts for their benefit

#### Aspects Of Ministry: A Biblical Perspective

Ministry, as portrayed in the Bible, encompasses a broad spectrum of service, ranging from individual acts of kindness to organized efforts for the advancement of God's kingdom. The following explores various aspects of ministry and the biblical principles that guide believers in their service to God and others.

#### • Foundations of Christian Ministry: Serve - Love - Make disciples

The Bible establishes the foundational principles of Christian ministry, emphasizing the call to serve, love, and make disciples.

#### Scriptural References:

#### Matthew 20:28 (The Son of Man Came Not to Be Served but to Serve):

Jesus declares His mission to serve and give His life as a ransom for many, setting the tone for selfless service in Christian ministry.

#### Mark 10:45 (For Even the Son of Man Came Not to Be Served but to Serve):

Jesus reiterates the purpose of His ministry, emphasizing the servant-leadership model that should characterize Christian service.

#### The Great Commission:

The Great Commission serves as a mandate for all believers to engage in the ministry of making disciples, baptizing them, and teaching them to obey Christ's commands.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Matthew 28:19-20 (Go and Make Disciples of All Nations):

Jesus commissions His disciples to go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, and teaching them to observe His commands.

#### Acts 1:8 (You Will Be My Witnesses):

Jesus instructs His disciples to be witnesses in Jerusalem, Judea, Samaria, and to the ends of the earth, highlighting the global scope of Christian ministry.

#### Servant Leadership:

Christian ministry is characterized by a servant-leadership model, modeled after Jesus Christ's example.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Philippians 2:3-4 (In Humility Count Others More Significant Than Yourselves):

Paul encourages believers to have the same mind as Christ, considering others more significant than themselves and looking to the interests of others.

#### Mark 10:42-45 (Whoever Would Be Great Among You Must Be Your Servant):

Jesus teaches that greatness in the Kingdom of God is linked to serving others, following His own example of coming to serve and give His life as a ransom.

#### Compassion and Mercy:

Ministry involves demonstrating compassion and mercy, mirroring God's heart for the broken and hurting.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Micah 6:8 (He Has Told You, O Man, What is Good):

Micah summarizes the essence of godly living, including doing justice, loving kindness, and walking humbly with God.

#### Matthew 9:36 (When He Saw the Crowds, He Had Compassion for Them):

Jesus, moved with compassion, demonstrates the heart of God for the crowds, inspiring believers to minister with a compassionate spirit.

#### Hospitality and Service to Others:

Ministry involves practicing hospitality and serving others with a generous spirit.

#### Romans 12:13 (Contribute to the Needs of the Saints and Seek to Show Hospitality):

Paul encourages believers to contribute to the needs of others and practice hospitality, reflecting God's generosity in Christian ministry.

#### **Hebrews 13:2 (Do Not Neglect to Show Hospitality to Strangers):**

Believers are urged not to neglect showing hospitality to strangers, recognizing the impact of welcoming others in Christian ministry.

#### • Prayer and Intercession:

A vital aspect of Christian ministry is the commitment to prayer and intercession on behalf of others.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Philippians 4:6-7 (Do Not Be Anxious about Anything, but in Everything by Prayer):

Paul encourages believers to bring their concerns to God through prayer and supplication, with the promise of experiencing God's peace.

# 1 Timothy 2:1 (First of All, Then, I Urge that Supplications, Prayers, Intercessions, and Thanksgivings Be Made for All People):

Paul urges believers to engage in various forms of prayer, including intercession for all people, recognizing the importance of prayer in Christian ministry.

#### Equipping the Saints:

Christian ministry involves the equipping of believers for the work of service and building up the body of Christ.

#### **Scriptural References:**

# Ephesians 4:11-12 (He Gave the Apostles, the Prophets, the Evangelists, the Shepherds and Teachers):

Paul highlights the roles of various leaders in the church for the purpose of equipping the saints for ministry, fostering unity and maturity.

# 2 Timothy 3:16-17 (All Scripture is Breathed Out by God and Profitable for Teaching):

Paul emphasizes the role of Scripture in equipping believers for every good work, underscoring the importance of biblical knowledge in Christian ministry.

#### Discipleship and Mentorship:

Christian ministry involves intentional discipleship and mentorship to help others grow in their faith.

# 2 Timothy 2:2 (What You Have Heard from Me in the Presence of Many Witnesses Entrust to Faithful Men):

Paul instructs Timothy to pass on what he has learned to faithful individuals who will, in turn, teach others—a model of discipleship and mentorship in ministry.

# Titus 2:3-5 (Older Women Likewise Are to Teach What is Good, and So Train the Young Women):

Paul outlines the importance of older believers teaching and training younger believers, fostering a culture of discipleship and mentorship within the church.

#### Proclamation of the Gospel:

Ministry involves the proclamation of the Gospel, sharing the Good News of salvation through Jesus Christ.

#### **Scriptural References:**

# Romans 10:14-15 (How are They to Believe in Him of Whom They Have Never Heard?):

Paul underscores the necessity of proclaiming the Gospel, recognizing the role of messengers in bringing the message of salvation to others.

#### Matthew 28:18-20 (Go Therefore and Make Disciples of All Nations):

The Great Commission includes the command to make disciples of all nations, emphasizing the proclamation of the Gospel as an essential aspect of Christian ministry.

#### Stewardship of Gifts and Resources:

Believers are called to steward their spiritual gifts and material resources for the advancement of God's kingdom.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### 1 Peter 4:10 (As Each Has Received a Gift, Use It to Serve One Another):

Peter encourages believers to use their spiritual gifts to serve one another, recognizing the diversity of gifts within the body of Christ.

#### Luke 12:48 (Everyone to Whom Much was Given, of Him Much Will be Required):

Jesus teaches the principle of stewardship, emphasizing accountability for the resources and opportunities given to individuals in Christian ministry.

#### Endurance and Perseverance:

Christian ministry involves endurance and perseverance in the face of challenges and opposition.

# 2 Timothy 4:5 (As for You, Always Be Sober-Minded, Endure Suffering, Do the Work of an Evangelist):

Paul encourages Timothy to endure suffering and do the work of an evangelist, recognizing the challenges associated with Christian ministry.

#### Hebrews 12:1 (Let Us Run with Endurance the Race that is Set Before Us):

Believers are urged to run with endurance the race set before them, looking to Jesus as the ultimate example of perseverance in Christian ministry.

#### Unity in Diversity and Essentialness:

Christian ministry involves recognizing and embracing the diversity of gifts, talents, and roles within the body of Christ.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### 1 Corinthians 12:12 (For Just as the Body is One and Has Many Members):

Paul uses the metaphor of the body to illustrate the diversity of roles and gifts within the church, emphasizing unity in diversity.

#### Galatians 3:28 (There is Neither Jew nor Greek, There is Neither Slave nor Free):

Paul emphasizes that in Christ, there is no distinction based on cultural or social factors, fostering unity in diversity within the body of believers.

#### • Serving with Excellence:

Christian ministry is marked by a commitment to serving with excellence, offering one's best efforts as an offering to God.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Colossians 3:23-24 (Whatever You Do, Work Heartily, as for the Lord):

Paul encourages believers to work heartily, as for the Lord rather than for men, emphasizing the concept of serving with excellence in all aspects of life and ministry.

# 1 Corinthians 10:31 (So, Whether You Eat or Drink, or Whatever You Do, Do All to the Glory of God):

Paul underscores the principle of doing all things to the glory of God, extending the concept of excellence to every area of life, including Christian ministry.

#### Caring for the Vulnerable:

Christian ministry involves caring for the vulnerable, including orphans, widows, and those in need, reflecting God's heart for justice and compassion.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### James 1:27 (Religion That is Pure and Undefiled Before God, the Father, is This):

James defines pure and undefiled religion as visiting orphans and widows in their affliction, highlighting the importance of caring for the vulnerable in Christian ministry.

#### Matthew 25:35-36 (I Was Hungry and You Gave Me Food):

Jesus, in the parable of the sheep and the goats, commends those who cared for the hungry, thirsty, and vulnerable, emphasizing the connection between ministry and acts of compassion.

#### Adapting to Cultural Contexts:

Christian ministry involves a willingness to adapt to cultural contexts, recognizing the diversity of people and communities, without compromising the gospel and teachings of Jesus Christ.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### 1 Corinthians 9:19-23 (I Have Become All Things to All People):

Paul speaks of becoming all things to all people for the sake of the Gospel, highlighting the flexibility and adaptability needed in cross-cultural ministry.

#### Acts 17:22-23 (Paul Addresses the Athenians According to Their Culture):

Paul, in addressing the Athenians, uses their cultural context to communicate the Gospel, illustrating the importance of understanding and adapting to different cultural settings in ministry.

#### Accountability and Integrity:

Christian ministry requires accountability and integrity, reflecting the character of Christ in all actions and decisions.

#### **Scriptural References:**

# 2 Corinthians 8:21 (For We Aim at What is Honorable Not Only in the Lord's Sight But Also in the Sight of Man):

Paul emphasizes the importance of maintaining an honorable reputation, both in the sight of the Lord and in the sight of others, underscoring the need for accountability and integrity in ministry.

#### **Proverbs 11:3 (The Integrity of the Upright Guides Them):**

Proverbs highlights the guiding role of integrity in the lives of the upright, emphasizing its importance in Christian ministry.

#### • Suffering for the Sake of the Gospel:

Christian ministry may involve suffering for the sake of the Gospel, following the example of Christ and the early disciples.

# 2 Timothy 3:12 (Indeed, All Who Desire to Live a Godly Life in Christ Jesus Will Be Persecuted):

Paul acknowledges that those who desire to live a godly life in Christ may face persecution, emphasizing the reality of suffering in Christian ministry.

### Philippians 3:10 (That I May Know Him and the Power of His Resurrection, and May Share His Sufferings):

Paul expresses his desire to know Christ and share in His sufferings, recognizing the transformative power of identifying with Christ's sufferings in Christian ministry.

#### Discerning Spiritual Gifts:

Believers are called to discern and utilize their spiritual gifts in the context of Christian ministry, contributing to the edification of the body of Christ.

#### Scriptural References:

### 1 Corinthians 12:7 (To Each is Given the Manifestation of the Spirit for the Common Good):

Paul teaches that each believer is given a manifestation of the Spirit for the common good, emphasizing the role of spiritual gifts in building up the body of Christ.

# Romans 12:6-8 (Having Gifts that Differ According to the Grace Given to Us, Let Us Use Them):

Paul encourages believers to use their diverse gifts for the benefit of the body, highlighting the need for discernment and active participation in Christian ministry.

#### Cultivating a Spirit of Unity:

Christian ministry is characterized by a spirit of unity, fostering collaboration and mutual support within the body of Christ.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### **Ephesians 4:3 (Eager to Maintain the Unity of the Spirit in the Bond of Peace):**

Paul exhorts believers to be eager to maintain the unity of the Spirit in the bond of peace, emphasizing the importance of unity in Christian ministry.

#### Psalm 133:1 (Behold, How Good and Pleasant it is When Brothers Dwell in Unity):

The psalmist celebrates the goodness and pleasantness of brothers dwelling in unity, providing a poetic expression of the beauty of unity in Christian ministry.

#### Engaging in Strategic Planning:

Christian ministry involves strategic planning and discernment, seeking God's guidance for effective service.

#### Proverbs 16:3 (Commit Your Work to the Lord, and Your Plans Will be Established):

Proverbs encourages believers to commit their work to the Lord, emphasizing the importance of seeking God's guidance and direction in strategic planning for ministry.

# Proverbs 19:21 (Many are the Plans in the Mind of a Man, But it is the Purpose of the Lord that Will Stand):

Proverbs highlights the sovereignty of God's purpose over human plans, guiding believers to align their strategic planning with God's overarching purpose in Christian ministry.

#### Balancing Work and Ministry:

Christian ministry involves a careful balance between work, whether secular or vocational, and active engagement in the work of the ministry.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### Colossians 3:23 (Whatever You Do, Work Heartily, as For the Lord):

The apostle Paul encourages believers to approach their secular work with diligence and excellence, recognizing that they ultimately serve the Lord in all aspects of life.

#### Ephesians 4:28 (Let the Thief No Longer Steal, But Rather Let Him Labor):

Paul emphasizes the importance of honest labor and contributing to the needs of others, promoting a balanced approach to work and ministry responsibilities.

#### • Loving in a Christlike Manner:

Christian ministry is characterized by Christlike love, mirroring God's boundless love for humanity.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### 1 Corinthians 13:4-7 (Love is Patient and Kind; Love Bears All Things):

Known as the "love chapter," these verses from Corinthians describe the attributes of love, highlighting its centrality in Christian ministry.

#### John 13:34-35 (A New Commandment I Give to You, That You Love One Another):

Jesus instructs His disciples to love one another as He has loved them, indicating that their love for each other would be a distinctive mark of their discipleship.

#### Empowering and Equipping Others:

Christian ministry involves empowering and equipping others for their own service and ministry.

#### **Scriptural References:**

#### **Ephesians 4:11-12 (He Gave the Apostles, the Prophets, the Evangelists):**

Paul teaches that various roles within the church are given for the equipping of the saints, highlighting the importance of empowering believers for their own ministry.

# 2 Timothy 2:2 (What You Have Heard from Me in the Presence of Many Witnesses Entrust to Faithful Men):

Paul instructs Timothy to entrust what he has learned to faithful individuals, emphasizing the passing on of knowledge and empowerment for future ministry.

# Responding to Persecution:

Christian ministry may involve facing persecution for the sake of the Gospel, requiring steadfastness and reliance on God.

# **Scriptural References:**

# Matthew 5:10-12 (Blessed are Those Who are Persecuted for Righteousness' Sake):

Jesus teaches that those who are persecuted for righteousness' sake are blessed, underscoring the reality that persecution may be a part of Christian ministry.

# Acts 14:22 (Through Many Tribulations We Must Enter the Kingdom of God):

The apostles, speaking to the early believers, acknowledge the inevitability of facing tribulations and persecution in the course of Christian ministry.

# Fostering Unity Amidst Diversity:

Christian ministry involves fostering unity within the body of Christ, despite differences in ethnic backgrounds, and cultures..

# **Scriptural References:**

## Ephesians 4:3 (Eager to Maintain the Unity of the Spirit in the Bond of Peace):

Paul urges believers to maintain the unity of the Spirit, recognizing the diversity of gifts and backgrounds within the body of Christ.

# Colossians 3:11 (Here There is Not Greek and Jew, Circumcised and Uncircumcised):

Paul emphasizes that in Christ, there is no distinction based on cultural or ethnic backgrounds, promoting unity amidst diversity in Christian ministry.

## • Financial Stewardship:

Christian ministry involves responsible stewardship of financial resources, recognizing that all things belong to God.

# **Scriptural References:**

## 2 Corinthians 9:7 (Each One Must Give as He Has Decided in His Heart):

Paul encourages believers to give with a cheerful heart, emphasizing the voluntary and purposeful nature of financial stewardship in Christian ministry.

# Luke 16:10-11 (One Who is Faithful in a Very Little is Also Faithful in Much):

Jesus teaches about faithfulness in handling small and large responsibilities, highlighting the principle of faithful stewardship in all areas, including finances.

# • Persevering in Prayer:

Christian ministry involves perseverance in prayer, seeking God's guidance, strength, and intervention.

### **Scriptural References:**

# 1 Thessalonians 5:16-18 (Rejoice Always, Pray Without Ceasing, Give Thanks in All Circumstances):

Paul encourages believers to pray without ceasing, emphasizing the continual and persistent nature of prayer in Christian ministry.

# James 5:16 (The Prayer of a Righteous Person Has Great Power as It is Working):

James highlights the effectiveness of fervent and righteous prayer, indicating its powerful impact on Christian ministry.

# Adopting a Servant's Heart:

Christian ministry involves adopting a servant's heart, willingly serving others with humility and selflessness.

#### **Scriptural References:**

# Matthew 20:26-28 (But Whoever Would be Great Among You Must be Your Servant):

Jesus teaches that greatness in His kingdom is linked to serving others, emphasizing the servant-leadership model in Christian ministry.

# Philippians 2:3-5 (Do Nothing from Selfish Ambition or Conceit, But in Humility Count Others More Significant Than Yourselves):

Paul encourages believers to adopt a humble attitude, considering others more significant than themselves—a key aspect of a servant's heart in Christian ministry.

# Cultivating a Teachable Spirit:

Christian ministry involves cultivating a teachable spirit, being open to learning and growing in faith.

# **Scriptural References:**

# Proverbs 9:9 (Give Instruction to a Wise Man, and He Will be Still Wiser):

Proverbs emphasizes the value of instruction for the wise, encouraging a teachable spirit in Christian ministry.

## James 1:19 (Let Every Person be Quick to Hear, Slow to Speak, Slow to Anger):

James instructs believers to be quick to hear and slow to speak, promoting a teachable and receptive attitude in Christian ministry.

# Boldness in Proclaiming the Gospel:

Christian ministry involves boldness in proclaiming the Gospel, fearlessly sharing the message of salvation.

# **Scriptural References:**

# Acts 4:29 (And Now, Lord, Look Upon Their Threats and Grant to Your Servants to Continue to Speak Your Word with All Boldness):

The early believers, facing persecution, pray for boldness in continuing to speak God's Word, highlighting the need for courage in Christian ministry.

# Ephesians 6:19-20 (That Words May be Given to Me in Opening My Mouth Boldly to Proclaim the Mystery of the Gospel):

Paul requests prayer for boldness in proclaiming the Gospel, recognizing the importance of fearless communication in Christian ministry.

# **Caring for the Vulnerable:**

Christian ministry calls believers to care for society's most vulnerable—those who are sick, widowed, orphaned, or strangers—reflecting God's compassion and justice through practical love and presence.

# **Scriptural References:**

# James 1:27 (Religion that is Pure and Undefiled Before God is This):

"Religion that is pure and undefiled before God the Father is this: to visit orphans and widows in their affliction, and to keep oneself unstained from the world."

- Genuine Christian faith expresses itself through compassionate care for those in distress, particularly widows and orphans.

# Matthew 25:35-36, 40 (I Was Sick and You Visited Me... a Stranger and You Welcomed Me):

"For I was hungry and you gave me food, I was thirsty and you gave me drink, I was a stranger and you welcomed me... I was sick and you visited me, I was in prison and you came to me... Truly, I say to you, as you did it to one of the least of these my brothers, you did it to me."

 Jesus identifies with the needy, teaching that serving them is equivalent to serving Him directly.

# Isaiah 1:17 (Defend the Oppressed... Plead the Widow's Cause):

"Learn to do right; seek justice. Defend the oppressed. Take up the cause of the

fatherless; plead the case of the widow."

God's heart for justice includes active defense and support of the vulnerable, making
it a central call for those in ministry.

# Hebrews 13:2-3 (Show Hospitality... Remember Those Who Are in Prison):

"Do not neglect to show hospitality to strangers... Remember those who are in prison, as though in prison with them, and those who are mistreated, since you also are in the body."

 Ministry includes hospitality to strangers and compassionate solidarity with the suffering.

# **Deuteronomy 10:18-19 (He Defends the Cause of the Fatherless and the Widow):**

"He defends the cause of the fatherless and the widow, and loves the foreigner residing among you, giving them food and clothing. And you are to love those who are foreigners, for you yourselves were foreigners in Egypt."

 God's care for the marginalized sets the example for how His people are to treat them—with love and provision.

#### Conclusion:

Christian ministry, as depicted in the Bible, encompasses a multifaceted and dynamic expression of service, reflecting the heart of God for His people and the world. Rooted in love, compassion, humility, and the proclamation of the Gospel, ministry involves a servant's heart approach that addresses the spiritual, emotional, and physical needs of individuals and communities. As believers engage in ministry, they are called to embody the teachings and example of Jesus Christ, recognizing the transformative power of God's grace in the lives of both those who serve and those who are served. The biblical principles outlined provide a foundation for understanding the significance of Christian ministry and its central role in fulfilling the purposes and calling of God.

It encompasses Christ-centered approach that addresses individual needs, and the overarching mission of making disciples and advancing God's kingdom. Grounded in biblical principles, we are called to serve with excellence, care for the vulnerable, maintain accountability and integrity, endure in times of suffering, discern and utilize spiritual gifts, cultivate unity in the church, and engage in strategic planning—all with the ultimate aim of bringing glory to God and fulfilling the Great Commission.

# Evangelism

'Evangelist' is one who announces good news, used in the general sense of the word is, any Christian who proclaims the Gospel of Jesus Christ.

Every Christian is called by to evangelize the people whom God brings to you each day, such as family, friends, enemies, co-workers, strangers, etc.

However it can also designate a particular unique calling that has been given by God, to certain Christians; This gift is established and made known in a person's life by the Holy Spirit and when certain God given talents are revealed, especially to minister to large groups of peoples.

The main purposes of evangelism is to encourage personal revival and commitment to Jesus Christ and to proclaim the truths of God's word, the Kingdom of God, His salvation, and eternal life, which is only made possible to all peoples, through a living relationship with Jesus Christ.

We should evangelize our local communities and also as we are led by God to go on various missions throughout the world.

Evangelism is not merely about speaking words, but also about living a life that reflects the love, grace, and truth of Jesus Christ. Our actions, attitudes, and the way we treat others can often speak louder than sermons. As we grow in our relationship with Christ, our lives should increasingly reflect His character, becoming a living testimony that draws others to Him. Evangelism, therefore, involves both declaring and demonstrating the Gospel through everyday life.

# **Key Scriptures:**

**2 Timothy 4:5** But you, be sober in all things, endure hardship, do the work of an evangelist, fulfill your ministry.

**Matthew 10:7** And as you go, preach saying, 'The Kingdom of heaven is at hand.' 10:8 Heal the sick, raise the dead, cleanse the lepers, cast out demons, freely you received, freely give.

**Luke 14:23** And the master said to the slave, 'Go out into the highways and along the hedges and compel them to come in, that my house may be filled.

## **Biblical Commentary on Evangelism**

Evangelism, at its core, is the proclamation of the good news of Jesus Christ, a divine calling rooted deeply in the entire biblical narrative. The foundation of evangelism begins in the Old Testament, where God's covenant with Abraham (Genesis 12:1-3) includes a promise that through him "all the families of the earth shall be blessed." This blessing, as later revealed, is ultimately fulfilled in Christ and His gospel. The prophetic literature, particularly in Isaiah, points to a coming servant who would be a light to the Gentiles (Isaiah 49:6), foreshadowing the inclusive scope of evangelism. Though the Old Testament is not overtly evangelistic in the same sense as the New, it sets the trajectory for a universal message of redemption. The Jewish expectation of a Messiah was never meant to remain confined to one nation. God's plan was always global, and evangelism is the practical outworking of this universal promise.

In the New Testament, evangelism becomes explicit and central. Jesus inaugurates His public ministry with a clear evangelistic mission: "The time is fulfilled, and the kingdom of God is at hand; repent and believe in the gospel" (Mark 1:15). His earthly ministry involved

not only healing and teaching but also actively proclaiming the good news of the kingdom. The Gospels record Jesus sending out His disciples to preach, heal, and cast out demons, prefiguring the church's mission. The Great Commission in Matthew 28:18-20 forms the definitive mandate for evangelism, where Jesus instructs His followers to "go and make disciples of all nations." This is not merely a task for a select few but a charge given to all believers, rooted in the authority of Christ and empowered by the presence of the Holy Spirit. Evangelism is therefore not optional; it is a divine imperative rooted in the very words of Jesus.

The Book of Acts showcases the early church's commitment to evangelism and offers a theological and practical blueprint. From Peter's sermon at Pentecost (Acts 2), which resulted in three thousand conversions, to Paul's missionary journeys across the Greco-Roman world, the early Christians exemplified boldness, endurance, and adaptability in sharing the gospel. Evangelism in Acts transcends cultural, linguistic, and social barriers, as the gospel spreads from Jerusalem to Judea, Samaria, and to the ends of the earth (Acts 1:8). The apostles 'willingness to suffer persecution and martyrdom underscores the seriousness with which they viewed their evangelistic duty. Yet evangelism was not confined to apostolic preaching alone—ordinary believers also played a critical role. Acts 8:4 records that "those who were scattered went about preaching the word," highlighting that evangelism is not merely a clerical activity but a communal responsibility.

Pauline epistles add rich theological depth to the practice of evangelism. For Paul, evangelism is both a divine obligation and a profound privilege. In Romans 1:16, he declares, "I am not ashamed of the gospel, for it is the power of God for salvation to everyone who believes." This underscores the centrality of the message rather than the skill of the messenger. Evangelism, according to Paul, is an act of faith in the transformative power of the gospel itself. Furthermore, Paul emphasizes the importance of contextualization (1 Corinthians 9:19-23), adapting his methods to different audiences without compromising the message. Evangelism, then, is not a rigid formula but a Spiritled, love-driven effort to reach the lost with truth and grace. It is ultimately God who saves, but He has chosen to use human instruments, flawed yet faithful, to proclaim the unsearchable riches of Christ. The biblical witness, from Genesis to Revelation, affirms evangelism as both a divine initiative and a human responsibility—an expression of God's heart for a reconciled world.

The character trait of Jesus as an "Evangelist" or one who engages in evangelism is evident in His mission to proclaim the Gospel and call people to repentance.

**Mark 1:14-15:** In Mark 1:14-15, Jesus begins His public ministry by proclaiming the Gospel, saying, "The time is fulfilled, and the kingdom of God is at hand; repent and believe in the gospel." This marks the initiation of Jesus' evangelistic mission, calling people to turn from their ways and embrace the message of salvation.

Matthew 28:19-20: In what is commonly known as the Great Commission, Jesus explicitly instructs His disciples to engage in evangelism, "Go therefore and make

disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, teaching them to observe all that I have commanded you." This charge extends beyond spreading the Gospel to the comprehensive task of making disciples, emphasizing the transformative impact of evangelism.

**Luke 19:10:** In Luke 19:10, Jesus articulates the purpose of His earthly ministry, stating, "For the Son of Man came to seek and to save the lost." This encapsulates the essence of evangelism—reaching out to those who are lost and offering them the opportunity for salvation through faith in Him.

**John 4:35:** In John 4:35, Jesus speaks about the urgency of the harvest, "Do you not say, 'There are yet four months, then comes the harvest'? Look, I tell you, lift up your eyes, and see that the fields are white for harvest." This metaphor emphasizes the readiness of people to receive the message of salvation, urging His followers to engage in evangelism without delay.

**Acts 1:8:** Before His ascension, Jesus outlines the scope of evangelism for His disciples, "But you will receive power when the Holy Spirit has come upon you, and you will be my witnesses in Jerusalem and in all Judea and Samaria, and to the end of the earth." This serves as a blueprint for the geographical expansion of the Gospel, illustrating the global nature of evangelism.

**Matthew 9:35-38:** In Matthew 9:35-38, Jesus is described as going throughout all the cities and villages, teaching in their synagogues, proclaiming the gospel of the kingdom, and healing every disease and affliction. Seeing the crowds, He is moved with compassion, recognizing the spiritual need. He tells His disciples to pray for laborers for the harvest, illustrating His concern for reaching people with the message of salvation.

**Luke 5:10-11:** After a miraculous catch of fish, Jesus calls Peter, James, and John to be His disciples, saying, "Do not be afraid; from now on you will be catching men." This metaphor of "catching men" reflects the evangelistic mission of bringing people into the Kingdom of God.

**John 17:18:** In His high priestly prayer, Jesus expresses the nature of His mission, "As you sent me into the world, so I have sent them into the world." This highlights the concept of being sent with a specific purpose, mirroring Jesus' own mission of bringing the message of salvation to humanity.

**Acts 8:4:** In Acts 8:4, after the persecution in Jerusalem, those who were scattered went about preaching the word. This reflects the spreading of the evangelistic mission beyond the initial disciples, as believers actively shared the Gospel in different regions.

Romans 10:14-15: In Romans 10:14-15, the importance of preaching and sharing the Gospel is emphasized: "How then will they call on him in whom they have not believed? And how are they to believe in him of whom they have never heard? And how are they to hear without someone preaching? And how are they to preach unless they are sent?" This underscores the necessity of individuals engaging in evangelism to ensure that the message is heard and received.

# Proclaiming the Good News: A Commentary on Evangelism in the Bible

Evangelism, the proclamation of the Gospel and the call to faith in Jesus Christ, is a central theme throughout the Bible. This commentary explores key biblical passages and examples that highlight the importance of evangelism as a vital aspect of the Christian faith.

#### 1. The Great Commission:

The foundation of Christian evangelism is laid in the Great Commission found in Matthew 28:18-20. Jesus commands His disciples to go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit. This charge is not just for the apostles but extends to all believers, emphasizing the universal scope of evangelism.

# 2. The Example of Philip:

In Acts 8:26-40, we see the story of Philip and the Ethiopian eunuch. Philip, prompted by the Holy Spirit, engages the eunuch in a conversation about the Scriptures, ultimately leading to the eunuch's conversion and baptism. This account demonstrates the role of divine guidance and the willingness of a believer to seize opportunities for evangelism.

# 3. Paul's Zeal for Evangelism:

The apostle Paul exemplifies a passionate commitment to evangelism throughout his missionary journeys. In Romans 10:14-15, Paul emphasizes the importance of preaching the Gospel, stating, "And how are they to believe in him of whom they have never heard? And how are they to hear without someone preaching? And how are they to preach unless they are sent?" This underscores the essential role of human messengers in spreading the Good News.

# 4. Peter's Sermon on Pentecost:

In Acts 2, Peter delivers a powerful sermon on the day of Pentecost, proclaiming the resurrection of Jesus Christ and calling the people to repentance. Acts 2:41 records the result: "So those who received his word were baptized, and there were added that day about three thousand souls." This event highlights the transformative impact of effective evangelism and the responsiveness of those who hear the Gospel.

#### 5. Jesus' Encounter with the Samaritan Woman:

In John 4:1-42, Jesus engages in a significant conversation with a Samaritan woman at the well. Through this encounter, the woman becomes a witness to her community, proclaiming that Jesus is the Messiah. This narrative underscores the relational and transformative nature of evangelism, demonstrating that personal encounters with Christ lead to a compelling testimony.

#### 6. The Parable of the Sower:

In Matthew 13:3-23, Jesus tells the parable of the sower, illustrating various responses to the Gospel message. This parable emphasizes the importance of sowing the seed of God's Word indiscriminately, recognizing that some will respond positively and bear fruit while others may not. It encourages perseverance in evangelism despite varied outcomes.

# 7. Timothy's Charge to Preach the Word:

In 2 Timothy 4:2, Paul instructs Timothy, saying, "Preach the word; be ready in season and out of season; reprove, rebuke, and exhort, with complete patience and teaching." This charge underscores the ongoing nature of evangelism, urging believers to be steadfast and prepared to share the Gospel in diverse circumstances.

#### Conclusion:

Evangelism is not merely a task assigned to a select few; it is a responsibility and privilege for every believer. The Bible provides a rich tapestry of examples and teachings that emphasize the urgency and transformative power of sharing the Good News. As followers of Christ, we are called to proclaim the Gospel boldly, relying on the guidance of the Holy Spirit and trusting in the life-changing impact of the message of salvation.

# Proclaiming the Good News - The Heart of Evangelism

## I. The Great Commission: A Divine Mandate (Matthew 28:18-20)

In the final moments of His earthly ministry, Jesus left His disciples with a mandate, a call that echoes through the corridors of time. In Matthew 28:18-20, known as the Great Commission, Jesus commissions us to go and make disciples of all nations. This is not a suggestion but a divine imperative, a call to bring the transformative message of salvation to the ends of the earth.

# II. Philip and the Ethiopian Eunuch: Divine Appointments (Acts 8:26-40)

Consider the encounter between Philip and the Ethiopian eunuch. The Spirit led Philip to the right place at the right time. As we engage in evangelism, let us be sensitive to the prompting of the Holy Spirit, recognizing that divine appointments await us. Philip's willingness to explain the Scriptures led to a life-changing encounter and baptism.

# III. Paul's Passion for the Gospel: A Burning Fire (Romans 10:14-15)

The apostle Paul, consumed by a passion for the Gospel, declares in Romans 10:14-15 the necessity of preaching. "How are they to believe in him of whom they have never heard?" Paul's words challenge us to reflect on the urgency of our proclamation. The Gospel is the power of God unto salvation, and we are the bearers of this life-transforming message.

# IV. Peter's Pentecostal Proclamation: The Power of the Resurrection (Acts 2)

On the day of Pentecost, Peter boldly proclaimed the risen Christ, and the result was astounding. Three thousand souls were added to the kingdom that day. This illustrates the power of the resurrection in our evangelistic efforts. The message of Jesus crucified and risen is potent, breaking down barriers and transforming lives.

# V. Jesus and the Samaritan Woman: A Model of Relational Evangelism (John 4:1-42)

In the encounter at the well, Jesus demonstrates the beauty of relational evangelism. He engages the Samaritan woman with love and truth, revealing Himself as the Messiah.

This narrative challenges us to break down barriers, reach across cultural divides, and share the Good News in the context of relationships.

# VI. The Parable of the Sower: Sowing Seeds with Hope (Matthew 13:3-23)

The Parable of the Sower teaches us about the diverse responses to the Gospel. Some hearts may be receptive, while others resist. Yet, we are called to sow seeds indiscriminately, trusting that God will bring forth a harvest. Our responsibility is to faithfully scatter the seeds of God's Word, trusting in the unseen work of the Spirit.

# VII. Timothy's Charge: Perseverance in Preaching (2 Timothy 4:2)

In 2 Timothy 4:2, Paul charges Timothy to "preach the word; be ready in season and out of season." This charge is not just for Timothy but resonates through the ages to every believer. Evangelism requires perseverance and steadfastness. We are called to proclaim the Gospel consistently, regardless of circumstances, with patience and teaching.

# **Conclusion: The Call to Evangelism - Our Shared Mission**

As we reflect on these biblical truths, let us remember that evangelism is not a duty to be fulfilled begrudgingly; it is a privilege, a sacred calling. The heart of evangelism beats in sync with the heartbeat of God for the lost. May we be a people compelled by love, driven by the urgency of the Gospel, and guided by the Holy Spirit as we proclaim the Good News to a world in need. Amen.

# **Missions**

**Matthew 9:37-38:(AKJV)** In Matthew 9:37-38, Jesus speaks to His disciples about the need for more laborers in the harvest, stating, "But when he (Jesus) saw the multitudes, he was moved with compassion on them, because they fainted, and were scattered abroad, as sheep having no shepherd. 37Then says he to his disciples, **The harvest truly is plenteous, but the laborers are few; 38Pray you therefore the Lord of the harvest, that he will send forth laborers into his harvest.**" This conveys the urgency of the mission and the need for active participation.

John 4: 35-38 (AKJV) Say not you, There are yet four months, and then comes harvest? behold, I say to you, Lift up your eyes, and look on the fields; for they are white already to harvest. 36And he that reaps receives wages, and gathers fruit to life eternal: that both he that sows and he that reaps may rejoice together. 37And herein is that saying true, One sows, and another reaps. 38I sent you to reap that where on you bestowed no labor: other men labored, and you are entered into their labors.

very Christian, as a disciple of Jesus Christ, in a sense is or should be a type of a "missionary or evangelist" because we are all called to be ministers to those in our local communities, and country, serving the needs of the people, visiting the sick, elderly, widows, providing food, clothing, shelter to those in need etc. This primarily includes, confessing Jesus publicly, testifying of Jesus and how He alone saved us, about His grace and forgiveness, sharing His Word

of truth, Bringing light and hope to a dark, confused world, and most of all for us to demonstrate the same divine love of Jesus Christ, to those around us.

Yet a "missionary" more typically refers to a Christian who is specifically called by God goes to a foreign land—or at least beyond their local community—to proclaim and teach the Word of God, sharing a message of repentance and salvation through Jesus Christ. (All Christians are not specifically called by God to a foreign mission field or project) Missionaries also declare that the Kingdom of Heaven is at hand. In addition to preaching, they demonstrate Christ's love through acts of service, such as building and infrastructure projects, providing clean water, teaching personal hygiene, nutrition, electricity, food, shelter, clothing, medical supplies and care, and various other assistance. They may also teach practical skills like reading, education, farming, carpentry, and other trades to help improve the lives of the people they serve.

Although every Christian is called to openly confess Jesus Christ as their Lord and Savior wherever God has them, in their local community or foreign lands. We are to share our personal testimonies of our relationship with Jesus Christ and about all that He has done for us. Proclaiming the Word of God, and demonstrating the love of Jesus Christ to the world, and making disciples.

Mission work is generally divided into two categories:

- Short-term mission work, which involves serving for a few weeks or months in a foreign land; and
- 2. Long-term mission work, which typically involves serving for six months, a year, or longer

Romans 10:13-15 ( AKJV) For whoever shall call on the name of the Lord shall be saved.14How then shall they call on him in whom they have not believed? and how shall they believe in him of whom they have not heard? and how shall they hear without a preacher? 15And how shall they preach, except they be sent? as it is written, How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the gospel of peace, and bring glad tidings of good things!

It is not necessary for a Christian to attend formal school to qualify for mission work. However, Christian discipleship, personal Bible study, logistics and research into the specific needs of the people they are called to serve can be extremely helpful. What's really most essential is spending intimate time with Jesus, in prayer, worship, meditating on God's word, and seeking the divine wisdom of Jesus, and guidance of God's Holy Spirit. Planning and seeking God's guidance in prayer for how to best help and reach a particular people group—considering factors such as regional culture, customs, geography, and climate—are all essential for equipping a Christian to be more effective in the mission field.

There are still many unreached people groups throughout the world, however now with technology and the internet more and more people are hearing the gospel of Jesus Christ for the first time. Even if you are unable or not called to be a foreign missionary, still every Christian should try to support various foreign missions projects, Christian missionaries and ministries around the world as the Lord leads.

Christians who already speak the native language or dialect of the people they are called to serve are invaluable. However, those who do not speak the language can learn over time, use human or electronic translators or use basic sign language of sorts. Remember with God all things are possible, it is the Holy Spirit that teaches all truth, we are only the vessels of the love of Jesus Christ, and to use our talents wisely. Learning the culture of a specific people group before going is also highly beneficial.

Every Christian should prayerfully seek where God is leading them to serve, responding willingly and joyfully when He calls. In doing so, they will experience God's abundant blessings—not only for themselves but also for those they serve.

Missionary work has had a profound impact on both individuals and societies, both physically and spiritually, over the centuries.

As Christians, we have been called by God to bring the love, hope, and salvation of Jesus Christ to those who are often marginalized or overlooked by the broader world. Through various world mission outreaches and projects, Christian missionaries have been instrumental in bringing needed life sustaining provisions, education, healthcare, and spiritual renewal by proclaiming hope in Jesus to regions where these resources were scarce or nonexistent. As disciples of Jesus Christ, we have not only shared His message of eternal life but have also demonstrated His love in tangible ways by meeting the physical needs of people—food, clothing, shelter, clean water, sanitation, needed infrastructure and medical care etc..

Spiritually, as disciples of Jesus Christ, we have been entrusted with the incredible mission of spreading the Gospel message, a message that brings hope, healing, and transformation to countless individuals. Through the faithful proclamation of the good news of Jesus Christ, we have seen multitudes come to faith, experiencing the new birth that only He can offer. By God's grace, people who were once bound by sin, fear, confusion, or despair have encountered the life-changing love, forgiveness, and redemption that is found only in Jesus. Through the Gospel, they have received lasting peace, the true peace only Jesus can give that transcends circumstances, and the gift of eternal salvation.

The most important aspect of being a missionary is bringing and demonstrating the divine love of Jesus Christ to the world. This love is made evident through wholehearted service, instilled and empowered by God's Holy Spirit working spiritually through us to reach the peoples of the world. As disciples of Jesus, we are called to reflect His character, and this means embodying genuine Christlike virtues in everything we do.

In the name of Christ, dedicated missionary servants, historically have laid a foundation for long-term transformation in communities around the world. By building hospitals, schools, orphanages, and clinics, we have helped provide the infrastructure and services necessary to uplift the most vulnerable. We have introduced practices that improve public health, reduce human suffering, and offer opportunities for growth and development.

Many of the earliest healthcare and educational institutions in some of the world's poorest regions were established by missionaries who were driven by the compassion of Christ.

As we serve in His name, we are not only helping to alleviate immediate suffering but also equipping communities with the tools for lasting change. These institutions and services have been a critical lifeline, lifting people out of poverty and bringing them closer to global standards of living. Through these efforts, we, as followers of Christ, are continuing His work on earth—bringing His Kingdom into the lives of those who need it most.

We are called to serve with **kindness**, offering a hand to those in need, and speaking words filled with kindness and understanding, not being rude or harsh unjustly. Our service is marked by **compassion**, responding to the pain and suffering of others with hearts full of empathy and the willingness to walk alongside them in their struggles. Actually putting our compassion into action doing our part to help those in need with the resources and talents that God gave us and not just walking by doing nothing. Of course we cannot aid everyone in need, but we should be attentive and willing to serve others as God directs.

As Jesus demonstrated, we should practice **hospitality**, welcoming others—especially strangers—into our lives with open hearts and open homes. We should invite others into the warmth of Christian community, making them feel seen, valued, and loved. In our words and actions, we should offer **encouragement** to those who are weary and **comfort** to those in sorrow, reminding them of their identity in Christ and the hope we have in Him.

We are also called to act with **forgiveness**, extending the same grace that Christ has shown us to those who have wronged us. Just as Jesus forgave His enemies, we are to offer the hope of reconciliation and peace, even in the most challenging relationships.

We should practice **charity**, not only in material help but in the love that seeks the best for others, even when it costs us something. We should be generous with our time, resources, and energy, sharing freely with those in need.

Through **helps** and **visitation**, we are to come alongside the hurting and isolated, offering both practical assistance and the presence of Christ's love. We should offer **empathy**, putting ourselves in the lives of others, loving others as we would want them to love us, seeking to understand their pain and needs with deep, heartfelt care. In all these things, we reflect the heart of Jesus, who came not to be served, but to serve, giving His life for the sake of others.

We are called to serve with **sacrificial love**, putting the needs of others before our own, just as Jesus gave His life for us. This love is not just a feeling, but an active, self-giving commitment to others, even when it costs us personally or materially. We are also called to serve with **humility**, not seeking recognition or status, but embracing the role of a servant just as Jesus washed His disciples' feet, demonstrating that true greatness is found in serving others.

Our service is should be marked by **patience**, giving others the grace and time they need to grow and change. Like Jesus, who was patient with His disciples and the crowds, we are called to be long-suffering with others, allowing God's timing to unfold in their lives.

We are called to embody **joyful service**, serving with a glad heart ,not grudgingly even in the midst of trials, knowing that our work is not in vain. Like Jesus, who endured the

cross for the joy set before Him, we are called to serve others with joy, trusting in God's eternal purposes even when the work is difficult.

In all these things, we are to reflect the heart of Jesus, who came not to be served, but to serve, giving His life for the sake of others. By allowing the Holy Spirit to work through us, we become instruments of His love, demonstrating the power of the Gospel through our actions and offering the world a glimpse of Christ's Kingdom.

By allowing the Holy Spirit to work through us, we demonstrate the love of Christ through our words and actions, showing the world that the Gospel is not just a message but a lived reality—one that transforms not only the lives of those we serve but also our own hearts, as we follow in the footsteps of our Savior.

In our mission work, we may also be called helped establish local churches and raise up indigenous leaders who can carry the torch of Christ's love forward. As missionaries we should support and work alongside local believers, as needed to create vibrant, self-sustaining Christian communities—communities that continue to thrive and grow long after we have departed. As foreign churches become established they become much more than places of worship; they have become beacons of light, offering education, aid, and spiritual support to entire regions, sending out more local missionaries who know their own people, customs, language and logistics. Thereby they are able to reach more people for Christ, who would not otherwise hear the Good News.nAs disciples of Jesus, we know that this is not just the work of individuals, but of the Holy Spirit, who continues to work through the faithful to bring the Kingdom of God to the nations.

The love of Jesus Christ, demonstrated by missionaries through both word and action, has had a profound and lasting impact on the world.

# How did Jesus Instruct and commission His disciples to reach the lost of House of Israel?

# **Key Scriptures:**

Matthew 10:5-33 (AKJV) These twelve Jesus sent forth, and commanded them, saying, Go not into the way of the Gentiles, and into any city of the Samaritans enter you not: 6But go rather to the lost sheep of the house of Israel. 7And as you go, preach, saying, The kingdom of heaven is at hand. 8Heal the sick, cleanse the lepers, raise the dead, cast out devils: freely you have received, freely give. 9Provide neither gold, nor silver, nor brass in your purses, 10Nor money for your journey, neither two coats, neither shoes, nor yet staves: for the workman is worthy of his meat. 11And into whatever city or town you shall enter, inquire who in it is worthy; and there abide till you go there. 12And when you come into an house, salute it. 13And if the house be worthy, let your peace come on it: but if it be not worthy, let your peace return to you. 14And whoever shall not receive you, nor hear your words, when you depart out of that house or city, shake off the dust of your feet. 15Truly I say to you, It shall be more tolerable for the land of Sodom and Gomorrha

in the day of judgment, than for that city.16Behold, I send you forth as sheep in the middle of wolves: be you therefore wise as serpents, and harmless as doves. 17But beware of men: for they will deliver you up to the councils, and they will whip you in their synagogues; 18And you shall be brought before governors and kings for my sake, for a testimony against them and the Gentiles. 19But when they deliver you up, take no thought how or what you shall speak: for it shall be given you in that same hour what you shall speak. 20For it is not you that speak, but the Spirit of your Father which speaks in you. 21And the brother shall deliver up the brother to death, and the father the child: and the children shall rise up against their parents, and cause them to be put to death. 22And you shall be hated of all men for my name's sake: but he that endures to the end shall be saved. 23But when they persecute you in this city, flee you into another: for truly I say to you, You shall not have gone over the cities of Israel, till the Son of man be come. 24The disciple is not above his master, nor the servant above his lord. 25lt is enough for the disciple that he be as his master, and the servant as his lord. If they have called the master of the house Beelzebub, how much more shall they call them of his household? 26Fear them not therefore: for there is nothing covered, that shall not be revealed; and hid, that shall not be known. 27What I tell you in darkness, that speak you in light: and what you hear in the ear, that preach you on the housetops. 28And fear not them which kill the body, but are not able to kill the soul: but rather fear him which is able to destroy both soul and body in hell. 29Are not two sparrows sold for a farthing? and one of them shall not fall on the ground without your Father. 30But the very hairs of your head are all numbered. 31Fear you not therefore, you are of more value than many sparrows. 32Whoever therefore shall confess me before men, him will I confess also before my Father which is in heaven. 33But whoever shall deny me before men, him will I also deny before my Father which is in heaven."

The passage from Matthew 10:5-33 is a significant part of Jesus 'instructions to His disciples as He sends them out on their mission. These words not only speak to the specific context of that time but also offer timeless principles for Christians and disciples today in how to reach the world, including both Gentiles and Israel, with the message of the Kingdom of God.

# 1. The Primacy of the Lost Sheep of Israel and the Gentiles

In the beginning of this passage (verses 5-6), Jesus directs His disciples to focus specifically on "the lost sheep of the house of Israel." This initial mission emphasizes that the first call of the Gospel was to the Jewish people, the descendants of the patriarchs, to whom God's promises had been made. Jesus was inaugurating the Kingdom of Heaven, and it was essential that Israel hear and recognize their Messiah.

For Christians today, this part of the passage calls attention to the importance of the Jewish people in God's redemptive plan. While the Gospel has now been spread to all nations, Israel's historical and spiritual significance remains vital. Many Christians today still view evangelism to the Jewish people as a priority. In fact, Jesus' words, though initially given in the context of His earthly ministry, remind us that God's covenant with Israel has not been revoked (Romans 11:1-2). Reaching out to Israel, whether through

direct evangelism or through support for Jewish people, is part of fulfilling the broader Great Commission. (Reaching the gentiles, everyone who is not Jewish) However, the message of salvation is not confined solely to Israel, and the discipleship of the Gentiles was always part of God's plan, as seen in the final command of Matthew 28:18-20, which extends the call to all nations. This global scope of God's redemptive plan is also evident in the prophetic writings, such as Isaiah 49:6, where the Servant is called to be "a light for the Gentiles" that God's salvation may reach the ends of the earth. Throughout the New Testament, the apostles affirm this inclusivity, recognizing that the gospel is the power of God for salvation to everyone who believes—first to the Jew, then to the Gentile (Romans 1:16).

# 2. Freely You Have Received, Freely Give

In verses 7-8, Jesus encourages His disciples to preach, heal, cleanse, and cast out demons, but also instructs them to do so without payment or material gain. "Freely you have received, freely give" is a profound principle for Christian ministry. The disciples' authority to heal and perform miracles was a gift from God, and their mission was not to be motivated by financial gain but by the desire to share the Gospel freely with others.

This principle is essential for modern-day ministry. Too often, the Church has fallen into the trap of seeking financial reward or status through evangelism and ministry. Jesus' command calls us to examine our motivations. Evangelism and discipleship should be driven by a genuine love for people and a desire to see them reconciled to God. This does not mean that ministers or missionaries cannot be supported for their work; rather, it underscores that the Gospel itself is not for sale. It is a message of grace, and those who proclaim it should do so with a heart of generosity, not seeking personal profit.

# 3. The Challenge of Rejection and Persecution

Jesus prepares His disciples for the inevitable rejection and persecution they would face (verses 16-22). He warns them that they will be like "sheep in the midst of wolves" and that they will be hated for His name's sake. This part of the passage highlights a crucial reality for modern Christians: proclaiming the Gospel in a world that is often hostile to the message of Jesus can bring severe opposition. The world may reject the message of salvation, and believers may suffer ridicule, persecution, and even martyrdom.

In our current age, reaching both Gentiles and Israel with the Gospel can still bring significant challenges. In some parts of the world, Christians face imprisonment, violence, and even death for their faith. In more secular societies, the Gospel is often met with indifference, hostility, or misunderstanding. For those who seek to evangelize in Israel or among Jewish people, there may be deep theological and cultural resistance. However, Jesus' words remind us that persecution is not a sign of failure but an expected part of the discipleship journey. The ultimate reward for faithful service is not found in worldly success but in the promise of eternal life and the joy of fulfilling God's mission.

The call to be "wise as serpents and harmless as doves" (verse 16) reminds Christians that, while they must remain innocent and loving, they also need to be strategic and discerning. Wisdom in evangelism today requires understanding the cultural, religious, and social dynamics at play in any given situation, while also embodying the meekness and gentleness of Christ.

#### 4. Fear Not: The Assurance of God's Care

In verses 28-31, Jesus tells His disciples not to fear those who can kill the body but cannot harm the soul. Rather, they are to fear God, who has power over both body and soul. This statement is a reminder that the temporal challenges we face in the world are small compared to the eternal significance of our relationship with God. When reaching out to both Gentiles and Israel, Christians today must hold onto this truth. The threats and challenges of this world can cause fear and doubt, but God's sovereignty and care for His people are more certain than any earthly fear. Jesus reassures His disciples that God cares intimately for them—even down to the number of hairs on their head—and this is a truth that should embolden believers to continue their mission despite opposition.

This is a key encouragement for anyone engaged in the work of evangelism or missions today. Whether we are sharing the Gospel with a neighbor, a colleague, or a people group that has been historically resistant to the message of Christ, we are never alone. God's care and sovereignty are a foundation for courage. He is fully aware of the cost of discipleship, and He will sustain His people.

#### 5. The Call to Public Confession

In verses 32-33, Jesus emphasizes the importance of publicly confessing Him before others. Those who confess Him will be confessed before the Father, but those who deny Him will face denial before the Father in heaven. This is not just a call to boldness in the face of persecution, but also an encouragement to make our faith known to the world, regardless of the cost. This public confession is vital for discipleship today. In an age where Christianity is often marginalized or ridiculed, it is easy for believers to remain silent about their faith, particularly in secular or hostile contexts. However, Jesus makes it clear that to follow Him requires a willingness to openly identify with Him and to stand firm in our allegiance to Him.

For Christians seeking to reach both Israel and the Gentile world, this passage challenges us to be vocal and courageous in sharing the Gospel, not just through our actions but with our words. The message of salvation in Christ is meant to be proclaimed boldly, not hidden. Evangelism today is not just a private affair or a casual conversation; it involves speaking out, both in word and in deed, about the truth of Jesus Christ.

## 6. Reaching the World Today

The commission given to the disciples in Matthew 10 still echoes through the Church today. While the context of the mission may have shifted—today, Christians are sent to

all nations, including both Gentiles and Jews—the core message and principles remain unchanged. As Christians, we are still called to proclaim the Gospel of the Kingdom, to heal the broken, to cast out demons, and to serve sacrificially. The challenge of rejection, persecution, and even death is still a reality for many around the world, but so too is the promise of God's care, provision, and ultimate victory.

The world today is still filled with people who need the Gospel, and Israel, as a nation, remains important in God's redemptive plan. Whether through direct outreach to Jewish people or through global missions, Christians today must carry forward the work of the disciples—preaching, healing, and serving, while trusting in God's care and provision. As we go, we must not be afraid to boldly proclaim the message of Christ, knowing that the ultimate victory belongs to Him, and that He will be with us until the very end of the age.

**Matthew 10:16-19 AKJV)** "Behold, I send you forth as sheep in the middle of wolves: be you therefore wise as serpents, and harmless as doves. 17But beware of men: for they will deliver you up to the councils, and they will whip you in their synagogues; 18And you shall be brought before governors and kings for my sake, for a testimony against them and the Gentiles. 19But when they deliver you up, take no thought how or what you shall speak: for it shall be given you in that same hour what you shall speak."

The character trait of Jesus as a Missionary is evident in His purposeful engagement with people beyond His immediate surroundings. He not only modeled the importance of missions but also entrusted His followers with a mission to share the good news of salvation to the world.

**Luke 19:10:** Jesus declares His mission, saying, "For the Son of Man came to seek and to save the lost." This succinctly captures the heart of Jesus' mission—to reach out to those who were spiritually lost and in need of salvation.

**John 20:21:**(AKJV) After His resurrection, Jesus commissions His disciples, saying, "Then said Jesus to them again, Peace be to you: as my Father has sent me, even so send I you. 22And when he had said this, he breathed on them, and says to them, Receive you the Holy Ghost: 23Whose soever sins you remit, they are remitted to them; and whose soever sins you retain, they are retained."

Luke 14:21-24 (AKJV) So that servant came, and showed his lord these things. Then the master of the house being angry said to his servant, Go out quickly into the streets and lanes of the city, and bring in here the poor, and the maimed, and the halt, and the blind. 22And the servant said, Lord, it is done as you have commanded, and yet there is room. 23And the lord said to the servant, Go out into the highways and hedges, and compel them to come in, that my house may be filled. 24For I say to you, That none of those men which were bidden shall taste of my supper..

This explicit connection between the sending of Jesus by the Father and the sending of the disciples underscores the continuation of the mission beyond Jesus' earthly ministry.

**Acts 1:8:(AKJV)** Jesus outlines the scope of the disciples' mission, saying, "But you shall receive power, after that the Holy Ghost is come on you: and you shall be witnesses to me both in Jerusalem, and in all Judaea, and in Samaria, and to the uttermost part of the earth.." This geographical progression from local to global illustrates the expansive nature of the mission.

**Matthew 28:18-20:** The Great Commission in Matthew 28:18-20 includes the mandate for making disciples but also emphasizes the global aspect of the mission, "Go therefore and make disciples of all nations." This commission extends the reach of the Gospel to every corner of the world.

**Mark 16:15:** In Mark 16:15, Jesus instructs His disciples, "Go into all the world and proclaim the gospel to the whole creation." This universal command emphasizes the inclusivity of the mission, reaching out to everyone and not confined by geographical or cultural boundaries.

**Acts 13:47:** In Acts 13:47, Paul and Barnabas quote Isaiah, affirming the global reach of God's salvation, "For so the Lord has commanded us, saying, 'I have made you a light for the Gentiles, that you may bring salvation to the ends of the earth.'" This reinforces the understanding that the mission of God extends beyond specific groups or nations.

Romans 10:14-15 (AKJV): In Romans 10:14-15, Paul emphasizes the essential role of messengers in the mission, "How then shall they call on him in whom they have not believed? and how shall they believe in him of whom they have not heard? and how shall they hear without a preacher? 15And how shall they preach, except they be sent? as it is written, How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the gospel of peace, and bring glad tidings of good things!" This passage emphasizes the importance of intentional sending and sharing the message.

**Matthew 24:14:** In Matthew 24:14, Jesus speaks about the global proclamation of the gospel as a precursor to the end times, "And this gospel of the kingdom will be proclaimed throughout the whole world as a testimony to all nations, and then the end will come." This underscores the significance of the mission in the larger redemptive plan of God.

**Matthew 10:5-7:** In Matthew 10:5-7, Jesus instructs His disciples during a specific mission, saying, "Go nowhere among the Gentiles and enter no town of the Samaritans, but go rather to the lost sheep of the house of Israel. And proclaim as you go, saying, 'The kingdom of heaven is at hand.'" This initially targeted mission to the people of Israel highlights the strategic and purposeful nature of missions, starting with a specific group before extending to others.

**Acts 16:9-10:** In Acts 16:9-10, Paul receives a vision guiding him to go to Macedonia. This divine direction demonstrates the role of the Holy Spirit in guiding and orchestrating specific missions. It emphasizes the importance of sensitivity to God's leading in the mission field.

**Mark 13:10:** In Mark 13:10, Jesus speaks about the global proclamation of the gospel during times of persecution, "And the gospel must first be proclaimed to all nations." This acknowledgment by Jesus underscores the endurance of the mission even in challenging circumstances, reinforcing the priority of global proclamation.

**1 Corinthians 9:22b-23:** Paul's perspective on missions is evident in 1 Corinthians 9:22b-23, where he says, "I have become all things to all people, that by all means I might save some. I do it all for the sake of the gospel, that I may share with them in its blessings." This reflects an adaptable and inclusive approach to missions, emphasizing the desire to reach diverse audiences.

# Types Of Ministries, Evangelism and Missions List

Here are some of the needed positions / ministries that we can aspire to serve others within the church and other essential ministries sometimes organized within the church to also serve others outside the church more effectively as a team effort...

# Church Staff / Adminstration - Service To The Church

**Pastor** 

Assistant Pastor/s

Elders

Deacons

Administration

Administrator

Secretary

**Assistant Secretaries** 

Finances

Legal

Logistics

Church Planting

Church Bulletin Folders/Stuff

Art/Graphics

Computer / Website / Internet

Church Newsletter

Public Relations
Christian Resource Materials
Facilitator
Charity/Special Project Fundraising
Maintenance
Technical

# For The Church Ministraties

Prayer Intercessory Ministry Sunday School Teachers

Clean up

**Ushers** 

Communion

Greeters

Hospitality

Discipleship Teachers

**Christian Teachers** 

New Believers Counselor

New Believers Follow-Up

**Baptizers** 

Volunteer Ministry Follow-Up

Counselors

Youth Director/ Assistant

Youth Ministry

Sunday Worship Team

Special Music

Other Christian Musicians, Singers, Dancers

Drama

Children's Ministry

Singles

Marriage Counselor

**Group Leader** 

Women's Ministry

Men's Ministry

Visitation Ministry

- Sick
- Widows
- Orphans,
- Prisoners
- Elderly
- Youth Detention

**Hospital Ministry** 

Handicapped Ministry
Food / Clothing for Needy Ministry
Homeless Ministry
Elderly Ministry
Substance Abuse Ministry

- Drug
- Alcohol

Addiction Ministry

Suicide Crisis

Abuse Ministry

Sign Language for Deaf

Foreign Language Translators

Marriage Counselor

Home Bible Study

Home Fellowship

Friendship / Fellowship Ministry

Missions Team

Christian TV/ Radio/ Media

Computer / Website / Internet

Computer Data Entry

Home Visitation

Helps

Church Bulletin Folders/Stuff

Bible School Teacher

**Christian Apologetics** 

- End Times
- Cults

Set Up Team

Construction

Art / Graphics

Communication

Information Tables

Staging

**Technical Team** 

- Sound Person
- Lighting Person
- Videographer
- Photographer
- Staging

Cooks

Food Prep

Food Servers

**Special Events** 

Christian College Logistics Transportation Christian Resources;

- Bible
- Books
- Teaching, Discipleship Materials
- Films
- Videos
- CD's
- Materials
- Christian Tracts

Security Team

Parking Team

Information Tables

Child Care after church

Christian Camp

**Christian Writing** 

Divorce Recovery

# Evangelism / Service To Our Community

Evangelism Team Administrators Planning Logistics Permitting Prayer Intercessory Ministry Elderly Ministry Visitation Ministry

- Sick
- Widows
- Orphans,
- Prisoners
- Elderly
- Youth Detention

**Prison Ministry** 

Prison Children's Ministry

**Hospital Ministry** 

**Orphans Ministry** 

Widows Ministry

Handicapped Ministry

Mentally Challenged Ministry

**Troubled Youth Ministry** 

Youth Detention Homes

Hospitality

Food / Clothing for Needy – Collection Ministry

Food / Clothing for Needy – Distribution Ministry

**Homeless Ministry** 

Victims Ministry

Transportation

Bible / Christian Tract Distribution

Foreign Language Translators

Helps

Work Place

**Tourists** 

Youth

College

High School

Military

**Jewish Ministry** 

Street Witnessing

Radio and TV Evangelism

Christmas Ministry Outreach

Thanksgiving Outreach

Outreaches / Christian Speakers

Evangelism Christian Musicians, Singers, Dancers, Hula

Technical Evangelism Team

Substance Abuse Ministries

- Drug
- Alcohol

**Addiction Ministry** 

Suicide Crisis

Abuse Ministry

Gang Outreach Ministry

Sign Language

**Testimonies** 

Disaster / Emergency Relief Aid Team

Hurricane Relief Team

**Emergency Communication Team** 

Human Trafficking Rescue

Organ Trafficking Ministry

Sexual explotación rescue and aid

Youth Crisis, Runaways

**Habitat For Humanity** 

Christian Resources

Bibles

- Books
- Films
- Videos
- CD's
- Tracts
- Materials

Sports / Surfing / Canoe

Beatification and Remodeling Projects

Environmental

Self Sufficiency / Sustainability

Agriculture

Rescue Team

Migrant Outreach

Workplace Outreach

**Construction Projects** 

Needy Children Outreach

# Foreign Missions / Ministries / Service

Prayer Intercessory Ministry

Foreign Missions Planning/Logistics / Targets

**Short Term Missions** 

Long Term Missions

Foreign Bibles

Foreign Christian Tracts

Discipleship materials and resources

Underground communication and supplies

Unreached people groups

Accommodations

Transportation

Street Witnessing

**Translators** 

Foreign Guides

New Believers Counselor

Counselor

Discipleship Teacher

**Baptizers** 

Bible Studies

Home Fellowships

**Church Planting** 

**Building Projects** 

Disaster / Emergency Relief Aid Team

**Emergency Shelter** 

Hospitality

# **Visitation Ministry**

- Sick
- Widows
- Orphans,
- Prisoners
- Elderly
- Youth Detention

Prison Ministry

**Hospital Ministry** 

Handicapped Ministry

**Troubled Youth Ministry** 

Food / Clothing for Needy Ministry

Shoes

**Homeless Ministry** 

**Elderly Ministry** 

Children Ministry

Child Labor rescue and support

Youth Ministry

Disability Ministry

Drug / Alcohol Ministry

Sign Language for Deaf

Literacy Outreach

Agriculture Projects

Aquaculture

Husbandry

Sanitation

Water Desalination

Solar

Livestock

Renewable Energy Resources

Air Cargo / Relief - Aid to remote areas

Aviation missions

Maritime missions (e.g., Mercy Ships)

Self Sufficiency / Sustainability

Lighting

Water Well Projects

**Christmas Child Ministry** 

Habitat For Humanity

Foreign Aid / Needed Supplies, Tools etc.

Medical Team

**Dental Team** 

Special Christian Music, Dance, Drama Outreach Jewish Ministry Foreign Language Translators Foreign Language Christian Resources; Bibles, Books, Films, Tracts, Materials Human Trafficking Rescue Organ Trafficking Ministry Sexual explotación rescue and aid Christian TV/ Radio/ Media

Computer / Website / Internet

Support
Fund Raising
Communication
Correspondence
Youth
Sports
Occupational Training
Ground Transportation
Packing / Shipping
Planning
Logistics
Adminstration

Refugee aid missions

# Christian Missions vs. Christian Tours:

# A Biblical Commentary

Are the so called planned "Mission Trips" of any particular Christian, truly spreading the Good News of salvation through Jesus Christ? Loving and helping others and making disciples? Or should it be defined more as a "Christian Tour"? What are the primary focus and objectives?

Christian missions is defined and grounded in the Great Commission given by Jesus Christ in Matthew 28:19-20: "Go therefore and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, teaching them to observe all that I have commanded you." This command is not merely an invitation but a divine mandate for all believers to engage in spreading the gospel, making disciples, and serving others in Christ's name. True Christian missions are marked by intentional outreach—spiritual and often practical—where the goal is transformation, not tourism. Whether through evangelism, compassion work, or cross-cultural ministry, missions prioritize the eternal over the experiential, the message over the moment, and obedience over observation.

In contrast, Christian tours, while sometimes edifying, differ in both purpose and result. These trips typically focus on travel experiences to historical or biblical locations—such as Israel, Greece, or Turkey—designed to enhance personal faith through seeing the sites where biblical events took place. While such experiences can deepen one's understanding of Scripture and foster awe and reverence for God's work in history, they are primarily inward-facing. Tours serve the participants, not the nations. There is no inherent call to engage others with the gospel, disciple believers, or serve the poor. While a Christian tour can inspire a deeper walk with God, it cannot replace the missionary call that demands personal sacrifice, active ministry, and spiritual reproduction.

Biblically, the apostles and early church leaders set a clear example of what mission looks like. Paul's missionary journeys (Acts 13–28), for instance, were not undertaken to sightsee or explore cultural landmarks. They were driven by a burden to preach Christ where He was not yet known (Romans 15:20). His journeys resulted in churches being planted, leaders being trained, and the gospel penetrating unreached areas. These missions were often accompanied by hardship, persecution, and sacrificial giving. The spiritual fruit was tangible and lasting. By contrast, a Christian tour—however well-intentioned—rarely leaves such a legacy. It may bring joy, perspective, or even repentance to the individual, but it does not extend the Kingdom of God in the same outward-reaching, disciple-making way.

This is not to dismiss Christian tours as unbiblical or worthless—they can be spiritually refreshing and provide historical context for Scripture—but they must not be confused with or substituted for Christian missions. The danger lies in the comfort of consuming faith rather than living it out. If tours are mistaken for missions, the church risks growing passive, prioritizing personal experience over global obedience. Jesus did not command us to "go and see" but to "go and make." Christian missions call us out of ourselves for the sake of others, to labor with Christ in the harvest. In every age, the church must renew its commitment to true missions—living incarnationally, speaking the gospel boldly, and loving sacrificially in a world that still desperately needs to hear.

# Preparing Our Hearts and Minds for Missions

Preparing our hearts and minds for missions is a vital step—often more important than logistics, fundraising, or even training. Missions is not just about what we do but about who we are in Jesus Christ and how we carry His presence into a broken world. When we step into the mission field—whether across the street or across the world—we must go with hearts rooted in Christ and minds renewed by His Word. Otherwise, we risk carrying our own agenda, pride, or spiritual immaturity into a context that demands humility, love, and obedience.

#### 1. Spiritual Readiness: Surrender and Holiness

True preparation begins with surrender. Romans 12:1-2 urges believers to "present your bodies as a living sacrifice, holy and acceptable to God, which is your spiritual worship." We must lay down personal ambition and be willing to be used in any way God chooses. This includes dealing with personal sin, broken relationships, unforgiveness, and areas of spiritual compromise. A mission field is not a place to "get right with God"—it's a place to go because you are walking with God. Personal holiness, fueled by daily time in Scripture and prayer, equips you to hear His voice, obey His promptings, and love others well.

# 2. Mental and Emotional Preparedness

Missions will stretch you—emotionally, mentally, culturally, and physically. That's why it's essential to prepare your mind by meditating on Scriptures about endurance, humility, and servanthood (Philippians 2:1-11, James 1:2-4, 1 Peter 4:12-13). Expect discomfort, misunderstandings, and even opposition. Missions is spiritual warfare. But a prepared mind chooses faith over fear and perseverance over frustration. It also means understanding the culture, people, and context you'll be entering. Learn their customs, worldview, and pain points so that your ministry is informed and compassionate, not accidental or offensive.

# 3. Heart Preparation: Love and Compassion

1 Corinthians 13 reminds us that *without love, we are nothing.* The heart of missions must be love—first for God, then for the people we are sent to. This kind of love isn't abstract or emotional; it's practical, sacrificial, and consistent. Before going, ask God to burden your heart with love for those you'll meet. Break your heart for what breaks His. Missions done without compassion can become mechanical or even manipulative. But when love leads, people don't just hear the gospel—they experience it through your presence.

## 4. Team Unity and Servant Posture

Finally, prepare relationally. Missions is not a solo act—it's a team calling. Pray for your team members. Commit to unity and mutual support. Expect spiritual attacks on relationships, and determine to respond with grace and humility. Embrace a servant's posture in all things—not just toward the people you're ministering to, but toward your team, leaders, and hosts. Jesus came not to be served but to serve (Mark 10:45), and we must carry the same heart into every interaction on the field.

# Spiritual Division within Team Members

Spiritual division within a mission team can be one of the most significant obstacles to effective ministry. While mission teams are sent out to represent Christ and proclaim His gospel, division among members undermines both the message and the

**messenger**. The Bible is clear that unity is not optional for believers—it is a crucial part of our witness. When that unity breaks down, especially in a ministry context, the spiritual impact can be devastating both internally and externally.

Jesus said in Mark 3:24-25, "If a kingdom is divided against itself, that kingdom cannot stand. If a house is divided against itself, that house will not be able to stand." This principle applies directly to mission teams. A team at war within itself—due to pride, jealousy, doctrinal disputes, unresolved conflict, or competing agendas—will lack spiritual authority and credibility. The focus shifts from serving others to managing internal tension. The enemy thrives in such disunity, knowing it renders the team ineffective and distracts from the mission.

Furthermore, division among believers deeply contradicts the very message the team is trying to share. John 13:35 says, "By this all people will know that you are my disciples, if you have love for one another." If team members are cold, distant, or combative toward each other, how can they authentically preach love, reconciliation, and peace to a lost world? Unbelievers are quick to spot hypocrisy, and internal strife within a mission team can cause those observing to dismiss the message altogether. What should be a testimony to the transformative power of Christ becomes a warning of religious dysfunction.

Paul pleaded with the church in 1 Corinthians 1:10, "I appeal to you, brothers and sisters, in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that all of you agree with one another... and that there be no divisions among you." Mission teams must heed this call. Confession, forgiveness, humility, and mutual accountability are essential practices that keep teams spiritually healthy and mission-focused. Unity does not mean uniformity, but it does require a shared submission to Christ, mutual love, and a commitment to prioritize the gospel over personal grievances. When unity prevails, the team becomes a powerful vessel through which Christ is made known—and when it fractures, even the best-planned mission can fall short of its spiritual calling.

# Biblical Foundation for Unity and Love in Mission Teams

The New Testament repeatedly emphasizes the importance of unity and love among believers, especially those serving together in ministry. Jesus Himself prayed in John 17:21, "that they may all be one, just as you, Father, are in me, and I in you, that they also may be in us, so that the world may believe that you have sent me." This unity is not merely functional—it's deeply spiritual. For a mission team, unity reflects the triune nature of God and serves as a witness to the gospel. Love must underpin every relationship within the team (John 13:34-35), ensuring that the message of Christ is not contradicted by internal strife.

# **Mutual Submission and Humility**

In Ephesians 5:21, Paul instructs believers to "submit to one another out of reverence for Christ." Mutual submission means laying down pride, preferences, and personal agendas for the sake of the gospel and for the flourishing of the team. Philippians 2:3–4 adds, "Do

nothing from selfish ambition or conceit, but in humility count others more significant than yourselves." On a mission team, where cultural, logistical, and spiritual challenges are common, such humility fosters a healthy environment where collaboration and respect thrive.

# **Support and Encouragement**

Romans 12:10 exhorts us to "Be devoted to one another in love. Honor one another above yourselves." This kind of support is vital in the field, where spiritual warfare, fatigue, and discouragement can easily arise. Team members must be intentional in prayer, encouragement, and accountability, building one another up so that the team can endure and remain fruitful (Galatians 6:2, "Bear one another's burdens"). A unified, loving team models the gospel both to those being served and to each other.

# **Practical Implications for Mission Work**

A mission team that embraces Christian unity, love, mutual submission, and support becomes more than just a group of coworkers—it becomes a spiritual family. This dynamic reduces conflict, increases effectiveness, and reflects the Kingdom of God to a watching world. Team members are able to function with grace, give and receive correction in love, and pursue the mission with a shared heart. In doing so, they not only proclaim Christ through words but demonstrate Him through their relationships.

# Counting the Cost of Being a Missionary (A Biblical Reflection)

Jesus was clear: following Him would cost something. In Luke 14:28-33, He used the analogy of a builder calculating the expense before constructing a tower. He then said, "In the same way, those of you who do not give up everything you have cannot be my disciples." The call to be a missionary is a beautiful but weighty one. It requires a sober, Spirit-led assessment of what must be laid down in order to lift up Christ. Missions is not simply about adventure or calling; it's about **obedient sacrifice**. The true missionary counts the cost—not to avoid it, but to face it with faith and resolve.

#### 1. Relational Sacrifice

Missionaries often leave behind family, friends, familiar churches, and support networks. This separation can be painful, especially in times of crisis, holidays, or when loved ones are struggling or aging. Jesus addressed this in Matthew 19:29: "And everyone who has left houses or brothers or sisters or father or mother or wife or children or fields for my sake will receive a hundred times as much and will inherit eternal life." God does not ignore these losses, but He also doesn't promise they won't happen. The missionary life involves trusting that God Himself will be sufficient when earthly relationships are strained or distant.

#### 2. Material and Comfort Loss

Missionaries often surrender financial security, comfortable housing, healthcare access, and a predictable lifestyle. Paul described his experience in 2 Corinthians 11:27, "I have labored and toiled and have often gone without sleep; I have known hunger and thirst and have often gone without food; I have been cold and naked." While modern missionaries may not all experience extreme hardship, many give up dreams of career advancement, steady income, or safety. The cost is real—but so is the reward. Jesus promises in Matthew 6:33 that when we "seek first the kingdom of God," our needs will be provided.

# 3. Emotional and Spiritual Struggles

Missions brings intense spiritual warfare. Missionaries may face rejection, loneliness, culture shock, persecution, discouragement, and feelings of inadequacy. The enemy will attack their identity, their relationships, and their sense of purpose. Elijah, after a powerful moment of ministry, became overwhelmed and despondent (1 Kings 19:4). Missionaries must prepare for emotional highs and lows, and learn to lean deeply into Christ for strength. As Paul wrote in 2 Corinthians 12:10, "For when I am weak, then I am strong." The missionary who counts this cost learns not to depend on self, but on the all-sufficient grace of God.

#### 4. The Ultimate Cost: Your Life

Jesus said in Luke 9:23, "If anyone would come after me, let him deny himself and take up his cross daily and follow me." For some, this means literally dying for the gospel. Throughout history, countless missionaries have paid the ultimate price—men and women like Jim Elliot, who famously said, "He is no fool who gives what he cannot keep to gain what he cannot lose." While not every missionary is martyred, all must be willing to lay down their life—daily. This could mean giving up personal dreams, enduring suffering, or accepting obscurity for the sake of the gospel.

Counting the cost doesn't discourage missions—it purifies the calling. It reminds us that the cross is not just for salvation; it's a model for how we live. And yet, the rewards are eternal. As Paul wrote in Romans 8:18, "I consider that our present sufferings are not worth comparing with the glory that will be revealed in us." A missionary may lose much in this life—but gains Christ, and in Him, everything.

# Following Jesus and Being Led by the Holy Spirit in Missions:

True Christian missions are not based on human strategies or personal ambition but are rooted in obedience to Jesus Christ and daily dependence on the guidance of the Holy Spirit. As we go into the world, we must surrender our understanding and rely on God's wisdom, timing, and leading.

# **Scriptural References:**

# **Proverbs 3:5–6 (Trust in the Lord with All Your Heart):**

"Trust in the Lord with all your heart, and do not lean on your own understanding. In all your ways acknowledge Him, and He will make straight your paths."

 A reminder that human reasoning is limited, but God's direction is perfect, especially in missions where discernment is essential.

# Matthew 4:19 (Follow Me, and I Will Make You Fishers of Men):

"And he said to them, 'Follow me, and I will make you fishers of men."

- The call to mission begins with following Jesus, not a plan or method, but a Person.

# John 16:13 (When the Spirit of Truth Comes, He Will Guide You):

"When the Spirit of truth comes, he will guide you into all the truth..."

- The Holy Spirit is the believer's guide, teacher, and counselor in every aspect of ministry.

# Acts 13:2–4 (Set Apart for the Work... Sent Out by the Holy Spirit):

"While they were worshiping the Lord and fasting, the Holy Spirit said, 'Set apart for me Barnabas and Saul for the work to which I have called them.' ... So, being sent out by the Holy Spirit..."

- The early church did not send missionaries based on human reasoning but in response to the Spirit's clear direction.

## Romans 8:14 (Led by the Spirit of God):

"For all who are led by the Spirit of God are sons of God."

 Being led by the Spirit is a mark of a true child of God and vital for effective, faithful ministry.

### Summary:

In missions, as in every area of the Christian life, success is not determined by human plans or worldly wisdom but by obedience to Jesus and sensitivity to the Holy Spirit's leading. As we deny ourselves, take up our cross, and follow Christ, the Spirit of God will guide us into truth, empower our witness, and bear fruit through our lives for the glory of God. Leaning on our own understanding can lead to error or burnout, but trusting God's Spirit brings clarity, strength, and divine direction.

# Be a Witness for Jesus Christ

#### **Witness For Jesus Christ**

A witness for Christ is a believer and disciple of Christ who shares their own personal testimony of the truth and saving grace of Jesus, often at great cost. A witness is someone who has seen, heard, and experienced something firsthand, and they are compelled to testify to that reality.

As Christians we are to share the Good News of salvation and forgiveness only made possible through Jesus. We should testify to all that God has done for us, with the emphasis about His precious gift of unmerited divine love and the personal ways God has worked in our lives, as well as testifying of the truths that He has revealed in His Word and through the Holy Spirit.

Any Christian can become a good witness for Christ by the way they live their life; We should demonstrate the truth and love of Jesus Christ in not only our words but also our actions. So being a witness is like 'confessing' our belief of Jesus to the world, with our mouth, however, being a 'witness for Christ' we must also by our actions purpose to live the commandments of Jesus Christ in love.

Every Christian should purpose to be a good witness for Jesus Christ and have a constant profession of the truth of God, so by the proof of God's work in you and by your open witness of God's work, that many other people might believe in God and in Jesus Christ and be saved.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**Acts 1:8 9 (AKJV)** "But you shall receive power, after that the Holy Ghost is come on you: and you shall be witnesses to me both in Jerusalem, and in all Judaea, and in Samaria, and to the uttermost part of the earth.

Explanation: Jesus, speaking to His disciples, outlines their future role as witnesses empowered by the Holy Spirit. This commission signifies the responsibility of believers to testify about Jesus and spread the message of salvation globally.

**Matthew 24:14 (AKJV)** And this gospel of the kingdom shall be preached in all the world for a witness to all nations; and then shall the end come.

**Revelation 11:3 (AKJV)** And I will give power to my two witnesses, and they shall prophesy a thousand two hundred and three score days, clothed in sackcloth.

**John 1:7-8** (AKJV) "The same came for a witness, to bear witness of the Light, that all men through him might believe. 8He was not that Light, but was sent to bear witness of that Light. 9That was the true Light, which lights every man that comes into the world." Explanation: This passage refers to John the Baptist as a witness testifying about the coming of Jesus, who is described as the light. It establishes the role of a witness in pointing others toward the truth found in Christ.

**1 John 5:9-13** (AKJV) "If we receive the witness of men, the witness of God is greater: for this is the witness of God which he has testified of his Son. 10He that believes on the Son of God has the witness in himself: he that believes not God has made him a liar; because he believes not the record that God gave of his Son. 11And this is the record,

that God has given to us eternal life, and this life is in his Son. 12He that has the Son has life; and he that has not the Son of God has not life. 13These things have I written to you that believe on the name of the Son of God; that you may know that you have eternal life, and that you may believe on the name of the Son of God.."

Explanation: This passage underscores the significance of accepting and bearing witness to the testimony of God about Jesus. Believers are called to affirm and share the divine testimony regarding the Son of God.

# Revelation 19:10 (AKJV):

"And I fell at his feet to worship him. And he said to me, See you do it not: I am your fellow servant, and of your brothers that have the testimony of Jesus: worship God: for the testimony of Jesus is the spirit of prophecy.."

Explanation: The angel in Revelation emphasizes that the testimony of Jesus is central, and those who hold to this testimony are fellow servants. This verse highlights the collaborative role of believers in bearing witness to Jesus.

In these passages, being a witness is closely tied to testifying about Jesus, spreading the message of salvation, and affirming the divine testimony regarding the Son of God. The concept of being a witness is integral to the Christian mission and the proclamation of the truth found in Jesus Christ.

# Matthew 28:18-20 (AKJV):

"And Jesus came and spoke to them, saying, All power is given to me in heaven and in earth. 19Go you therefore, and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: 20Teaching them to observe all things whatever I have commanded you: and, see, I am with you always, even to the end of the world. Amen.'"

Explanation: Often referred to as the Great Commission, this passage highlights Jesus instructing His disciples to go and make disciples of all nations. The disciples are to bear witness by baptizing and teaching, spreading the message of Christ to the ends of the earth.

**Acts 4:19-20 (AKJV):** "But Peter and John answered and said to them, Whether it be right in the sight of God to listen to you more than to God, judge you. 20For we cannot but speak the things which we have seen and heard."

Explanation: In the face of opposition, Peter and John boldly affirm their commitment to witnessing about what they have experienced with Jesus. This reflects the unwavering dedication of believers to share their firsthand experiences and knowledge of Christ.

# Acts 22:15 (AKJV):

"For you shall be his witness to all men of what you have seen and heard." Explanation: Ananias, speaking to the Apostle Paul, communicates God's purpose for Paul's life—to be a witness to all people based on his personal experiences with Christ. This underscores the personal and experiential aspect of being a witness.

# 1 Peter 3:15 (AKJV):

"But sanctify the Lord God in your hearts: and be ready always to give an answer to every man that asks you a reason of the hope that is in you with meekness and fear" Explanation: Peter encourages believers to be ready to give an account of their faith, serving as witnesses who can explain the reasons for their hope in Christ. The emphasis is on doing so with gentleness and respect.

These passages emphasize the call for of us as believers and followers of Jesus Christ to be active witnesses, sharing the message of Christ with others through personal experiences, teachings, and a commitment to making disciples. The act of witnessing is integral to the Christian mission and the spread of the Gospel.

Being a witness for Christ is at the heart of the Christian calling, echoing the words of Jesus in Acts 1:8 where He says, "But you will receive power when the Holy Spirit comes on you, and you will be my witnesses in Jerusalem, and in all Judea and Samaria, and to the ends of the earth." This commission, often referred to as the Great Commission, outlines the expansive scope of witnessing—from the local context to the global arena.

The exhortation of witnessing involves both words and deeds, and the Apostle Peter emphasizes this dual aspect in 1 Peter 3:15-16. He encourages believers to always be prepared to give an answer to anyone who asks about the hope within them, yet to do so with gentleness and respect. This passage underscores the importance of a winsome and respectful presentation of the Christian faith.

In the Sermon on the Mount, Jesus describes His followers as the "light of the world" and the "salt of the earth" (Matthew 5:13-16). These metaphors highlight the transformative influence that believers are called to have in the world. The light of Christ is meant to shine through the actions and character of His followers, drawing attention to the goodness and truth found in Him.

**The Apostle Paul,** in his letters to the Corinthians, provides a profound reflection on the nature of Christian witnessing. In 2 Corinthians 3:2-3, he speaks of the Corinthian believers as a letter from Christ, written not with ink but with the Spirit of the living God. This metaphor emphasizes the idea that the transformed lives of believers are a tangible testament to the work of God in their hearts.

Witnessing also involves sharing the Gospel, the good news of salvation through Jesus Christ. Romans 10:14-15 emphasizes the role of verbal communication in the process of people coming to faith: "How, then, can they call on the one they have not believed in? And how can they believe in the one of whom they have not heard? And how can they hear without someone preaching to them? And how can anyone preach unless they are sent?"

# Biblical Commentary on Being a Witness for Christ

Being a witness for Christ is a central theme of the Christian faith, rooted in both the words and the commission of Jesus Himself. In *Acts 1:8*, Jesus says to His disciples, "But you

will receive power when the Holy Spirit comes on you; and you will be my witnesses in Jerusalem, and in all Judea and Samaria, and to the ends of the earth." This declaration is not just a command—it is a prophetic identity given to every believer. To be a witness for Christ means to testify, both in word and deed, to the reality of who Jesus is, what He has done, and what He continues to do through the power of the gospel. It is to be a living signpost pointing others to the love, truth, and saving grace of God. The early church took this calling seriously, spreading the message of Jesus with boldness, even under the threat of persecution, because they had encountered the risen Lord and could not remain silent.

The concept of being a witness goes beyond just preaching or teaching; it involves living in a way that reflects Christ's character. In *Matthew 5:14-16*, Jesus says, "You are the light of the world... let your light shine before others, that they may see your good deeds and glorify your Father in heaven." A witness for Christ shines through integrity, kindness, humility, and sacrificial love. These actions often speak louder than words and can open doors for gospel conversations. In a world filled with darkness, division, and despair, believers are called to embody a different way—a life that testifies to the peace, joy, and purpose found in Christ. This type of witness requires daily dependence on the Holy Spirit, who empowers believers to love the unlovable, forgive the unforgivable, and serve with grace and courage.

Scripture also connects witness with suffering. The Greek word for "witness" is *martus*, from which we get the word "martyr." Many of the first Christians, including Stephen (Acts 7), bore witness to Christ even unto death. This shows that witnessing may come at great personal cost, yet it is also one of the most powerful testimonies of faith. Peter encourages believers in *1 Peter 3:15*, "Always be prepared to give an answer to everyone who asks you to give the reason for the hope that you have. But do this with gentleness and respect." A true witness does not argue others into belief but invites them into the story of redemption with truth and love. The goal is not to win debates but to lead others to the Savior, through a life that makes Christ visible and irresistible.

Ultimately, to be a witness for Christ is to live out the Great Commission (*Matthew 28:19-20*), making disciples and teaching them to obey all that Jesus commanded. It is a sacred responsibility and privilege. Every believer has a unique platform—whether in a family, workplace, school, or community—to make Christ known. This witness is most effective when it flows from a heart that has truly encountered Jesus. When we remember what He has done for us—rescuing us from sin, giving us new life, and promising eternal hope—we cannot help but share it with others. The world does not just need more religious talk; it needs people who are deeply transformed by Christ and who, by their very lives, draw others to Him. Being a witness is not a duty to dread but a joy to embrace—it is how the gospel continues to spread and how God's kingdom advances on earth.

#### THE TWO WITNESSES

The two witnesses is primarily found in the Book of Revelation, specifically in Revelation 11:3-13. These two witnesses play a significant role in the eschatological events that unfold during the end times. While interpretations may vary, there are several common perspectives on the identity and purpose of the two witnesses.

In Revelation 11, the Apostle John describes two individuals who are granted authority by God to prophesy and perform miracles during a period of 1,260 days, which is often understood as three and a half years. They are clothed in sackcloth, a symbol of mourning and repentance, emphasizing the seriousness of their message.

One prevalent interpretation suggests that the two witnesses represent a symbolic or metaphorical depiction rather than literal individuals. Some view them as representative of the entire Church, emphasizing the role of believers in proclaiming God's truth during times of tribulation. Others see them as symbolic figures representing the Old and New Testaments, testifying to the continuity of God's Word throughout history.

Another interpretation posits that the two witnesses could be actual individuals who will appear in the future, just before the return of Christ. Various figures from the Bible, such as Moses and Elijah, are often suggested as potential candidates due to their roles in past miraculous events. Some believe that God will send specific individuals with a prophetic ministry to testify to the world in the final days.

The tasks assigned to the two witnesses include prophesying, performing miracles, and bearing witness to God's truth. Their ability to shut the sky to prevent rain, turn water into blood, and strike the earth with plagues echoes the miraculous events associated with biblical prophets like Moses and Elijah.

Despite their powerful witness, the two witnesses will face opposition. The Beast, a symbolic figure representing the anti-christ satanic being, will wage war against them and eventually overcome and kill them. Their bodies will lie in the streets of Jerusalem for three and a half days, and the world will witness their apparent defeat. However, to the astonishment of onlookers, they will be resurrected and taken up to heaven in a cloud, signifying God's triumph over the forces of evil.

The account of the two witnesses in Revelation is rich in symbolic language and apocalyptic imagery, making it a subject of diverse interpretations among theologians and scholars. While the exact identity and nature of the two witnesses remain a matter of speculation, the overarching message revolves around the faithful proclamation of God's truth, even in the face of opposition, and the ultimate victory of God's purposes in the culmination of human history.

## Be a Witness for Jesus Christ

**Text:** Acts 1:8 (AKJV):

"But you shall receive power, after that the Holy Ghost is come on you: and you shall be witnesses to me both in Jerusalem, and in all Judaea, and in Samaria, and to the uttermost part of the earth.."

#### Introduction: The Call to Be a Witness for Jesus Christ

In Acts 1:8, Jesus commissions His disciples to be His witnesses, empowered by the Holy Spirit, to proclaim the good news of His death, resurrection, and the hope of eternal life. This calling is not limited to the apostles in the first century but extends to every believer throughout history. To be a witness for Jesus Christ is to testify to who He is, what He has done, and how He transforms lives. The role of a Christian is not just to live for Christ but to actively share Christ with others.

This commentary will explore the biblical understanding of being a witness for Jesus Christ, the power that enables us to be effective witnesses, and how we can fulfill this calling in our everyday lives. It will highlight the significance of both our words and actions as we bear witness to the gospel and seek to make disciples of all nations.

## 1. The Biblical Foundation of Being a Witness

The concept of being a witness for Jesus Christ is deeply rooted in Scripture. The term "witness" (Greek: *martys*) implies not just the sharing of information but a personal testimony of the truth of Jesus, often at great cost. A witness is someone who has seen, heard, and experienced something firsthand, and they are compelled to testify to that reality.

#### 1.1 Witnesses in the Old Testament

In the Old Testament, God often called His people to be witnesses of His greatness and His faithfulness. Israel was meant to be a nation that testified to the world about the one true God and His work in history.

#### Isaiah 43:10-12 (AKJV):

"You are my witnesses, says the LORD, and my servant whom I have chosen: that you may know and believe me, and understand that I am he: before me there was no God formed, neither shall there be after me. 11I, even I, am the LORD; and beside me there is no savior. 12I have declared, and have saved, and I have showed, when there was no strange god among you: therefore you are my witnesses, says the LORD, that I am God."

Israel's calling as witnesses was to declare the exclusive sovereignty of God. Similarly, Christians today are called to witness to the world about the identity and work of Jesus Christ, the Savior of the world.

#### 1.2 Jesus as the Ultimate Witness

Jesus Christ Himself is the ultimate witness to God's nature and salvation plan. His life, teachings, death, and resurrection all serve as the definitive testimony to God's love, grace, and truth.

#### • **John 5:36,37** (AKJV):

"But I have greater witness than that of John: for the works which the Father has given me to finish, the same works that I do, bear witness of me, that the Father has sent me. 37And the Father himself, which has sent me, has borne witness of me. You have neither heard his voice at any time, nor seen his shape."

Jesus 'actions and works were a testimony to the truth of who He was—the Son of God, sent to redeem humanity. As His followers, we are called to bear witness to Him in the same way by living out His truth and sharing His story with others.

### 1.3 The Apostles as Witnesses

After His resurrection, Jesus specifically tasked His apostles with being witnesses of the gospel. Their testimony, grounded in their direct experiences with Jesus, laid the foundation for the early church and the spread of Christianity.

## Luke 24:46-49 (AKJV):

"And said to them, Thus it is written, and thus it behooved Christ to suffer, and to rise from the dead the third day: 47And that repentance and remission of sins should be preached in his name among all nations, beginning at Jerusalem. 48And you are witnesses of these things.49And, behold, I send the promise of my Father on you: but tarry you in the city of Jerusalem, until you be endued with power from on high.."

The apostles were chosen not only to witness Jesus 'life and resurrection but also to share that testimony with others. Their writings, as recorded in the New Testament, serve as a lasting witness to the life and work of Jesus Christ.

#### 2. The Power to Be a Witness: The Holy Spirit

One of the key aspects of being an effective witness for Jesus Christ is the empowerment of the Holy Spirit. In Acts 1:8, Jesus tells His disciples that they will receive power when the Holy Spirit comes upon them. This promise was fulfilled on the day of Pentecost, and it continues to be relevant for believers today.

## 2.1 The Role of the Holy Spirit in Evangelism

The Holy Spirit plays a central role in enabling believers to be effective witnesses for Christ. He empowers, equips, and guides us as we share the gospel and live out our faith.

#### Acts 4:31 (AKJV):

"And when they had prayed, the place was shaken where they were assembled together; and they were all filled with the Holy Ghost (holy Spirit), and they spoke the word of God with boldness.."

When believers are filled with the Holy Spirit, they are emboldened to speak the gospel with courage and clarity. The Spirit works within us, transforming our hearts and giving us the confidence and wisdom we need to witness to others.

## 2.2 The Spirit's Conviction of the World

The Holy Spirit also convicts the world of sin, righteousness, and judgment, preparing hearts to receive the message of the gospel. As witnesses, we are not responsible for changing people's hearts; that is the work of the Spirit. Our role is to faithfully share the message, trusting that the Spirit will use our testimony to draw people to Christ.

## • **John 16:8-15** (AKJV):

"Nevertheless I tell you the truth; It is expedient for you that I go away: for if I go not away, the Comforter will not come to you; but if I depart, I will send him to you. 8And when he is come, he will reprove the world of sin, and of righteousness, and of judgment: 9Of sin, because they believe not on me; 10Of righteousness, because I go to my Father, and you see me no more; 11Of judgment, because the prince of this world is judged. 12I have yet many things to say to you, but you cannot bear them now. 13However, when he, the Spirit of truth, is come, he will guide you into all truth: for he shall not speak of himself; but whatever he shall hear, that shall he speak: and he will show you things to come. 14He shall glorify me: for he shall receive of mine, and shall show it to you. 15All things that the Father has are mine: therefore said I, that he shall take of mine, and shall show it to you."

As we witness, the Spirit works alongside us, preparing the soil of human hearts to receive the gospel.

## 3. The Calling to Be Witnesses: To the End of the Earth

Jesus 'commission in Acts 1:8 extends beyond a local mission; it is global in scope. We are called to be witnesses "in Jerusalem, and in all Judea and Samaria, and to the end of the earth." This command encompasses both our immediate surroundings and the farthest reaches of the world.

#### 3.1 Witnessing in Jerusalem: Our Immediate Context

For the early disciples, Jerusalem was their home base. For us, "Jerusalem" represents our immediate context—our family, friends, workplaces, and local communities. Being a witness for Jesus begins at home, with the people we encounter daily.

#### Matthew 5:14,15 (AKJV):

"You are the light of the world. A city that is set on an hill cannot be hid.

15Neither do men light a candle, and put it under a bushel, but on a candlestick; and it gives light to all that are in the house. 16Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven.."

As believers, we are called to shine the light of Christ in our everyday lives, whether through our actions, conversations, or attitudes. Our witness in Jerusalem is about being visible, authentic, and faithful to the gospel right where we are.

## 3.2 Witnessing in Judea and Samaria: Expanding Beyond Our Comfort Zones

Judea and Samaria represent the broader areas beyond our immediate context—places where the gospel may encounter cultural or social barriers. For the early church, this meant moving beyond Jerusalem into surrounding regions. Today, it means reaching out to those who may be different from us, whether ethnically, socially, or ideologically.

## Acts 8:1-5 (AKJV):

"And Saul was consenting to his death. And at that time there was a great persecution against the church which was at Jerusalem; and they were all scattered abroad throughout the regions of Judaea and Samaria, except the apostles. 2And devout men carried Stephen to his burial, and made great lamentation over him.3As for Saul, he made havoc of the church, entering into every house, and haling men and women committed them to prison. 4Therefore they that were scattered abroad went every where preaching the word. 5Then Philip went down to the city of Samaria, and preached Christ to them."

The early Christians were scattered due to persecution, yet they carried the gospel with them, testifying to Christ even in places where they were strangers. Similarly, we are called to engage with people and communities that may not share our values or worldview but are still in need of the gospel.

## 3.3 Witnessing to the Ends of the Earth: The Global Mission

Finally, Jesus 'command in Acts 1:8 points to the global nature of the gospel mission. The message of salvation through Jesus Christ is meant for all people, regardless of their location, culture, or language. The call to witness "to the ends of the earth" is a mandate for global evangelism and mission.

#### Matthew 28:19-20 (AKJV):

"Go you therefore, and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: 20Teaching them to observe all things whatever I have commanded you: and, see, I am with you always, even to the end of the world. Amen."

The Great Commission calls every believer to be involved in the global mission of making disciples. This could mean going to distant lands as missionaries or supporting global mission efforts from our local context.

#### 4. How Christians Can Be Witnesses for Jesus Christ

Being a witness for Jesus Christ is not just about speaking the gospel—it is also about living out the gospel in our daily lives. Our actions, words, and attitudes all contribute to the witness we bear for Christ.

## 4.1 Through Our Words: Sharing the Gospel

The most direct way to witness is by sharing the message of Jesus Christ—His life, death, and resurrection—with others. This involves speaking openly about our faith and inviting others to trust in Him.

## Romans 10:14.15 (AKJV):

"How then shall they call on him in whom they have not believed? and how shall they believe in him of whom they have not heard? and how shall they hear without a preacher? 15And how shall they preach, except they be sent? as it is written, How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the gospel of peace, and bring glad tidings of good things!"

Evangelism is central to being a witness. It involves explaining the good news, answering questions, and inviting others to place their faith in Jesus.

## 4.2 Through Our Actions: Living Out the Gospel

Our actions speak just as loudly as our words. A life that reflects the character of Christ is one of the most powerful testimonies we can give.

## Matthew 5:16 (AKJV):

"Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven."

Being a witness means living with integrity, love, humility, and service. When others see Christ in us, they may be drawn to Him.

## 4.3 Through Prayer: Partnering with God in His Mission

We cannot witness effectively on our own. Prayer is essential to the work of evangelism. We must pray for opportunities to share the gospel, for boldness and clarity, and for the Holy Spirit to move in the hearts of those we reach.

## Colossians 4:3-6 (AKJV):

"With praying also for us, that God would open to us a door of utterance, to speak the mystery of Christ, for which I am also in bonds: 4That I may make it manifest, as I ought to speak. 5Walk in wisdom toward them that are without, redeeming the time. 6Let your speech be always with grace, seasoned with salt, that you may know how you ought to answer every man"

#### **Conclusion: Witnessing for Jesus Christ with Boldness and Love**

The call to be a witness for Jesus Christ is a fundamental part of the Christian life. We are called to testify to the truth of who He is and what He has done, both with our words and with our actions. This task requires the power of the Holy Spirit, a heart of obedience, and a willingness to go wherever God leads us.

May we faithfully witness to Jesus Christ in our families, communities, and to the ends of the earth. By doing so, we bring glory to God and invite others into the hope of being born

again, receive the grace and forgiveness from God and transformation that comes through faith in Christ alone.

# **Confessing Jesus**

# Every Christian is called to develop an open and ongoing confession of their faith in Jesus Christ.

Jesus Christ unashamedly demonstrated His love for us by dying on the cross for our sins. The very least we can do in response is to share the good news of His saving grace with those around us, so they too can have the opportunity to be saved. How can Jesus Christ truly be the Lord of your life and grant you His divine wisdom to guide you, if you don't believe in Him enough to proclaim Him openly as your Lord and Savior? When we openly confess Jesus before others, it shows God that we are committed to following Christ not just in words, but also in actions. This verbal confession is an essential first step that leads to a life of obedience and visible demonstration of our faith.

We should make a deliberate effort each day to share Jesus Christ with our friends, our community, and everyone we encounter.

## **Key Scriptures**

Romans 10:9,10 That if you confess with your mouth Jesus as Lord, and believe in your heart that God raised Him from the dead, you shall be saved; for with the heart man believes, resulting in righteousness, and with the mouth he confesses, resulting in salvation.

**Luke 12:8,9** "And I say to you, everyone who confesses Me before men, the Son of Man shall confess him also before the angels of God; but he who denies Me before men shall be denied before the angels of God.

**Philippines 2:9-11** Therefore also God highly exalted Him and bestowed on Him the name which is above every name, that at the name of Jesus every knee should bow, of those who are in heaven, and on the earth, and under the earth, and that every tongue should confess that Jesus Christ is Lord, to the glory of God, the Father.

**Mark 8:38** For whoever is ashamed of Me and My words in this adulterous and sinful generation, the Son of Man will also be ashamed of him when He comes in the glory of His Father with the holy angels."

## Confessing Jesus: Declaring Christ as Lord and Savior

The act of confessing Jesus holds profound significance in the Christian faith, representing a public declaration of one's allegiance to Christ as Lord and Savior. This

confession goes beyond mere words; it involves a heartfelt acknowledgment of Jesus' identity, mission, and authority. Here, we explore the biblical principles and implications associated with confessing Jesus.

## **Biblical Commentary on Confessing Jesus**

Confessing Jesus is a foundational act of faith that publicly aligns a person with the Lordship of Christ and the truth of the gospel. In *Romans 10:9-10*, the Apostle Paul states clearly, "If you declare with your mouth, 'Jesus is Lord, 'and believe in your heart that God raised Him from the dead, you will be saved. For it is with your heart that you believe and are justified, and it is with your mouth that you profess your faith and are saved." This passage emphasizes the twofold nature of saving faith: belief in the heart and confession with the mouth. Confessing Jesus is not just a ritual or verbal formality—it is an outward declaration of an inward transformation. It demonstrates that a person is no longer ashamed of Christ, but instead boldly identifies with Him as Savior and King.

Throughout the Gospels, Jesus emphasizes the importance of confessing Him before others. In *Matthew 10:32-33*, He says, "Whoever acknowledges me before others, I will also acknowledge before my Father in heaven. But whoever disowns me before others, I will disown before my Father in heaven." This is a sobering reminder that true discipleship involves courageous allegiance. Confession here is not just about words—it's about loyalty and public witness, even under pressure or persecution. In a hostile or unbelieving culture, the willingness to confess Jesus openly is a powerful testimony. It signifies that Christ is not just a private belief or personal comfort, but the ruling authority in one's life. It also brings glory to God by exalting His Son as the only name by which we must be saved (*Acts 4:12*).

Furthermore, confessing Jesus is deeply connected to our identity and mission as His followers. In *Philippians 2:9-11*, Paul describes the exaltation of Christ: "Therefore God exalted Him to the highest place and gave Him the name that is above every name, that at the name of Jesus every knee should bow... and every tongue acknowledge that Jesus Christ is Lord." This cosmic confession will one day be universal, but believers are called to begin that confession now. It is a daily commitment—through speech, decisions, and lifestyle—to declare Jesus as Lord. Whether in moments of joy, trials, or spiritual warfare, our confession becomes a weapon of truth and a witness to others. It is not only about evangelism, but about shaping how we live, because confessing Christ compels us to submit to Him and reflect His character in every area of life.

Finally, confessing Jesus leads to assurance and spiritual victory. In *1 John 4:15*, the apostle writes, "If anyone acknowledges that Jesus is the Son of God, God lives in them and they in God." This confession is both the evidence and the result of a living relationship with God. It brings the believer into unity with the Spirit and marks them as children of God. Even in the face of demonic opposition, confession is a spiritual weapon. As Revelation 12:11 declares, believers overcome "by the blood of the Lamb and by the word of their testimony." Confessing Jesus is not just the beginning of the Christian life—it is the ongoing rhythm of faith, courage, and witness. In a world full of false saviors and

shifting truths, the bold and faithful confession of Jesus Christ remains the clearest signal of true salvation and the pathway to eternal life.

# The Word of Our Testimony

## **Biblical Commentary on The Word of Our Testimony**

The phrase "the word of our testimony" carries profound spiritual power and reflects a central truth of Christian faith: that personal witness is both a weapon of spiritual warfare and a means by which the gospel spreads. This phrase is found in *Revelation 12:11*, which declares, "They triumphed over him by the blood of the Lamb and by the word of their testimony; they did not love their lives so much as to shrink from death." Here, "they" refers to the faithful believers who overcame Satan not through human strength, but through two powerful forces: the atoning blood of Jesus and their courageous testimony of faith. Their willingness to speak and stand for Christ, even in the face of death, demonstrates the transformative and overcoming nature of a life redeemed and boldly lived for God. This verse reveals that testimony is not just storytelling—it is spiritual warfare, proclaiming God's victory in our lives and silencing the lies of the enemy.

The word *testimony* in Scripture often refers to declaring what God has done—personally and communally. It is a verbal acknowledgment of God's work in an individual's life, rooted in experience and confirmed by faith. In *Psalm 66:16*, the psalmist says, "Come and hear, all you who fear God; let me tell you what He has done for me." This spirit of testimony invites others into the reality of God's goodness and power. It affirms that God is active, personal, and intimately involved in human lives. Testimony helps make the invisible God visible to others through our lived experiences. When believers share how God saved them, healed them, transformed them, or sustained them in trials, they glorify Him and offer hope to others. The early church grew not just through apostolic preaching, but through the faithful testimony of ordinary people whose lives had been changed by Jesus.

Furthermore, the word of our testimony strengthens the faith of the community. In *Hebrews 10:23-24*, believers are exhorted to "hold unswervingly to the hope we profess... and consider how we may spur one another on toward love and good deeds." Testimony serves that purpose—it stirs up faith, encourages perseverance, and reminds others of God's faithfulness in all circumstances. In times of spiritual dryness or difficulty, hearing someone else's testimony can reignite passion and trust in God. It also guards against forgetfulness. In the Old Testament, God constantly reminded His people to remember His works and pass down His deeds to the next generation (*Deuteronomy 6:6-9*). A testimony is a living memorial—a declaration that God's grace is not a theory but a reality still unfolding in His people.

Ultimately, the word of our testimony must be rooted in the gospel. It's not merely about personal success or emotional experiences, but about how Christ has intervened in our lives. Our testimony must always point back to the blood of the Lamb—the finished work

of Jesus on the cross. Without that foundation, testimony risks becoming self-centered rather than Christ-exalting. But when our stories reflect the mercy, power, and faithfulness of Jesus, they become a means through which the Holy Spirit convicts hearts and draws souls to salvation. Testimony, then, is both personal and prophetic—it tells what God has done for us, and it declares what He is willing and able to do for others. In a world filled with skepticism and confusion, the authentic word of our testimony shines like light in the darkness, declaring with boldness: Jesus is alive, and His grace changes everything.

# Feed The Hungary, Clothe The Naked, Shelter The Homeless, and Welcome The Strangers

## **Scripture References:**

- Matthew 25:34-40 (AKJV): "Then shall the King say to them on his right hand, Come, you blessed of my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world: 35For I was an hungered, and you gave me meat: I was thirsty, and you gave me drink: I was a stranger, and you took me in: 36Naked, and you clothed me: I was sick, and you visited me: I was in prison, and you came to me. 37Then shall the righteous answer him, saying, Lord, when saw we you an hungered, and fed you? or thirsty, and gave you drink? 38When saw we you a stranger, and took you in? or naked, and clothed you? 39Or when saw we you sick, or in prison, and came to you? 40And the King shall answer and say to them, Truly I say to you, Inasmuch as you have done it to one of the least of these my brothers, you have done it to me.."
- Isaiah 58:6-11 (AKJV): "Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that you break every yoke? 7Is it not to deal your bread to the hungry, and that you bring the poor that are cast out to your house? when you see the naked, that you cover him; and that you hide not yourself from your own flesh?8Then shall your light break forth as the morning, and your health shall spring forth speedily: and your righteousness shall go before you; the glory of the LORD shall be your rear guard. 9Then shall you call, and the LORD shall answer; you shall cry, and he shall say, Here I am. If you take away from the middle of you the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity; 10And if you draw out your soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall your light rise in obscurity, and your darkness be as the noon day: 11And the LORD shall guide you continually, and satisfy your soul in drought, and make fat your bones: and you shall be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not.."
- Hebrews 13:2 (AKJV): "Be not forgetful to entertain strangers: for thereby some have entertained angels unawares.."

# Biblical Commentary on Feeding the Hungry, Clothing the Naked, Sheltering the Homeless, and Welcoming the Stranger

Feeding the hungry, clothing the naked, sheltering the homeless, and welcoming the stranger are not just acts of charity—they are central to the biblical understanding of righteousness and mercy. These actions reflect the very heart of God, who is consistently portrayed in Scripture as a defender of the poor, the marginalized, and the oppressed. In *Isaiah 58:6-7*, God defines the kind of worship He desires: "Is not this the kind of fasting I have chosen: to loose the chains of injustice... Is it not to share your food with the hungry and to provide the poor wanderer with shelter—when you see the naked, to clothe them, and not to turn away from your own flesh and blood?" This passage corrects shallow religion and calls God's people to active compassion. True devotion to God must produce a lifestyle of generosity and justice, where practical love for others is evidence of a living faith.

Jesus reaffirmed these priorities in powerful and unmistakable terms. In *Matthew 25:35–40*, He teaches that caring for the least of these is, in fact, serving Him directly: "For I was hungry and you gave me something to eat, I was thirsty and you gave me something to drink... I was a stranger and you invited me in, I needed clothes and you clothed me..." This passage, often referred to as the Parable of the Sheep and the Goats, reveals that our treatment of the vulnerable is a measure of our discipleship. Jesus identifies so closely with the poor and the outcast that acts of compassion toward them are considered acts of worship toward Him. This elevates our response to the hungry, homeless, and stranger beyond social work—it becomes sacred work, a living reflection of God's kingdom breaking into the world.

The early Church modeled this compassionate lifestyle. In *Acts 2:44-45*, the believers shared everything they had, ensuring that no one among them was in need. This wasn't forced redistribution but a Spirit-led expression of love and unity. Later, in *James 2:15-17*, the apostle rebukes empty faith that lacks action: "Suppose a brother or a sister is without clothes and daily food. If one of you says to them, 'Go in peace; keep warm and well fed, 'but does nothing... what good is it?" Faith without works is dead. Real Christian faith must manifest in real-world acts of compassion and provision. The body of Christ is called not just to preach the gospel but to *embody* it—by being the hands and feet of Jesus to a hurting world. Each meal given, each blanket offered, and each welcome extended is a living sermon of God's mercy.

Welcoming the stranger, in particular, is a command that echoes throughout the Bible. God reminded Israel again and again that they were once strangers in Egypt (*Leviticus* 19:33-34), and therefore they must treat foreigners with kindness. This same principle applies today. In a world that often builds walls and fosters fear of the "other," the gospel calls the Church to open arms and open hearts. Whether it's immigrants, refugees, or those estranged by poverty or difference, hospitality is a radical and prophetic act. It says to the world, "You are seen. You are loved. You belong." Ultimately, these acts—feeding, clothing, sheltering, welcoming—are not just responses to human need; they are

declarations of the gospel, tangible expressions of the love of Christ, and a foretaste of the heavenly kingdom where no one is hungry, homeless, or alone.

**Feeding the Hungry:** Imagine the impact of a warm meal on someone's life—a simple act that can restore dignity and hope. Isaiah 58:10 reminds us that when we pour ourselves into meeting the needs of the hungry, our own spirits are nourished. Serving food is not just a physical act; it's a powerful statement of love and compassion.

**Giving Clothing:** Clothing is more than protection from the elements; it is a symbol of care and respect. In Matthew 25, when we clothe the needy, we provide not just warmth but also a sense of belonging and dignity. Every garment offered is a reminder of God's provision and our role as His hands and feet on Earth.

**Providing Shelter:** Welcoming the stranger and offering shelter transforms lives. In Hebrews 13:2, we are reminded that hospitality can change lives in ways we may not see. By opening our homes or supporting shelters, we create spaces where people feel safe and valued, reflecting God's heart for His children.

**Welcoming the Stranger:** Every person we encounter carries a story and a need for acceptance. Jesus calls us to look beyond our comfort zones and embrace those who are different from us. By welcoming strangers, we break down barriers and build bridges of understanding and love, embodying the very essence of Christ's teachings.

**Closing Thought:** As we go about our daily lives, let us remember that in serving others, we are serving Christ Himself. Each act of kindness, no matter how small, is a reflection of God's love in the world. Let's commit ourselves to feeding the hungry, giving clothing, providing shelter, and welcoming the stranger, allowing our lives to shine brightly in the darkness.

## Christlike Love

## Biblical Commentary on Christlike Love in Ministry, Evangelism, and Missions

Christlike love is the bedrock of all authentic ministry. The Apostle Paul, in 1 Corinthians 13, emphasizes that even the greatest spiritual gifts—prophecy, faith, and knowledge—are rendered meaningless without love. Jesus 'own ministry was an embodiment of divine love: compassionate, patient, and sacrificial. In John 13:34-35, He commands His disciples, "Love one another. As I have loved you, so you must love one another." This new commandment reframes love not merely as a feeling but as an active, self-giving commitment to others. Ministers who serve from this wellspring of divine love reflect Christ's heart to the broken, the lost, and the weary. Their motives are purified, their endurance strengthened, and their message deepened with credibility and grace. Love is not a peripheral virtue in ministry—it is the very identity of the minister of Christ.

In evangelism, Christlike love reshapes both method and message. Evangelism is not a mere transmission of doctrine or an obligation to win arguments, but a passionate

extension of Christ's invitation to relationship and redemption. Paul's ministry to the Gentiles, as recorded in Acts and the epistles, was fueled by a burning love that mirrored Christ's own longing to gather the lost. He was "compelled by the love of Christ" (2 Corinthians 5:14) to share the gospel, not to notch conversions but to reconcile people to God. Evangelism, when shaped by Christlike love, listens before it speaks, weeps with those it seeks to reach, and offers truth without condemnation. It is love that gives the gospel its power to penetrate hearts—because it bears witness not just to words but to the living presence of Jesus in the evangelist's life.

Missions, in the global and cross-cultural sense, is perhaps the most sacrificial expression of Christlike love. Jesus left the glory of heaven to dwell among humanity, and His incarnation is the model for missionary humility and love (Philippians 2:5–8). Christlike love in missions compels believers to cross barriers of language, culture, and comfort to bring the gospel where it has not been heard. This love is incarnational—it seeks not just to speak truth but to live among people, learn their stories, bear their burdens, and model Christ's compassion. Missionaries driven by love do not view people as projects but as precious souls created in God's image. The ministry of Paul, the sacrifices of early apostles, and the examples of countless modern missionaries all reveal that the heart of missions is not strategy, funding, or success metrics—but a love that mirrors the love of Jesus, who came to seek and save the lost (Luke 19:10).

Ultimately, Christlike love is not something that ministers, evangelists, or missionaries can generate on their own. It flows from abiding in Christ, the true vine (John 15:5), and being transformed by His Spirit. This love is marked by humility, gentleness, endurance, and truth. It persists through rejection, persecution, and failure because it draws its strength not from human will but divine grace. In ministry, evangelism, and missions, this love ensures that the message is not just heard but felt, not just proclaimed but embodied. It is the most persuasive witness to the gospel—because it reflects the very nature of the One who came not to be served, but to serve, and to give His life as a ransom for many (Mark 10:45). To love like Christ is the highest calling—and the greatest testimony—of every servant of the gospel.

#### What is Love / Who is Love?

#### INTRODUCTION

Have you ever wondered what your purpose in life is ? - Well it's to Love God with all of our heart, mind, and strength and to love one another as we would love ourselves......

God has so greatly Loved us, in providing salvation for us from evil and spiritual death and has given us the opportunity to receive eternal life through Jesus Christ;

And Now, God has commanded us and commissioned us, .... TO LOVE, HOW?

"AS JESUS HAS LOVED US." (John 15:9 to 12)

#### **John 15:9 to 12** AKJV

9 As the Father has loved me, so have I loved you: continue you in my love. 10 If you keep my commandments, you shall abide in my love; even as I have kept my Father's commandments, and abide in his love. 11 These things have I spoken to you, that my joy might remain in you, and that your joy might be full. 12 This is my commandment, That you love one another, as I have loved you.

#### Jesus Christ ,The Greatest Love Of All

#### Matthew 22:37 to 40 AKJV

37 Jesus said to him, You shall love the Lord your God with all your heart, and with all your soul, and with all your mind. 38 This is the first and great commandment. 39 And the second is like to it, You shall love your neighbor as yourself. 40 On these two commandments hang all the law and the prophets.

The essence and purpose of this Life is to sincerely LOVE God and others in the way that God intended; Therefore it is imperative that we learn just how Jesus Christ and God the Father has Loved us, so we can do the same.

As Christians, true Love, is the pinnacle of our faith; We should learn about Love, receive God's Love & Holy Spirit and demonstrate His Love to others, just as Jesus did for us:

God's intended way for us to love as He instructs in His Word, is completely different from what the world comprehends 'Love' to mean or encompass. God's divine love is the highest and purest form Love. In contrast, the earthly understanding of love is actually sometimes shallow, limited, and self seeking of fleshly desires; That's in contrast to the quality of Love that God teaches us to receive from Him, and wants us to freely give to Him. God wants us to abide in His Love and give that same divine Love to one another, as we serve and care for the needs of others.

We first must learn How God the Father and Jesus Christ Loves us though the Word of God.

Therefore it is essential that we learn from God's Word, and through the Holy Spirit and through praying for God's Wisdom & Understanding of....HOW should we Love,?...WHO should we Love,?...WHY should we Love,?...and moreover WHAT is Love ? and HOW to obtain and receive God's Love ? Even though, the process of just ' How ' Love is established within us is the work of God, He still requires our response to certain instructions in His Word to make it possible for anyone to Love properly.

God's intended Way for us to Love Him and others, encompasses many spiritually good & pure attributes or rather virtues; These attributes & virtues of Love are accomplishable for us to do, to the depth and richness of God's purpose, by God's Holy Spirit, when God's Spirit is within us, as we truly believe and follow Jesus Christ by Faith, and while we are now under His Grace when we fall short, so that we can become sanctified, regenerated daily more and more and still grow in His Love, and bear good fruit to God's Glory.

# Compassion

## **Living with Compassion: Reflecting God's Heart**

**Scripture:** "Finally, be you all of one mind, having compassion one of another, love as brothers, be pitiful, be courteous."- 1 Peter 3:8

Compassion, an essential quality of God's character, is the heartfelt response to the suffering and needs of others. It is the tender empathy that moves us to action, to extend kindness, mercy, and support to those who are hurting or in need. As followers of Christ, we are called to embody His compassion and love toward all people.

Throughout the Gospels, we see Jesus exemplifying compassion in His interactions with others. He healed the sick, fed the hungry, and comforted the brokenhearted, demonstrating His deep empathy and concern for the physical, emotional, and spiritual needs of those around Him. He calls us to follow His example, to be compassionate and humble in our relationships with one another.

Living with compassion requires us to see others through the eyes of Jesus, to recognize their inherent worth and dignity as fellow image-bearers of God. It involves stepping outside of our own comfort zones and reaching out to those who are marginalized, oppressed, or overlooked by society. It means listening with empathy, sharing in their joys and sorrows, and offering practical assistance and support.

Compassion is more than just a feeling; it is a deliberate choice to love and serve others as Jesus did. It requires us to be willing to inconvenience ourselves, to sacrifice our time and resources, and to advocate for justice and equality on behalf of those who are vulnerable or oppressed. It is a lifestyle of generosity, kindness, and selflessness that reflects the heart of our Heavenly Father.

As we cultivate compassion in our lives, we become vessels of God's love and instruments of His grace in a broken and hurting world. Our acts of compassion not only bring comfort and relief to those in need but also bear witness to the transformative power of God's love. They point others to the source of true compassion and hope—Jesus Christ, who gave His life that we might experience abundant life and eternal salvation.

## **Some Biblical Examples Of Compassion**

**The Good Samaritan** (Luke 10:25-37) In this parable, Jesus tells the story of a Samaritan who encounters a wounded man on the side of the road. While others pass by, the Samaritan stops to help, bandaging the man's wounds and taking him to an inn for care. This story illustrates the importance of showing compassion beyond social or cultural boundaries. The Samaritan's actions demonstrate that true neighborliness is defined by love and mercy, regardless of societal divisions.

Jesus Heals the Blind Man (John 9:1-12) In this account, Jesus comes across a man who was born blind. Rather than viewing the man's disability as a punishment or a sign of sin, Jesus expresses compassion by healing him. This act signifies not only physical healing but also spiritual restoration. Jesus 'compassion reveals his understanding of

human suffering and his desire to alleviate it, highlighting his role as a healer and a source of hope for those marginalized by society.

The Widow of Zarephath (1 Kings 17:8-16) During a severe famine, the prophet Elijah is sent to a widow in Zarephath. When he arrives, she is gathering sticks to prepare a final meal for herself and her son. Instead of ignoring her plight, Elijah asks her for water and bread. The widow, despite her own desperation, shows kindness by sharing her meager supplies. Through this interaction, God provides for both the widow and Elijah, demonstrating how compassion can lead to divine provision and community support during times of need.

Jesus Weeps at Lazarus 'Tomb (John 11:32-36) When Jesus arrives at the tomb of his friend Lazarus, he is met with grief from Mary and the other mourners. Despite knowing he would soon raise Lazarus from the dead, Jesus is deeply moved by their sorrow and weeps alongside them. This moment illustrates that compassion involves sharing in the pain of others, affirming the value of emotions, and showing empathy in times of loss. Jesus 'tears reflect his deep love and understanding of human grief.

**God's Compassion for Nineveh** (Jonah 4:1-11) After Jonah reluctantly delivers God's warning to the city of Nineveh, the people repent, and God spares them from destruction. Jonah, however, is displeased with God's mercy towards the Ninevites. God uses this moment to teach Jonah about compassion, explaining that He cares for the people of Nineveh, even those who are perceived as enemies. This narrative emphasizes that God's compassion extends to all people, inviting a broader understanding of mercy that transcends human biases and judgments.

The Prodigal Son (Luke 15:11-32) In this parable, a wayward son squanders his inheritance but eventually returns home in shame. The father, seeing his son from a distance, runs to embrace him with open arms, demonstrating immense compassion and forgiveness. This story illustrates the joy of reconciliation and the depth of parental love. It serves as a powerful reminder of God's grace and willingness to forgive those who repent, highlighting that compassion can restore broken relationships and bring healing.

#### **The Compassion of Joseph** (Genesis 45:1-15)

After being sold into slavery by his brothers and rising to power in Egypt, Joseph encounters them during a famine. Instead of seeking revenge for their betrayal, Joseph reveals his identity and forgives them, expressing compassion by assuring them that he will provide for their needs. This story highlights the transformative power of compassion and forgiveness, demonstrating that healing and reconciliation can emerge even from deep family wounds.

## The Healing of the Leper (Mark 1:40-45)

In this account, a leper approaches Jesus, asking to be healed. Moved with compassion, Jesus reaches out and touches the man, curing him of his leprosy. This act is significant because lepers were considered untouchable due to their disease. By touching the leper, Jesus not only heals him physically but also restores his dignity and social standing. This moment illustrates that compassion can break societal barriers and bring hope to those marginalized by illness or stigma.

## The Israelites 'Deliverance from Slavery (Exodus 3:7-10)

God expresses deep compassion for the Israelites, who are suffering under slavery in Egypt. He hears their cries and sees their affliction, choosing to send Moses to lead them to freedom. This narrative shows that divine compassion prompts action, emphasizing that empathy can lead to liberation and justice for those who are oppressed. It underscores God's commitment to His people and His desire to alleviate their suffering.

## David's Kindness to Mephibosheth (2 Samuel 9:1-13)

After becoming king, David seeks to honor his promise to Jonathan, his friend, by showing kindness to Jonathan's disabled son, Mephibosheth. David invites Mephibosheth to eat at his table and provides for him, demonstrating compassion towards someone who could have been seen as a threat to his throne. This act of kindness reflects the importance of loyalty and mercy, highlighting that compassion can create new bonds and uplift those in vulnerable positions.

## The Woman Caught in Adultery (John 8:1-11)

When a woman is brought before Jesus, accused of adultery, the religious leaders expect him to condemn her. Instead, Jesus responds with compassion, urging those without sin to cast the first stone. After the crowd disperses, he forgives the woman, telling her to go and sin no more. This interaction illustrates the balance between compassion and accountability, showing that true compassion does not condone sin but offers forgiveness and a path toward transformation.

## The Early Church's Care for the Needy (Acts 4:32-37)

In the early Christian community, believers demonstrate compassion by sharing their possessions and ensuring that no one among them is in need. They sell their property and give the proceeds to the apostles for distribution. This communal spirit of generosity and compassion reflects the heart of the Gospel, emphasizing the importance of caring for one another and fostering a sense of belonging and support within the community.

## Ruth's Loyalty to Naomi (Ruth 1:16-17)

After the deaths of their husbands, Ruth chooses to stay with her mother-in-law, Naomi, rather than return to her own family. Her declaration of loyalty demonstrates profound compassion as she vows to care for Naomi. Ruth's selflessness and commitment to support Naomi in her time of grief highlight the importance of familial love and the bonds formed through compassion, especially in difficult circumstances.

#### **Jesus Feeds the 5000** (John 6:1-14)

When a large crowd follows Jesus into a remote area, he sees their hunger and is moved with compassion. He provides for their needs by miraculously multiplying five loaves and two fish to feed the multitude. This event illustrates that compassion is not only emotional but also practical. Jesus 'actions show the significance of addressing both spiritual and physical needs, reflecting a holistic approach to compassion.

The Compassion of the Father in the Parable of the Lost Sheep (Luke 15:3-7) In this parable, Jesus describes a shepherd who leaves his ninety-nine sheep to search for the one that is lost. When he finds it, he rejoices and carries it home. This story illustrates God's immense compassion for every individual, emphasizing that no one is

too insignificant to be loved and sought after. It reflects the heart of God, who actively seeks to restore those who have strayed.

## **The Story of Job** (Job 30:25-26; 42:10-17)

Throughout his suffering, Job expresses deep compassion for the poor and the afflicted. Even in his own misery, he recalls how he used to help those in need. At the end of the story, after Job's trials, God restores him and blesses him abundantly. Job's integrity and compassion, despite his suffering, serve as a testament to enduring love and empathy for others, even when facing personal challenges.

## The Compassion of Jesus for the Crowds (Matthew 9:35-38)

As Jesus travels through cities and villages, he sees the crowds and is filled with compassion for them, describing them as harassed and helpless like sheep without a shepherd. This response emphasizes Jesus' awareness of the people's spiritual and physical struggles. His compassion motivates him to teach and heal, illustrating that true compassion compels us to action, providing guidance and support to those in need.

## God's Compassion for His Creation (Psalm 145:8-9)

This psalm highlights the Lord's compassion and mercy, stating that He is gracious and slow to anger, providing for all of His creation. This portrayal underscores God's character as a compassionate provider who cares for both the righteous and the wicked. It reflects the idea that divine compassion is an essential aspect of God's relationship with humanity and the world, encouraging believers to mirror that compassion in their own lives.

## Paul's Care for the Churches (2 Corinthians 11:28-29)

The Apostle Paul expresses deep concern for the churches he has established. He describes his anxiety for their spiritual well-being, indicating that he feels compassion when he hears of their struggles. Paul's example demonstrates that true compassion involves a genuine investment in the lives of others, encouraging believers to nurture and support one another in faith and community.

#### The Healing of the Woman with the Issue of Blood (Mark 5:25-34)

A woman suffering from a long-term illness seeks healing from Jesus by touching his cloak in a crowd. Jesus, recognizing that power has gone out from him, turns to her with compassion, acknowledging her faith and restoring her dignity. This encounter illustrates that compassion can provide not only physical healing but also emotional and social restoration, affirming the worth of individuals who may feel isolated due to their suffering.

#### **Jesus Heals the Woman Bent Over** (Luke 13:10-17)

In this account, Jesus encounters a woman who has been crippled for eighteen years, bent over and unable to straighten up. Moved by compassion, Jesus calls her to him and heals her on the Sabbath, despite criticism from religious leaders. This story highlights Jesus 'commitment to compassion over legalism, demonstrating that true compassion recognizes the humanity and suffering of others, prioritizing their well-being above rigid adherence to rules.

#### The Compassion of Nehemiah (Nehemiah 1:3-4)

When Nehemiah hears about the dire situation of the Israelites in Jerusalem, he is

deeply troubled and weeps for days. His compassion leads him to pray fervently and ultimately take action to rebuild the city's walls. Nehemiah's response illustrates how compassion can motivate individuals to advocate for others and effect positive change in their communities, emphasizing the importance of both emotional response and practical action.

## **The Compassion of the Good Shepherd** (John 10:11-15)

In this metaphor, Jesus describes himself as the Good Shepherd who lays down his life for his sheep. This image conveys deep compassion, as it illustrates a willingness to sacrifice for the sake of others. The Good Shepherd's care is personal and protective, highlighting the idea that true compassion involves selflessness and the commitment to protect and nurture those in one's care.

## The Story of Zacchaeus (Luke 19:1-10)

Zacchaeus, a tax collector and a social outcast, climbs a sycamore tree to see Jesus as he passes through Jericho. Jesus sees him, calls him by name, and chooses to stay at his house, demonstrating compassion for a person marginalized by society. Zacchaeus 'transformation and repentance show that compassion can lead to restoration and a change of heart, emphasizing the importance of inclusion and acceptance.

## Moses 'Intercession for Israel (Exodus 32:9-14)

After the Israelites sin by making a golden calf, God expresses his anger and threatens to destroy them. Moses intercedes on their behalf, appealing to God's mercy and reminding Him of His promises. This act of compassion highlights Moses 'deep care for his people and reflects the power of intercession, demonstrating that compassion can involve standing in the gap for others, advocating for their forgiveness and well-being.

#### The Compassion of Jesus on the Road to Jerusalem (Luke 19:41-44)

As Jesus approaches Jerusalem, he weeps over the city, lamenting its coming destruction and the people's failure to recognize him. This moment showcases Jesus' profound compassion for the lost and the suffering consequences of sin. His tears express sorrow for those who reject love and truth, reminding us that compassion can also involve grief for the plight of others, particularly when they turn away from what is good.

#### The Widow's Mite (Mark 12:41-44)

In this story, Jesus observes a poor widow who donates two small coins to the temple treasury. He commends her giving, noting that she has given all she had, unlike the wealthy who gave out of their abundance. This moment reflects compassion in action, as it highlights the value of sacrificial giving and the importance of supporting those in need. It encourages believers to recognize the worth of every act of kindness, no matter how small.

#### **Barnabas 'Encouragement of Paul** (Acts 9:26-27)

After his conversion, Paul faces skepticism and fear from the disciples due to his past persecution of Christians. Barnabas, however, takes Paul under his wing, introducing him to the apostles and vouching for his authenticity. This act of compassion illustrates the importance of encouragement and support in overcoming past failures and fears, showing that compassion can foster growth and acceptance within the community.

## The Compassionate King (2 Chronicles 30:9)

King Hezekiah sends messengers throughout Israel to invite the people to celebrate the Passover, despite their previous disobedience. He expresses hope that the Lord will be gracious to those who return to Him. This act reflects a compassionate leadership that seeks to restore a broken relationship with God among the people, emphasizing the importance of inviting others back into fellowship and worship.

## James 'Call to Action (James 1:27)

In his letter, James emphasizes that true religion involves caring for orphans and widows in their distress. This call to compassion underscores the importance of practical action in faith, encouraging believers to care for the vulnerable and marginalized in society. It reinforces the idea that compassion is an essential expression of genuine faith, urging believers to actively engage in acts of love and support for those in need.

## Good Works and Fruit

God's word instructs that every Christian should do good works, even though we are not saved from our sinful nature ' by ' our good works, but rather we are saved only by having a sincere ' Faith' and by 'Believing 'in Jesus Christ and by what He has alone has accomplished.

The process of our Salvation, though the Grace of Jesus Christ by the work of Holy Spirit, can not be acquired by anyone just attempting to fulfill the Mosaic Law, or by just doing good works. However, fruitful good works, will always follow a true Believer of Jesus Christ, and is the evidence that reveals if any person claiming to be a Christian truly Loves God, willfully obeys God, and genuinely Believes in Jesus Christ, as their Lord and Saviour.

Likewise in retrospect, if a self called false christian, only says that he believes in Jesus Christ, and that he loves God, but does not demonstrate, good works, love towards others, or bear good fruit, they are lukewarm, really unbelieving, disobedient.

It's not How much, good works that we do as a Christian, but there must be some good fruits coming forth from our lives, for our Faith to be real;

The most essential truths for our personal growth, and maturity as a Christian are Believing in Jesus Christ, having a sincere Faith, abiding in the provision of His saving Grace made only possible at the cross, and for each of us to truly maintain a living relationship with our Lord Jesus Christ and God the Father, through the work of the Holy Spirit. As we draw near to God, daily, and purpose to Love Him, Worship Him, and ask of Him, He accomplishes more than we can ask, think, or comprehend.

However if good works are not being continually produced in our life, bearing good spiritual fruit given to others, then this is the evidence that a person does not have sincere

faith in Jesus Christ nor is truly following His way of Love in deed and truth; That individual needs to start applying the word and continue to do what Jesus has commanded.

Therefore, we cannot call ourselves Christians or be saved without good works being evident in our lives, because "Faith without works is dead." Again, Goods works, which are done in the true love of God is the evidence to God, that a person sincerely follows Jesus Christ.

**James 2:14** What use is it, my brethren, if a man says he has faith, but he has no works ? Can that faith save him ?

**James 2:15,-20** If a brother or sister is naked and destitute of daily food, and one of you says to them, 'Depart in peace, be warmed and filled,' but you do not give the things which are needs for the body, what does it profit? Thus also faith by itself, if it does not have works, is dead. But someone will say, "You have the faith and I have the works." Show me your faith without your works and I will show you my faith by my works.

You believe that there is one God. You do well. Even the demons believe and tremble! But do you want to know, O foolish man, that faith without works is dead?

**Hebrews 10:24** And let us consider one another in order to stir up love and good works.

Title: Bearing Good Fruit: A Commentary on Good Works in the Bible

#### Introduction:

The Biblical principle of good works and bearing good fruit is instructed throughout the God's word, emphasizing the importance of righteous actions as evidence of genuine faith. This commentary explores key biblical passages that illuminate the connection between faith and works, shedding light on the transformative power of a life marked by good fruit.

#### 1. Faith Without Works is Dead:

One of the foundational passages addressing the relationship between faith and works is found in the book of James. James 2:14-26 stresses that genuine faith is inseparable from good works. Verse 17 succinctly captures this truth: "So also faith by itself, if it does not have works, is dead."

### 2. The Fruits of the Spirit:

In Galatians 5:22-23, the apostle Paul outlines the fruits of the Spirit: love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control. These virtues represent the outward expression of the Holy Spirit working within believers, demonstrating the transformative impact of a life surrendered to God.

## 3. Christ's Teaching on Good Trees and Bad Trees:

In the Gospel of Matthew, Jesus uses the metaphor of trees and their fruit to illustrate the connection between a person's heart and their actions. Matthew 7:17-18 states, "So, every healthy tree bears good fruit, but the diseased tree bears bad fruit. A healthy tree cannot bear bad fruit, nor can a diseased tree bear good fruit." This metaphor underscores the idea that true faith results in a life characterized by righteous deeds.

#### 4. The Parable of the Good Samaritan:

In Luke 10:25-37, Jesus tells the parable of the Good Samaritan, illustrating the concept of neighborly love and compassion. The Samaritan's actions demonstrate that genuine faith prompts individuals to love and serve others, breaking down cultural and social barriers.

## 5. Works as a Response to God's Grace:

Ephesians 2:8-10 emphasizes the role of good works as a response to God's grace: "For by grace you have been saved through faith. And this is not your own doing; it is the gift of God, not a result of works, so that no one may boast. For we are his workmanship, created in Christ Jesus for good works, which God prepared beforehand, that we should walk in them."

#### 6. Christ's Call to Follow Him:

Jesus' call to discipleship includes a call to bear good fruit. In John 15:16, Jesus says, "You did not choose me, but I chose you and appointed you that you should go and bear fruit and that your fruit should abide, so that whatever you ask the Father in my name, he may give it to you." This underscores the purpose of discipleship as a life marked by obedience and fruitful service.

#### Conclusion:

The Bible consistently teaches that faith and works are intricately connected. Good works are not a means of earning salvation but rather the natural outflow of a transformed heart and a life surrendered to God. As believers, we are called to bear good fruit, reflecting the transformative work of the Holy Spirit within us and bringing glory to God.

#### 7. Works as Evidence of True Faith:

In the book of 1 John, the apostle emphasizes the relationship between love, obedience, and genuine faith. In 1 John 3:18-19, he writes, "Little children, let us not love in word or talk but in deed and in truth. By this, we shall know that we are of the truth and reassure our heart before him." This passage underscores the idea that true faith is demonstrated by tangible acts of love and righteousness.

#### 8. The Richness of Good Works:

Titus 3:8 encourages believers to be devoted to good works, highlighting the richness and depth that such actions bring to the Christian life: "The saying is trustworthy, and I want you to insist on these things, so that those who have believed in God may be careful to devote themselves to good works. These things are excellent and profitable for people."

## 9. The Role of Good Works in Glorifying God:

In Matthew 5:16, Jesus instructs believers to let their light shine before others, so that they may see their good works and glorify God. This highlights the evangelistic aspect of good works – as others witness our actions, they are drawn to glorify God, recognizing the transformative power of faith in action.

## 10. Serving Others as Serving Christ:

In Matthew 25:34-40, Jesus speaks about the final judgment, where those who served others are commended. He declares, "Truly, I say to you, as you did it to one of the least of these my brothers, you did it to me." This reinforces the idea that our good works are not just acts of kindness but are seen by Christ as a direct expression of our love for Him.

#### 11. The Challenge of Consistent Fruitfulness:

Hebrews 13:16 calls believers to do good and share what they have, as such sacrifices are pleasing to God. This verse challenges Christians to consistently bear good fruit, recognizing that their actions are a form of worship and a response to God's generosity.

## 12. Good Works and Spiritual Growth:

In 2 Peter 1:5-8, believers are encouraged to supplement their faith with virtue, knowledge, self-control, steadfastness, godliness, brotherly affection, and love. The

progression outlined here suggests that good works are a vital component of spiritual growth, contributing to the development of a Christlike character.

#### 13. The Works of Abraham:

In the book of Genesis, we encounter Abraham, often referred to as the father of faith. James 2:21-23 highlights Abraham's faith in action, stating, "Was not Abraham our father justified by works when he offered up his son Isaac on the altar?" This passage emphasizes that Abraham's faith was validated by his obedience and willingness to act on God's commands.

#### 14. The Social Dimension of Good Works:

Throughout the Old Testament, there is a strong emphasis on social justice and caring for the vulnerable. Proverbs 14:21 declares, "Whoever despises his neighbor is a sinner, but blessed is he who is generous to the poor." This reflects the biblical call to engage in acts of mercy, kindness, and justice as evidence of a heart aligned with God's character.

#### 15. Jesus' Command to Love One Another:

In John 13:34-35, Jesus gives his disciples a new commandment: "A new command I give you: Love one another. As I have loved you, so you must love one another. By this everyone will know that you are my disciples if you love one another." The love Jesus speaks of is not merely a sentiment but a love that manifests in tangible actions, embodying the concept of good works.

#### 16. Faith Demonstrated through Action:

The book of James emphasizes the practical nature of faith. James 2:18 states, "But someone will say, 'You have faith and I have works.' Show me your faith apart from your works, and I will show you my faith by my works." This underscores the inseparable link between genuine faith and visible, tangible expressions of that faith.

#### 17. The Role of Sanctification:

In 1 Thessalonians 4:3, Paul addresses the concept of sanctification, stating, "For this is the will of God, your sanctification: that you abstain from sexual immorality." Sanctification involves the process of becoming more like Christ, and the resulting good works are evidence of God's transformative work in believers' lives.

## 18. A Lifestyle of Good Works:

Titus 2:7-8 encourages believers to exhibit good works consistently: "Show yourself in all respects to be a model of good works, and in your teaching show integrity, dignity, and sound speech that cannot be condemned, so that an opponent may be put to shame, having nothing evil to say about us." This highlights the holistic nature of a life marked by good works, impacting both actions and words.

#### Conclusion:

In conclusion, the Bible presents a comprehensive and nuanced perspective on good works and good fruit. It underscores the transformative power of faith, which naturally produces a life characterized by righteous deeds. Good works are not a legalistic requirement but a reflection of a heart transformed by God's grace. As believers, we are called to a life of obedience, compassion, and love, actively demonstrating our faith through tangible expressions of goodness and mercy.

The Bible consistently emphasizes that good works are not optional but are integral to the Christian life. They are evidence of genuine faith, a response to God's grace, and a means of glorifying God. As believers, we are called to continually bear good fruit, reflecting the transformative work of the Holy Spirit in our lives. May our actions be a testimony to the world of the love and power of our Savior, Jesus Christ.

## **Christian Works and Talents**

James 2:14-26 (AKJV) "What does it profit, my brothers, though a man say he has faith, and have not works? can faith save him? 15If a brother or sister be naked, and destitute of daily food, 16And one of you say to them, Depart in peace, be you warmed and filled; notwithstanding you give them not those things which are needful to the body; what does it profit? 17Even so faith, if it has not works, is dead, being alone. 18Yes, a man may say, You have faith, and I have works: show me your faith without your works, and I will show you my faith by my works. 19You believe that there is one God; you do well: the devils also believe, and tremble. 20But will you know, O vain man, that faith without works is dead? 21Was not Abraham our father justified by works, when he had offered Isaac his son on the altar? 22See you how faith worked with his works, and by works was faith made perfect? 23And the scripture was fulfilled which says, Abraham believed God, and it was imputed to him for righteousness: and he was called the Friend of God. 24You see then how that by works a man is justified, and not by faith only. 25Likewise also was not Rahab the harlot justified by works, when she had received the messengers, and had sent them out another way? 26For as the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without works is dead also."

#### Introduction

In God's word, we are called to use our talents and abilities for the glory of God and the service of others. God has endowed each Christian with unique gifts, which, when faithfully employed, contribute to the building of His Kingdom and the advancement of His purposes in the world. The Bible teaches that the works and talents of a Christian are not only expressions of personal potential but also acts of obedience, stewardship, and love for God and neighbor.

This commentary explores the Biblical foundation for understanding the works and talents of Christians, their purpose, and how they are to be used in alignment with God's will.

## **Key Biblical Passages**

## 1 Peter 4:10-11 (AKJV)

"As every man has received the gift, even so minister the same one to another, as good stewards of the manifold grace of God. 11If any man speak, let him speak as the oracles of God; if any man minister, let him do it as of the ability which God gives: that God in all things may be glorified through Jesus Christ, to whom be praise and dominion for ever and ever. Amen."

This passage highlights the idea that every Christian has been entrusted with gifts—whether spiritual or natural—and is called to use them in service to others. These gifts are not for personal glory but for the edification of the body of Christ and the glory of God. Whether one's talent is in speaking, teaching, leading, or serving, the goal is that in all things, God may be praised. The key principle here is stewardship: Christians are to recognize their talents as gifts from God, to be used faithfully and wisely.

## Matthew 25:14-30 (AKJV) (The Parable of the Talents)

"For the kingdom of heaven is as a man traveling into a far country, who called his own servants, and delivered to them his goods. 15And to one he gave five talents, to another two, and to another one; to every man according to his several ability; and straightway took his journey. 16Then he that had received the five talents went and traded with the same, and made them other five talents. 17And likewise he that had received two, he also gained other two. 18But he that had received one went and dig in the earth, and hid his lord's money. 19After a long time the lord of those servants comes, and reckons with them. 20And so he that had received five talents came and brought other five talents, saying, Lord, you delivered to me five talents: behold, I have gained beside them five talents more. 21His lord said to him, Well done, you good and faithful servant: you have been faithful over a few things, I will make you ruler over many things: enter you into the joy of your lord. 22He also that had received two talents came and said, Lord, you delivered to me two talents: behold, I have gained two other talents beside them. 23His lord said to him, Well done, good and faithful servant; you have been faithful over a few things, I will make you ruler over many things: enter you into the joy of your lord. 24Then he which had received the one talent came and said, Lord, I knew you that you are an hard man, reaping where you have not sown, and gathering where you have not strewed: 25And I was afraid, and went and hid your talent in the earth:

see, there you have that is yours. 26His lord answered and said to him, You wicked and slothful servant, you knew that I reap where I sowed not, and gather where I have not strewed: 27You should therefore to have put my money to the exchangers, and then at my coming I should have received my own with usury. 28Take therefore the talent from him, and give it to him which has ten talents. 29For to every one that has shall be given, and he shall have abundance: but from him that has not shall be taken away even that which he has. 30And cast you the unprofitable servant into outer darkness: there shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth."

In this well-known parable, Jesus teaches about the responsibility of stewardship. The master entrusts his servants with various amounts of talents (a form of currency) before going on a journey. The servants who wisely invest and use their talents are rewarded, while the servant who hides his talent out of fear is reprimanded. The parable emphasizes that God has entrusted each believer with different gifts and abilities according to their capacity. Faithful stewardship of those talents is expected, and those who use their gifts for God's purposes will be rewarded.

## **Romans 12:4-8 (AKJV)**

"For as we have many members in one body, and all members have not the same office: 5So we, being many, are one body in Christ, and every one members one of another. 6Having then gifts differing according to the grace that is given to us, whether prophecy, let us prophesy according to the proportion of faith; 7Or ministry, let us wait on our ministering: or he that teaches, on teaching; 8Or he that exhorts, on exhortation: he that gives, let him do it with simplicity; he that rules, with diligence; he that shows mercy, with cheerfulness."

In this passage, Paul explains the diversity of gifts within the body of Christ. He uses the analogy of the human body, where each part has a specific function, yet all work together for the good of the whole. Just as the body's parts have different roles, so too do the members of the church, each with unique talents and abilities. Every Christian is called to use their specific gifts in harmony with others for the benefit of the church and the advancement of God's Kingdom.

## Ephesians 2:10 (AKJV)

"For we are his workmanship, created in Christ Jesus to good works, which God has before ordained that we should walk in them.."

This verse beautifully summarizes the purpose of a Christian's works and talents. Christians are not only created by God, but also for a purpose—"to do good works." These works are not just random acts of kindness, but are part of God's divine plan, prepared in advance for each believer. This underscores the idea that God has uniquely equipped each person for specific tasks and that our talents and abilities are part of His sovereign purpose for us in the world.

## 1 Corinthians 12:4-11 (AKJV)

"Now there are diversities of gifts, but the same Spirit. 5And there are differences of administrations, but the same Lord. 6And there are diversities of operations, but it is the same God which works all in all. 7But the manifestation of the Spirit is given to every man to profit with. 8For to one is given by the Spirit the word of wisdom; to another the

word of knowledge by the same Spirit; 9To another faith by the same Spirit; to another the gifts of healing by the same Spirit; 10To another the working of miracles; to another prophecy; to another discerning of spirits; to another divers kinds of tongues; to another the interpretation of tongues: 11But all these works that one and the selfsame Spirit, dividing to every man severally as he will."

Paul's teaching on spiritual gifts further highlights the diversity of talents within the church. Whether natural or spiritual, every gift is a manifestation of the Holy Spirit for the common good of the body of Christ. This passage underscores the idea that no talent or gift is inherently superior to another. What matters is how each believer uses their abilities in service to God and to others, recognizing that it is God who works through them.

## **Theological Significance of Works and Talents**

## **Stewardship and Responsibility**

Both in the Parable of the Talents (Matthew 25) and in Paul's letters, there is a clear theme of stewardship. Christians are entrusted with gifts and abilities by God, and we are responsible for using them faithfully. Whether our talents are great or small, we are called to use them for God's glory, not to hoard or neglect them. Good stewardship involves recognizing the gifts we have received, being accountable for their use, and ensuring they serve God's purposes.

## **God's Purpose for Our Lives**

God has uniquely designed each believer with specific talents and works in mind. As Paul writes in Ephesians 2:10, we are God's "handiwork," created for "good works." This emphasizes that our talents are not random or accidental; they are part of God's intentional plan for our lives. By using our gifts in accordance with His will, we fulfill the purpose for which we were created—glorifying God and serving others.

#### **Unity in Diversity**

The Bible stresses that the body of Christ is made up of many parts, each with different functions (Romans 12:4-8; 1 Corinthians 12:4-11). This diversity of talents within the church is not a source of division but rather an opportunity for mutual support and collaboration. The Christian community is meant to function as a unified whole, with each member contributing their unique gifts for the common good. This truth invites believers to appreciate and value the gifts of others, recognizing that each gift plays an essential role in the life of the church.

## **Glorifying God Through Our Works**

The ultimate aim of our works and talents is to glorify God. In 1 Peter 4:10-11, we are reminded that in all things, whether in speaking or serving, the goal is that "God may be praised through Jesus Christ." The works of Christians are meant to point others to the goodness and greatness of God. Whether through acts of mercy, teaching, giving, or leadership, every talent is an opportunity to reflect God's love and grace to the world.

## **Spiritual Growth and Maturity**

Using our talents in service to others also contributes to our spiritual growth. As we

faithfully steward the gifts God has given us, we learn humility, selflessness, and dependence on God. Talents used in service deepen our relationship with God, as we experience His power working through us and witness His Kingdom expanding. The process of using our gifts in love and service is integral to our transformation into the likeness of Christ.

#### Conclusion

The works and talents of a Christian are not merely personal accomplishments but are divinely ordained opportunities to serve God and others. Each believer is uniquely gifted, and these gifts are to be used in stewardship, for the common good of the church, and for the glory of God. By embracing the diversity of talents within the body of Christ, we work together in unity to fulfill the good works God has prepared for us. Ultimately, the faithful use of our gifts serves to glorify God, build up His Kingdom, and grow us in Christlikeness.

# **Spiritual Fruit**

God wants our lives to be productive and fruitful; Many people in the world are spiritually famished and God wants to establish His spiritual fruit within every Christian's life so that they will truly have something to give to others to fill their hearts with God's eternal goodness. God is glorified when we bear much spiritual fruit in our hearts.

Spiritual fruit is the good spiritual attributes and abilities that God plants and brings to maturity in our lives. For instance, Love, joy, peace, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control etc...

We need to be in God's word, and follow Jesus, in order to bear fruit and God will produce much growth.

As followers of Christ, we are called to bear good fruit and demonstrate the transformative power of our faith through our actions and works. Just as a good tree naturally produces good fruit, so too should our lives reflect the character and love of Christ in all that we do.

The fruit of our lives is not merely measured by outward acts of service but by the inward transformation that occurs as a result of our relationship with Christ. Galatians 5:22-23 describes the fruit of the Spirit as love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control. These are the qualities that should characterize our lives as we abide in Christ and allow His Spirit to work in us.

Bearing good fruit and works requires intentionality and obedience to God's Word. Jesus said, "You did not choose me, but I chose you and appointed you so that you might go and bear fruit—fruit that will last" (John 15:16). As branches connected to the vine, our responsibility is to remain in Him and allow His life to flow through us, producing fruit that brings glory to His name.

Our good works are not done to earn salvation but as a response to God's grace and love poured out upon us. Ephesians 2:10 reminds us that we are God's handiwork, created in Christ Jesus to do good works, which He prepared in advance for us to do. Our lives are to be a living testimony of God's transforming power, drawing others to Him through our love and service.

May we, therefore, be diligent in bearing good fruit and works, allowing the Spirit of God to produce His fruit in us and through us. Let us be faithful stewards of the gifts and talents entrusted to us, using them to advance God's kingdom and bring glory to His name.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**Galatians 5:22 25 (AKJV)** — But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, long-suffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, 23Meekness, temperance: against such there is no law. 24And they that are Christ's have crucified the flesh with the affections and lusts. 25If we live in the Spirit, let us also walk in the Spirit. 26Let us not be desirous of vain glory, provoking one another, envying one another.

**James 3:17-18** (AKJV) But the wisdom that is from above is first pure, then peaceable, gentle, and easy to be entreated, full of mercy and good fruits, without partiality, and without hypocrisy. 18And the fruit of righteousness is sown in peace of them that make peace.

John 15:1-10 (AKJV) I am the true vine, and my Father is the farmer. 2Every branch in me that bears not fruit he takes away: and every branch that bears fruit, he purges it, that it may bring forth more fruit. 3Now you are clean through the word which I have spoken to you. 4Abide in me, and I in you. As the branch cannot bear fruit of itself, except it abide in the vine; no more can you, except you abide in me. 5I am the vine, you are the branches: He that stays in me, and I in him, the same brings forth much fruit: for without me you can do nothing. 6If a man abide not in me, he is cast forth as a branch, and is withered; and men gather them, and cast them into the fire, and they are burned. 7If you abide in me, and my words abide in you, you shall ask what you will, and it shall be done to you. 8Herein is my Father glorified, that you bear much fruit; so shall you be my disciples. 9As the Father has loved me, so have I loved you: continue you in my love. 10If you keep my commandments, you shall abide in my love; even as I have kept my Father's commandments, and abide in his love.

**Colossians 1:10-12** (AKJV) That you might walk worthy of the Lord to all pleasing, being fruitful in every good work, and increasing in the knowledge of God; 11Strengthened with all might, according to his glorious power, to all patience and long-suffering with joyfulness; 12Giving thanks to the Father, which has made us meet to be partakers of the inheritance of the saints in light:

#### The Fruit of the Spirit - Love:

Galatians 5:22-23 outlines the fruit of the Spirit, beginning with love: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

Love is identified as the first and foremost fruit of the Spirit. It transcends mere affection and encompasses selfless, sacrificial love that reflects God's love for humanity.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Joy:

Following love, joy is listed as a fruit of the Spirit in Galatians 5:22-23. This joy is not dependent on circumstances but is rooted in the believer's relationship with God.

Joy, as a fruit of the Spirit, goes beyond fleeting happiness. It is a deep-seated gladness that arises from the knowledge of God's presence and salvation.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Peace:

Galatians 5:22-23 includes peace as a fruit of the Spirit, signifying a tranquility that surpasses understanding: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

The peace mentioned here is not merely the absence of conflict but a holistic well-being that comes from being reconciled with God and trusting in His sovereignty.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Patience:

Patience is highlighted as a fruit of the Spirit in Galatians 5:22-23, representing enduring perseverance in the face of challenges: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

This patience involves maintaining steadfastness and composure even in difficult circumstances, reflecting God's enduring patience with humanity.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Kindness:

Galatians 5:22-23 includes kindness as a fruit of the Spirit, embodying a benevolent and compassionate disposition: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

Kindness, as a fruit of the Spirit, involves a genuine concern for the well-being of others, demonstrating God's kindness extended to humanity.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Goodness:

Galatians 5:22-23 lists goodness as a fruit of the Spirit, portraying moral excellence and virtue: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

Goodness, in this context, represents an inherent moral quality that seeks to do what is right, reflecting the goodness of God.

#### The Fruit of the Spirit - Faithfulness:

Galatians 5:22-23 includes faithfulness as a fruit of the Spirit, depicting unwavering loyalty and reliability: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

This faithfulness extends beyond mere belief; it involves steadfastness and reliability, mirroring God's faithful nature.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Gentleness:

Gentleness is identified as a fruit of the Spirit in Galatians 5:22-23, characterizing a considerate and humble demeanor: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

Gentleness involves a tender and compassionate approach to others, reflecting the gentleness of God in His dealings with humanity.

## The Fruit of the Spirit - Self-Control:

Galatians 5:22-23 concludes with self-control as a fruit of the Spirit, denoting disciplined and controlled behavior: "But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, self-control; against such things there is no law."

Self-control involves the mastery of one's desires and impulses, aligning with the discipline that comes from the indwelling of the Holy Spirit.

## **Bearing Fruit in Every Good Work:**

Colossians 1:10 encourages believers to bear fruit in every good work, growing in the knowledge of God: "so as to walk in a manner worthy of the Lord, fully pleasing to him: bearing fruit in every good work and increasing in the knowledge of God."

This verse emphasizes that the fruit of the Spirit should manifest in practical expressions of goodness and service, ultimately leading to a deeper understanding of God.

## **Abounding in Fruitful Work:**

In 2 Corinthians 9:8, the concept of abounding in every good work is connected to God's ability to make all grace abound to believers: "And God is able to make all grace abound to you, so that having all sufficiency in all things at all times, you may abound in every good work."

Abounding in every good work is seen as a result of God's grace, highlighting the connection between the indwelling Spirit and a life that bears fruit in service to others.

These scriptural references give insight into the diverse aspects of spiritual fruit, exploring the characteristics of love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control as manifestations of the Holy Spirit's work in the lives of believers. Additionally, the call to bear fruit in every good work underscores the transformative impact of the Spirit's fruit in practical expressions of service and righteousness.

# Visit and Support The Sick, Widows, Orphans

## **Scripture References:**

- Matthew 25:36-40 (AKJV): "Naked, and you clothed me: I was sick, and you visited me: I was in prison, and you came to me. 37Then shall the righteous answer him, saying, Lord, when saw we you an hungered, and fed you? or thirsty, and gave you drink? 38When saw we you a stranger, and took you in? or naked, and clothed you? 39Or when saw we you sick, or in prison, and came to you? 40And the King shall answer and say to them, Truly I say to you, Inasmuch as you have done it to one of the least of these my brothers, you have done it to me."
- **James 1:27** (AKJV): "Pure religion and undefiled before God and the Father is this, To visit the fatherless and widows in their affliction, and to keep himself unspotted from the world."
- **Psalm 68:5** (AKJV): "A father of the fatherless, and a judge of the widows, is God in his holy habitation"

## Biblical Commentary on Visiting and Supporting the Sick, Widows, and Orphans

The biblical mandate to visit and support the sick, widows, and orphans is rooted in the heart of God's character and compassion. Scripture consistently presents God as a defender of the vulnerable and marginalized. In the Old Testament, God's concern for orphans and widows is emphasized repeatedly. For example, in *Deuteronomy 10:18*, it says, "He defends the cause of the fatherless and the widow, and loves the foreigner residing among you, giving them food and clothing." This reflects not just divine benevolence but a call for the people of God to imitate Him in justice and mercy. The prophets also cry out against Israel's failure to uphold justice for these groups, such as in *Isaiah 1:17*: "Learn to do right; seek justice. Defend the oppressed. Take up the cause of the fatherless; plead the case of the widow." This shows that support for the vulnerable is not optional but a covenantal requirement, integral to living in right relationship with God and community.

In the New Testament, the theme continues with renewed emphasis, particularly through the life and teachings of Jesus. Christ's ministry was marked by compassion and healing—He healed the sick, showed mercy to widows, and welcomed children. In *Matthew 25:36*, Jesus identifies with the sick and imprisoned, saying, "I was sick and you looked after me." He makes care for the suffering a direct expression of love for Him. Similarly, in *Luke 7:11–15*, Jesus raises the son of the widow of Nain, not only showcasing His power but also His deep empathy for her plight. The early church followed in His steps, forming a community where the needs of the weak and poor were met through mutual generosity. The appointment of deacons in *Acts 6* was to ensure that widows were not neglected in the daily distribution of food, revealing an early, organized effort to embody the love of Christ through social care.

James, the brother of Jesus, makes a particularly striking statement in *James 1:27*: "Religion that God our Father accepts as pure and faultless is this: to look after orphans and widows in their distress and to keep oneself from being polluted by the world." This passage bridges the Old and New Testament concern for vulnerable populations and places it at the core of true Christian faith. James emphasizes that faith must be active and manifest in tangible deeds of compassion. This is not mere social work—it is spiritual worship. To care for widows, orphans, and the sick is to display the heart of God, demonstrate the gospel in action, and live out the radical love that defines the Christian life. Such service is an expression of divine justice and mercy, a form of holy obedience that reflects the kingdom of God breaking into a broken world.

Taking care of widows and orphans in their time of need is a calling from God to all Christians to do sometime in their life. A simple visit can mean so much to those who are brokenhearted and lonely. Christian men should help with the things that the missing father would do, such as certain repairs, moving, and most important being that loving friend to encourage, listen, and possibly give some fatherly advice as God would give.

**James 1:27** This is pure and undefiled religion in the sight of our God and Father, to visit orphans and widows in their distress and to keep oneself unstained by the world.

1 Timothy 5:3 Honor widows who are real widows. 4 If a widow has children or grandchildren, let them first learn their religious duty to their own family and make some return to their parents; for this is acceptable in the sight of God. 5 She who is a real widow, and is left all alone, has set her hope on God and continues in supplications and prayers night and day; 6 whereas she who is self-indulgent is dead even while she lives. 7 Command this, so that they may be without reproach. 8 If any one does not provide for his relatives, and especially for his own family, he has disowned the faith and is worse than an unbeliever. 9 Let a widow be enrolled if she is not less than sixty years of age, having been the wife of one husband; 10 and she must be well attested for her good deeds, as one who has brought up children, shown hospitality, washed the feet of the saints, relieved the afflicted, and devoted herself to doing good in every way. 11 But refuse to enroll younger widows; for when they grow wanton against Christ they desire to marry, 12 and so they incur condemnation for having violated their first pledge. 13 Besides that, they learn to be idlers, gadding about from house to house, and not only idlers but gossips and busybodies, saying what they should not. 14 So I would have younger widows marry, bear children, rule their households, and give the enemy no occasion to revile us. 15 For some have already strayed after Satan. 16 If any believing woman has relatives who are widows, let her assist them; let the church not be burdened, so that it may assist those who are real widows.

Thus, the biblical call to visit and support the sick, widows, and orphans is not peripheral but central to faithful discipleship. It is a practical demonstration of the gospel's power to restore, reconcile, and renew. In a world often driven by self-interest, this call compels believers to counter cultural apathy with divine compassion. Supporting the vulnerable becomes a prophetic witness to a watching world. It affirms the dignity of all human life and proclaims that God's kingdom is one where no one is forgotten or abandoned. When

the church lives out this calling, it not only fulfills scriptural commands but also becomes the living body of Christ—bearing one another's burdens, healing wounds, and proclaiming hope through love in action.

**Visiting the Sick:** When we visit the sick, we embody Christ's compassion. Matthew 25:36 encourages us to reach out to those who are suffering. A simple visit can bring hope and comfort, showing them they are not alone. Consider how Jesus healed the sick and brought solace to the afflicted. In our presence, we can offer not just words, but the assurance of God's love and the reminder that He sees their pain.

Caring for Widows and Orphans: James 1:27 highlights the importance of caring for widows and orphans. These groups often face unique challenges and loneliness. By reaching out, we provide support and companionship, helping them feel valued and loved. Just as God is a father to the fatherless (Psalm 68:5), we are called to be His hands and feet, offering care and advocacy.

## Visit Troubled Youth and Prisoners

## **Biblical Commentary on Visiting Troubled Youth and Prisoners**

The call to visit and minister to troubled youth and prisoners is deeply rooted in the compassionate mission of God as revealed throughout the Bible. The scriptures do not shy away from addressing human brokenness—in fact, they highlight God's redemptive desire to reach those who are lost, wounded, or caught in cycles of sin and despair. In *Psalm 68:6*, it says, "God sets the lonely in families, he leads out the prisoners with singing." This verse captures the essence of God's heart: He does not abandon the rejected or the imprisoned, but seeks to restore them to dignity, community, and joy. This same heart is evident in the prophetic writings, where calls for justice and mercy include fair treatment for those in prison and those pushed to the margins of society. God's justice is never divorced from mercy; both troubled youth and prisoners are seen not as irredeemable, but as deeply loved and valuable in His sight.

Jesus 'ministry further exemplifies this truth. In *Matthew 25:36, 40*, He says, "I was in prison and you came to visit me... Truly I tell you, whatever you did for one of the least of these brothers and sisters of mine, you did for me." With this statement, Jesus radically identifies Himself with the incarcerated and marginalized. Visiting prisoners is not simply a kind act; it is an act of worship and recognition of Christ in the suffering. Similarly, Jesus consistently reached out to troubled individuals—those possessed, abandoned, or in rebellion—offering them healing, identity, and a new path. The demon-possessed man in *Mark 5*, who had been chained and isolated, is a vivid example of how Christ restores the most troubled souls. After his encounter with Jesus, he is found "clothed and in his right mind." Such stories reveal that no one is beyond the reach of grace.

The early church, following Jesus 'example, developed a strong tradition of prison ministry and support for the outcast. The Apostle Paul, often writing his letters from prison, exemplifies how God's purposes can flourish even behind bars. In *Philippians 1:12-14*, Paul writes that his imprisonment has actually advanced the gospel, as others are encouraged to preach boldly. This speaks not only to the redemptive potential within prisons but also to the importance of supporting and visiting those confined. Troubled youth—often imprisoned in cycles of violence, poverty, or neglect—similarly require the church's proactive compassion. The Bible repeatedly reminds God's people to care for the young and to raise them in the truth (*Proverbs 22:6*, *Ephesians 6:4*), and this care must extend to those in crisis. These young lives are not lost causes—they are potential vessels of transformation through the love of Christ.

Therefore, visiting troubled youth and prisoners is not merely an outreach strategy—it is a vital expression of the gospel. It confronts societal stigma and declares that no one is too far gone for redemption. The Christian calling is to reflect Christ's mercy in practical, incarnational ways: to sit with the incarcerated, to speak hope into confusion and anger, to mentor and walk alongside youth who have lost their way. This work requires patience, humility, and deep love, but it aligns powerfully with the kingdom vision of lifting up the lowly and restoring the broken. When the church engages with prisoners and troubled youth, it proclaims that God's grace is stronger than sin, and that His light can pierce even the darkest places.

# **Good Neighbor**

As followers of Jesus Christ, we are instructed to love our neighbor as ourselves; But Who is our neighbor ?

Neighbors are generally persons who are members of the same community and live close to each other. This is the strict and literal meaning of the word, but Jesus gave it a much wider and essential definition when he included the whole world and those we don't necessarily like, as our neighbors, and illustrated it by the parable of the good Samaritan. Thus Christianity has as one of it's most sublime tenets the loving of our neighbors as ourselves.

Christians are taught to even to Love their enemies who may be their neighbors, to care for them and to show mercy towards them without condoning any evil that they do.

Each day we should be attentive of any opportunity to be good neighbor to someone, with the same love and compassion as Jesus Christ.

**Luke 10:27** And he answered and said, " You shall love the Lord your God with all of your heart, and with all of your soul, and with all your strength, and with all of your mind; **and love your neighbor as yourself. 10:28** And He said to him, " You have answered correctly; do this and you will live."

Luke 10:29-37 But wishing to justify himself, he said to Jesus, " And who is my neighbor?

10:30 Jesus replied and said, "A certain man was going down from Jerusalem to Jericho; and he fell among robbers, and they stripped him and beat him and went off leaving him half dead. 10:31 And by chance a certain priest was going down on that road, and when he saw him. he passed by on the other side.

10:32 And likewise a Levite also, when he came to the place and saw him. passed by on the other side. 10:33 But a certain Samaritan, who was on a journey, came upon him, and when he saw him, he felt compassion.

10:34 and came to him and bandaged up his wounds, puring oil and wine on them; and he put him on his own beast, and bought him to the inn and took care of him. 10:35 And on the next day he took out two denarii and gave them to the innkeeper and said, " Take care of Him; and whatever more you spend, when I return, I will repay you.

10:36 Which of these three do you think proved to be a neighbor to the man who fell into the robbers' hands? 10:37 And he said, " The one who showed mercy toward him," And Jesus said to him, " Go and do the same."

# Biblical Principles of Being a Good Neighbor: Loving Others as Yourself

Being a good neighbor is a central theme in the Bible, emphasizing the importance of love, compassion, and community. The Scriptures provide a foundation for understanding the qualities and actions that characterize a good neighbor. Here, we explore the biblical principles guiding the role of being a good neighbor.

#### The Greatest Commandments:

Being a good neighbor aligns with the core principles of loving God and loving others.

#### **Scriptural References:**

# Matthew 22:37-39 (You Shall Love the Lord Your God with All Your Heart... and Your Neighbor as Yourself):

Jesus identifies love for God and love for neighbor as the greatest commandments, emphasizing the interconnectedness of these two expressions of love.

### Luke 10:25-37 (The Parable of the Good Samaritan):

In the parable, Jesus illustrates the essence of being a good neighbor through the actions of the Samaritan who showed mercy to a wounded man, transcending social and cultural boundaries.

# **Biblical Commentary on Being a Good Neighbor**

Being a good neighbor is one of the most profound expressions of godly love and is deeply rooted in both Old and New Testament teachings. The foundational command to "love your neighbor as yourself" originates in *Leviticus 19:18*, where God instructs Israel not to seek revenge or bear grudges, but to love others as they love themselves. This was not limited to fellow Israelites; a few verses later (*Leviticus 19:33-34*), God commands love and justice for the foreigner residing among them, stating, "Love them as yourself, for you were foreigners in Egypt." God consistently calls His people to extend compassion, hospitality, and fairness to everyone, especially those who are different, vulnerable, or outside their usual circles. Being a good neighbor, therefore, is not optional—it is a moral and spiritual responsibility that reflects the character of God Himself.

Jesus elevated and clarified this command in the New Testament by making it central to Christian life and witness. When asked what the greatest commandment was, Jesus replied in *Matthew 22:37–39*, "Love the Lord your God with all your heart... 'and the second is like it: 'Love your neighbor as yourself.'" These two commands are inseparable: true love for God is always accompanied by love for others. But Jesus went even further in *Luke 10:25–37* with the Parable of the Good Samaritan. Here, He redefines "neighbor" not as someone who is similar, close, or easy to love, but as anyone in need—especially those who are normally overlooked, rejected, or despised. The Samaritan, moved by compassion, cared for a wounded man whom others ignored. Through this story, Jesus teaches that being a good neighbor is defined by mercy, action, and sacrificial care—regardless of social boundaries, race, or religion.

The call to be a good neighbor involves more than kindness; it is a radical, countercultural love that reflects God's heart. In *Romans 13:8-10*, the Apostle Paul affirms that love fulfills the law, writing, "The commandments... are summed up in this one command: 'Love your neighbor as yourself. 'Love does no harm to a neighbor. Therefore love is the fulfillment of the law." This kind of neighborly love refuses to exploit, ignore, or devalue others. It seeks their good, protects their dignity, and sacrifices personal comfort to meet their needs. It means being attentive to both spiritual and practical concerns—sharing the gospel, meeting tangible needs, listening with empathy, and serving with humility. Such love is costly and inconvenient, but it is the essence of what it means to live out the gospel.

In today's world, being a good neighbor is a powerful testimony to Christ. In a culture often marked by isolation, division, and indifference, genuine neighborly love stands out as something holy. The Christian who practices hospitality, seeks justice, forgives offenses, and builds bridges across lines of race, class, or ideology becomes a beacon of God's love. The Church, when acting as a good neighbor, becomes a refuge in the community—a place where the hurting are healed, the lonely are embraced, and the forgotten are remembered. In this way, loving our neighbor is not only obedience to God's command—it is participation in His mission to renew the world through grace.

Every time we show mercy, lend a hand, or speak a kind word, we bring a piece of heaven to earth.

Being a good neighbor, as outlined in the Bible, is a transformative way of life characterized by love, compassion, and consideration for others. Grounded in the principles of the greatest commandments, hospitality, kindness, and seeking the welfare of others, the role of being a good neighbor extends beyond mere proximity to a profound expression of Christian love. By embodying these biblical principles, believers contribute to creating communities marked by unity, diversity, forgiveness, and the radiant light of Christ. Ultimately, being a good neighbor reflects the essence of Christian discipleship—loving others as oneself and demonstrating the transformative power of God's love in everyday interactions.

#### Selfless Service:

Being a good neighbor involves selfless service, where one prioritizes the needs of others above personal convenience.

# **Scriptural References:**

Philippians 2:3-4 (Count Others More Significant Than Yourselves; Let Each of You Look Not Only to His Own Interests, But Also to the Interests of Others):

Paul encourages believers to adopt a selfless mindset, considering the interests of others as more significant than their own.

# Hospitality

# **Biblical Commentary on Hospitality**

Being hospitable and demonstrating hospitality should be an essential aspect of any Christian ministry, evangelistic outreach, or foreign mission.

Hospitality was a foundational virtue in the Bible, deeply embedded in both Old and New Testament teachings, and it reflects the welcoming heart of God. In the ancient world, hospitality was more than politeness—it was a sacred duty and a reflection of one's faithfulness to God. In *Genesis 18*, Abraham exemplifies this by welcoming three strangers (later revealed to be divine visitors), preparing a meal, and offering rest. This story demonstrates that true hospitality is marked by generosity, humility, and a readiness to serve others—especially strangers. Similarly, in *Leviticus 19:34*, God commands Israel, "The foreigner residing among you must be treated as your native-born. Love them as yourself, for you were foreigners in Egypt." Biblical hospitality is not reserved for friends or family; it is an expression of justice and love toward the outsider, rooted in the memory of God's grace to His people.

In the New Testament, hospitality takes on even greater spiritual significance as an essential mark of Christian maturity and community. Jesus frequently shared meals with the marginalized—tax collectors, sinners, and the poor—demonstrating that the kingdom of God is open to all who respond to His invitation. He taught His disciples to do the same. In *Luke 14:12–14*, He says, "When you give a banquet, invite the poor, the crippled, the lame, the blind, and you will be blessed." Hospitality, in Jesus 'teaching, is not about reciprocation or social gain but about extending God's love to those who cannot repay. The early Church followed this model. In *Acts 2:46*, believers met in homes, breaking bread together with glad and sincere hearts. Their shared meals and open homes were acts of worship and mission, embodying the unity and generosity of the Spirit.

The Epistles continue to emphasize hospitality as a vital expression of the Christian life. In *Romans 12:13*, Paul urges believers, "Share with the Lord's people who are in need. Practice hospitality." Likewise, in *Hebrews 13:2*, we are reminded, "Do not forget to show hospitality to strangers, for by so doing some people have shown hospitality to angels without knowing it." This echoes the story of Abraham and highlights the mysterious, even sacred, nature of welcoming others. In *1 Peter 4:9*, Peter adds, "Offer hospitality to one another without grumbling," pointing to the attitude behind the act—hospitality must be willing, joyful, and free of resentment. These commands show that hospitality is not a spiritual gift for a few but a responsibility for all believers. It is a lifestyle of open hearts and open hands, rooted in the character of Christ.

Ultimately, hospitality mirrors the gospel itself. God, through Christ, welcomed us when we were strangers and sinners (*Romans 5:8*). The cross is the ultimate act of divine hospitality—an invitation into the family of God. When Christians practice hospitality, they are not merely offering food or shelter; they are embodying the gospel story. Each shared meal, open door, or generous act becomes a living parable of God's grace. In a world increasingly marked by isolation, division, and self-protection, Christian hospitality is a radical, countercultural witness. It creates spaces of healing, belonging, and transformation. Through it, homes become sanctuaries, strangers become friends, and Christ becomes visible in everyday acts of love.

# Gifts Of The Holy Spirit

The gifts of the Holy Spirit are, so to speak, spiritual tools given to Christians by God to enable us to minister effectively to others. These gifts are still real and valuable for every believer today.

However, there are also many false demonstrations of the Holy Spirit in various churches, which we must be vigilant against. God grants us spiritual discernment to help us distinguish between the genuine operation of the Holy Spirit and counterfeit displays by those claiming gifts they have not truly received from God.

The central focus of Christian teaching should not primarily be on the gifts of the Holy Spirit, but rather on how to love others as Jesus loved us and the good news of salvation through Jesus Christ. Nevertheless, some instruction on the gifts is essential so that all things may be done in God's order and bring true edification to others.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**1 Corinthians 12:4-11** Now there are varieties of gifts, but the same Spirit. And there are varieties of ministries, and the same Lord.

And there are varieties of effects, but the same God who works all things in all persons. But to each one is given the manifestation of the Spirit for the common good. For to one is given the word of wisdom through the Spirit, and to another the word of knowledge, according to the same Spirit;

To another faith, by the same Spirit, and to another gifts of healing by the one Spirit, and to another the effecting of miracles, and to another prophecy, and to another the distinguishing of spirits, to another various kinds of tongues, and to another the interpretation of tongues.

But one and the same Spirit works all these things, distributing to each one individually just as He wills.

#### **GIFTS OF THE HOLY SPIRIT**

#### 1 Corinthians 14:1-40

Pursue Love, yet desire earnestly spiritual gifts, but especially that you may prophesy.

- 14:2 For one who speaks in a tongue does not speak to men, but to God; for no one understands, but in his spirit he speaks mysteries.
- 14:3 But one who prophesies speaks to men for edification and exhortation and consolation.
- 14:4 One who speaks in a tongue edifies himself; but the one who prophesies edifies the church.
- 14:5 Now I wish that you all spoke in tongues, but even more that you would prophesy; and greater is one who prophesies than one who speaks in tongues, unless he interprets, so that the church may receive edifying.
- 14:6 But now, brethren, if I come to you speaking in tongues, what shall I profit you, unless I speak to you either by revelation or of knowledge or of prophecy or of teaching?
- 14:12 So also you, since you are zealous of spiritual gifts, seek to abound for the edification of the church.
- 14:13 Therefore let one who speaks in a tongue pray that he may interpret.
- 14:18 I thank God, I speak in tongues more than you all;
- 14:19 However, in the church I desire to speak five words with my mind, that I may instruct others also, rather than ten thousand words in a tongue.

14:26 What is the outcome then, brethren? When you assemble, one has a psalm, another has a teaching, another has a revelation, another has a tongue, another has a interpretation. Let all things be done for edification.

14:27 If anyone speaks in a tongue it should be by two or at the most three and each in turn and let one interpret;

14:28 But if there is no interpreter, let him keep silent in the church and let him speak to himself and to God

14:29 And let two or three prophets speak and let the others pass judgment.

14:30 But if a revelation is made to another who is seated, let the first keep silent.

14:31 For you can all prophesy one by one, so that all may learn and all may be exhorted;

# **Biblical Commentary on the Gifts of the Holy Spirit**

The Gifts of the Holy Spirit are divine abilities given by God through the Holy Spirit to empower believers for service, strengthen the Church, and advance the Kingdom of God. These gifts are not earned by merit or effort, but are freely given by God's grace, and they operate through the indwelling presence of the Holy Spirit in each believer. Paul describes these gifts most thoroughly in 1 Corinthians 12, where he writes, "Now to each one the manifestation of the Spirit is given for the common good" (1 Corinthians 12:7). The purpose of the gifts is communal, not individualistic—they are meant to build up the Body of Christ and reveal God's presence among His people. This truth anchors the use of spiritual gifts in humility, service, and unity rather than personal gain or spiritual pride.

Paul identifies a variety of spiritual gifts, including "wisdom, knowledge, faith, healing, miraculous powers, prophecy, distinguishing between spirits, speaking in different kinds of tongues, and the interpretation of tongues" (1 Corinthians 12:8–10). These gifts are diverse in function but unified in purpose, demonstrating the multifaceted work of the Holy Spirit in the life of the Church. Some of these gifts are more outward and supernatural in nature—such as miracles and prophecy—while others operate in quieter, often unnoticed ways, such as the gift of wisdom or discernment. All are equally vital. Paul compares the Church to a human body in verses 12–27, where every part (or gift) is necessary for the health and effectiveness of the whole. This metaphor underscores that no gift is superior to another, and all must function in love and cooperation.

In Romans 12:6–8 and Ephesians 4:11–13, Paul mentions other gifts, such as leadership, teaching, encouragement, giving, and mercy. These gifts emphasize that not all spiritual gifts are miraculous in nature; some are practical, relational, and administrative. Together, they form a complete picture of what it means to be the Church: a community empowered by the Spirit to glorify Christ, proclaim the gospel, and serve others. The diversity of gifts also shows the creativity and intentionality of the Holy Spirit—He equips each believer differently, according to God's purpose and calling for their lives. This should inspire believers not to compare or compete, but to discover and faithfully use their unique gifts with joy and humility.

Importantly, spiritual gifts must always be guided by love. Paul dedicates an entire chapter—1 Corinthians 13—to stress that even the most powerful gifts are meaningless

without love. "If I have the gift of prophecy and can fathom all mysteries... but do not have love, I am nothing" (1 Corinthians 13:2). The gifts of the Holy Spirit are not the ultimate goal; rather, they are tools for fulfilling the greatest commandments: to love God and to love others. When used rightly, the gifts reveal Christ, edify the Church, and testify to the power of the gospel. When misused or pursued for personal recognition, they cause division and confusion. Therefore, believers are called to "eagerly desire the greater gifts" (1 Corinthians 12:31) but always to operate in the "more excellent way" of love. In this way, the gifts of the Spirit remain a sacred trust—powerful, beautiful, and always pointing back to the Giver Himself.

# Gifts of The Holy Spirit:

#### To Another Faith:

- Definition: The gift of faith is an extraordinary confidence and trust in God's power and promises. It goes beyond saving faith and empowers individuals to believe for miraculous outcomes and to act with boldness in the face of challenges.
- Biblical Basis: This gift is rooted in a deep trust in God's character
  and the ability to see beyond current circumstances. It's not merely
  intellectual assent but a supernatural assurance that God will act in
  accordance with His will.
- Application: Those with the gift of faith often inspire and encourage others in the community. They may step out in risky obedience to God's leading, believing in the impossible and seeing God's power manifested in various situations.

# Gifts of Healing:

- Definition: This gift involves the supernatural ability to bring about healing and restoration to the physical, emotional, or spiritual well-being of individuals. It's a manifestation of God's healing power through the Holy Spirit.
- **Biblical Basis:** Throughout the Gospels and the Book of Acts, Jesus and the apostles frequently healed the sick, demonstrating the power of God. This gift continues the ministry of divine healing in the body of Christ.
- **Application:** Those with the gifts of healing often pray for the sick and see miraculous recoveries. They may be involved in ministries of mercy and compassion, offering God's healing touch to those in need.

### **Effecting of Miracles:**

- Definition: The gift of working miracles involves the ability, by the Holy Spirit, to bring about supernatural events that transcend the laws of nature. It includes acts that astonish and point to the divine intervention of God.
- Biblical Basis: Miracles are often associated with moments of great significance in the Bible, such as the parting of the Red Sea, the raising of the dead, and the feeding of the five thousand. They testify to God's power and presence.
- Application: Individuals with the gift of working miracles may experience extraordinary manifestations of God's power. This can include supernatural provisions, deliverances from dire situations, and other aweinspiring demonstrations of divine intervention.

# Prophecy:

- **Definition:** Prophecy involves speaking forth God's message under the inspiration of the Holy Spirit. It includes both foretelling (speaking about future events) and forth-telling (speaking God's truth for the present).
- Biblical Basis: Prophets in the Bible were often called to deliver God's messages to His people. The prophetic gift continues in the New Testament, where believers are encouraged to earnestly desire the gift of prophecy (1 Corinthians 14:1)
- Application: Those with the gift of prophecy may speak words of encouragement, edification, exhortation, and sometimes correction. Their messages align with Scripture and contribute to the spiritual growth and direction of the community.

# **Distinguishing of Spirits:**

- Definition: The gift of distinguishing or discerning spirits involves the ability to perceive and distinguish between the influences of the Holy Spirit, human spirits, and demonic spirits.
- **Biblical Basis:** This gift is crucial for maintaining spiritual discernment and protection within the body of Christ. It allows believers to recognize the source of spiritual manifestations and ensure they align with God's truth.
- Application: Individuals with the gift of distinguishing of spirits may
  have insight into the spiritual realm, identifying deceptive influences and
  helping the community navigate situations where discernment is crucial.

# Various Kinds of Tongues:

- **Definition:** The gift of tongues involves the ability to speak in languages unknown to the speaker, either in earthly languages or in a heavenly or angelic language. It is often accompanied by the gift of interpretation.
- **Biblical Basis:** The gift of tongues is prominently mentioned in 1 Corinthians 14, where the Apostle Paul provides guidelines for its use in the worship assembly. It is a gift meant for personal edification and, when accompanied by interpretation, for the edification of the entire church.
- Application: Those with the gift of tongues may use this gift in private prayer or worship, and, when exercised publicly, it is to be done decently and in order, as outlined in Scripture.

# Interpretation of Tongues:

- Definition: The gift of interpretation of tongues involves the ability to understand and convey the meaning of a message spoken in tongues. It complements the gift of tongues, providing clarity and edification to the community.
- Biblical Basis: The Apostle Paul emphasizes the importance of interpretation when tongues are spoken in the public assembly to ensure that the message is understood and beneficial to the entire congregation.
- Application: Individuals with the gift of interpretation of tongues may provide understanding and clarity when tongues are spoken in a public setting. This contributes to the overall building up of the church.

# **Integration and Cooperation:**

- **Coordinated Working:** These gifts of the Holy Spirit are often not isolated but work together within the body of Christ. For example, the gift of healing may complement the gift of discernment in identifying spiritual roots of illness.
- **Unity and Diversity:** The diversity of gifts in the body of Christ emphasizes the unity and interdependence of believers. Each gift is valuable and contributes to the overall health and effectiveness of the Church.

In summary, the gifts of the Holy Spirit mentioned in 1 Corinthians 12:9-10 are diverse manifestations of God's power within the Christian community. They operate to edify,

empower, and bring about the transformative work of the Holy Spirit in the lives of believers and the life of the Church.

# Stewardship

In the Bible, all followers of Jesus Christ are instructed to be good stewards. As Christians, we should desire to be personally disciplined in faithfully using our talents and resources for the glory of God and to further His Kingdom. We can become good stewards by putting to action, and utilizing our talents and resources to minister to the needs of others, and moreover by continually sharing the saving knowledge of Jesus Christ with those whom the Lord brings us to.

Another way we should be good stewards is by setting aside time each day to pray to God and setting time to study and meditate on God's Word. When we become good stewards, of our time, talents, and resources, then our lives will be well balanced and blessed; Our Love will become effectual and we will bear much fruit, thereby many other lives around us will be blessed as well.

For any of us to demonstrate stewardship in the way God intended, we must keep the proper balance of spending our time, talents and resources so that we never neglect one area of our life over another. As Christians we should learn from God's Holy Spirit when to devote time and assistance to family, friends, strangers, those in need and even to our enemies at times as God directs.

God helps us in many ways to become good stewards, by instructing us in His word, just What should be our priorities, and further by directing and enabling us to do various righteous deeds. God's Holy Spirit will show us the right timing and further, exactly what are the right proportions to give.

It is God who gives to each person certain measure of specific talents, spiritual gifts and resources.

Being a steward means you have been entrusted with God's resources and spiritual gifts therefore the money , the land, all that you own and your very being was given to you by God for His purpose, and we are responsible to wisely use all that have for serving God. This includes taking care of your family as a priority.

Each Christian will be held accountable to God, to show How he has used his talents and resources in doing the will of God. By being a good steward of our time, talents and resources, we can fulfill God's commandment to Love one another.

ASK YOURSELF And GOD the following Questions, then respond, set goals, and take action....

- How can I, today better use my time, talents and resources to glorify God?
- What are my talents?
- What are my resources?

#### Who can I serve?

#### **STEWARDSHIP**

Matthew 25:14 (AKJV) "For the kingdom of heaven is as a man traveling into a far country, who called his own servants, and delivered to them his goods. 15And to one he gave five talents, to another two, and to another one; to every man according to his several ability; and straightway took his journey. 16Then he that had received the five talents went and traded with the same, and made them other five talents. 17And likewise he that had received two, he also gained other two. 18But he that had received one went and dig in the earth, and hid his lord's money. 19After a long time the lord of those servants comes, and reckons with them. 20And so he that had received five talents came and brought other five talents, saying, Lord, you delivered to me five talents: behold, I have gained beside them five talents more. 21His lord said to him, Well done, you good and faithful servant: you have been faithful over a few things, I will make you ruler over many things: enter you into the joy of your lord. 22He also that had received two talents came and said, Lord, you delivered to me two talents: behold, I have gained two other talents beside them. 23His lord said to him, Well done, good and faithful servant; you have been faithful over a few things, I will make you ruler over many things: enter you into the joy of your lord. 24Then he which had received the one talent came and said, Lord, I knew you that you are an hard man, reaping where you have not sown, and gathering where you have not strewed: 25And I was afraid, and went and hid your talent in the earth: see, there you have that is yours. 26His lord answered and said to him, You wicked and slothful servant, you knew that I reap where I sowed not, and gather where I have not strewed: 27You should therefore to have put my money to the exchangers, and then at my coming I should have received my own with usury. 28Take therefore the talent from him, and give it to him which has ten talents. 29For to every one that has shall be given, and he shall have abundance: but from him that has not shall be taken away even that which he has. 30And cast you the unprofitable servant into outer darkness: there shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth. "

Luke 16:1-13 (AKJV) And he said also to his disciples, There was a certain rich man, which had a steward; and the same was accused to him that he had wasted his goods. 2And he called him, and said to him, How is it that I hear this of you? give an account of your stewardship; for you may be no longer steward. 3Then the steward said within himself, What shall I do? for my lord takes away from me the stewardship: I cannot dig; to beg I am ashamed. 4I am resolved what to do, that, when I am put out of the stewardship, they may receive me into their houses. 5So he called every one of his lord's debtors to him, and said to the first, How much owe you to my lord? 6And he said, An hundred measures of oil. And he said to him, Take your bill, and sit down quickly, and write fifty. 7Then said he to another, And how much owe you? And he said, An hundred measures of wheat. And he said to him, Take your bill, and write fourscore. 8And the lord commended the unjust steward, because he had done wisely: for the children of this world are in their generation wiser than the children of light. 9And I say to you, Make to yourselves friends of the mammon of unrighteousness; that, when you fail, they may

receive you into everlasting habitations. 10He that is faithful in that which is least is faithful also in much: and he that is unjust in the least is unjust also in much. 11If therefore you have not been faithful in the unrighteous mammon, who will commit to your trust the true riches? 12And if you have not been faithful in that which is another man's, who shall give you that which is your own? 13No servant can serve two masters: for either he will hate the one, and love the other; or else he will hold to the one, and despise the other. You cannot serve God and mammon.

#### **STEWARDSHIP**

As Christians, we are called to embrace wise stewardship of all that God entrusts to us, recognizing this as a profound and divine responsibility highlighted throughout Scripture. The foundational principle of stewardship starts with the understanding that God is the ultimate owner of everything. Psalm 24:1 reminds us, "The earth is the Lord's and the fullness thereof, the world and those who dwell therein." This verse underscores that every possession, talent, and moment we have is a gift from God, and our role is to manage these gifts wisely.

Jesus 'parable of the talents in Matthew 25:14-30 illustrates that we, as believers, are expected to invest and utilize these divine resources in ways that align with God's purposes. It's not just about what we have, but how we use it to further His kingdom.

In terms of time, Ephesians 5:15-16 advises us to be deliberate and purposeful with our time, reflecting God's glory in all we do and contributing to the advancement of His kingdom. The principle of Sabbath rest, mentioned in Exodus 20:9-10, reinforces the need to set aside time to rest and acknowledge God's provision, ensuring we are balanced and focused on what truly matters.

When it comes to finances, the Bible encourages us to be generous and responsible. 2 Corinthians 9:7 emphasizes that our giving should be done cheerfully, understanding that our financial resources ultimately belong to God. Proverbs 3:9-10 calls us to honor the Lord with our wealth, making sure our financial stewardship aligns with His divine purposes.

The stewardship of our talents is also crucial. The parable of the talents teaches us that we are to develop and use our abilities and gifts for the advancement of God's kingdom. 1 Peter 4:10 urges us to use our gifts in service to others, embodying good stewardship of God's grace.

Jesus teaches about eternal stewardship in Matthew 6:19-21, encouraging us to invest in treasures that endure beyond this life, rather than being caught up in temporary gains. Faithfulness in small matters, as highlighted in Luke 16:10, reflects true stewardship, showing that even our smallest choices can have eternal significance.

Ultimately, as Christians, our stewardship is a reflection of a heart transformed by the recognition of God's sovereignty. It's not merely about managing resources; it's about

living in a way that honors God's ultimate ownership and reflects His glory through every aspect of our lives.

As Christians, our commitment to stewardship encompasses every facet of our lives. It's about aligning our daily actions with God's will, acknowledging His lordship over all that we have, and demonstrating our gratitude through responsible and purposeful living.

**Stewardship of Finances:** Our financial resources are another crucial area of stewardship. Scripture teaches us that everything we have ultimately belongs to God. In 1 Timothy 6:17-19, we are reminded that we should not place our hope in wealth, but instead, use our finances to do good, be rich in good deeds, and be generous and willing to share. Stewardship of finances involves budgeting wisely, avoiding debt, giving generously to support the church and charitable causes, and managing money in a way that honors God and supports His work.

**Stewardship of Talents:** We are each given unique talents and abilities that God intends for us to use for His glory. In 1 Peter 4:10, we are instructed to use whatever gift we have received to serve others, as faithful stewards of God's grace. This means actively using our skills and talents in ways that benefit others and advance God's kingdom, whether through our jobs, hobbies, or volunteer work. Recognizing and developing these talents to their fullest potential honors God and enriches our communities.

**Stewardship of Spiritual Gifts:** Spiritual gifts are special abilities given by the Holy Spirit to each believer for the purpose of building up the church and serving others. In Romans 12:6-8, Paul encourages believers to use their gifts in accordance with the grace given to them. Stewardship of spiritual gifts involves discovering what gifts we have been given, using them effectively in ministry, and continually growing in our understanding of how to serve others through these gifts.

**Stewardship of Time:** Time is a finite resource, and how we use it reflects our priorities. Ephesians 5:15-16 advises us to be careful how we live, making the most of every opportunity because the days are evil. Stewardship of time involves setting priorities that align with God's will, balancing work, rest, and recreation, and making deliberate choices to invest time in spiritual growth, relationships, and service to others.

**Stewardship of Possessions:** Our material possessions are entrusted to us by God and should be used in a way that honors Him. In Luke 12:15, Jesus warns against greed and emphasizes that life does not consist in the abundance of possessions. Stewardship of possessions means managing what we own with gratitude, avoiding excess and waste, and using our resources to help those in need and further God's kingdom. It also involves being willing to share and give away possessions when needed, reflecting a heart that values people over things.

**Integrating All Aspects of Stewardship:** In integrating these aspects of stewardship, we recognize that each area is interconnected. For instance, good stewardship of finances can free up time to use our talents and spiritual gifts more effectively. Likewise, managing our possessions wisely can help us maintain a focus on eternal values rather

than material wealth. By seeking to steward each aspect of our lives well, we honor God, reflect His character, and contribute to His purposes in the world.

# **Stewardship of Relationships:**

We are also called to steward our relationships with others. In John 13:34-35, Jesus commands us to love one another as He has loved us, which is a fundamental aspect of our Christian witness. Our interactions with others should reflect God's love and grace, nurturing and building up those around us. This stewardship of relationships involves actively seeking to reconcile conflicts, offering support and encouragement, and using our influence to lead others towards Christ.

# **Stewardship of the Gospel:**

Perhaps the most significant aspect of our stewardship is how we handle the message of the Gospel. In Matthew 28:19-20, Jesus commissions us to "go and make disciples of all nations." Stewarding the Gospel involves sharing it with others, supporting missionary work, and living in a way that reflects the transformative power of Christ. We are entrusted with the responsibility of spreading the Good News and living as examples of God's grace and truth.

# **Stewardship in Adversity:**

Even in times of difficulty, our stewardship is tested. James 1:2-4 encourages us to consider trials as opportunities for growth, developing perseverance and character. How we respond to challenges and hardships can be a testament to our faith and trust in God's providence. Maintaining a steadfast attitude and continuing to serve faithfully during these times reflects a deep commitment to stewardship.

### **Eternal Perspective:**

Lastly, our stewardship is framed by an eternal perspective. Colossians 3:1-2 calls us to set our hearts on things above, not on earthly things. This perspective helps us prioritize our actions and decisions according to what truly matters in light of eternity. By focusing on eternal values and purposes, we align our stewardship with God's eternal plan and purpose.

In all these areas, as Christians, our stewardship is an expression of our love for God and our desire to honor Him with every aspect of our lives. It's a continuous journey of learning, growing, and serving, driven by a heart that recognizes God's ultimate ownership and seeks to reflect His glory in all that we do.

- **Genesis 2:15**: Introduces the concept of stewardship in the Garden of Eden, where humanity is given the responsibility to care for and cultivate the created world.
- Matthew 25:14-30 (Parable of the Talents): Illustrates the importance of faithful stewardship over resources and the accountability for how they are used.

- **1 Corinthians 4:2**: Stresses the requirement of faithfulness in stewardship, emphasizing the trustworthiness expected of stewards.
- Luke 16:10-12: Expresses the principle that faithful stewardship in small things leads to greater responsibilities, highlighting the concept of accountability.
- Colossians 3:23-24: Encourages believers to work heartily in all they do, recognizing that they are serving the Lord, emphasizing a stewardship mindset in daily tasks.
- Psalm 24:1: Declares that the earth and everything in it belong to the Lord, establishing the foundational truth of God's ownership and humanity's role as stewards.
- 1 Timothy 6:17-19: Advises the wealthy to be rich in good deeds and willing to share, emphasizing the stewardship of wealth for the benefit of others.
- Luke 12:42-48: Describes the responsibility of stewards to faithfully manage the resources entrusted to them, with consequences for negligence or faithfulness.
- Proverbs 27:23: Compares the diligent care of one's possessions to the well-being
  of flocks, drawing parallels to responsible stewardship.
- Ephesians 2:10: Describes believers as God's workmanship, created for good works, indicating a stewardship role in fulfilling God's purposes.
- **Malachi 3:10**: Encourages bringing tithes into the storehouse, emphasizing the principle of giving back to God as an act of stewardship.
- **2 Corinthians 9:6-7**: Discusses the cheerful giver and the principle of sowing and reaping, highlighting the stewardship of resources and generosity.
- **Proverbs 3:9**: Advises honoring the Lord with one's wealth, acknowledging God's ownership and the stewardship responsibility of managing financial resources.
- **Titus 1:7**: Sets forth qualifications for church leaders, including being a steward of God, underlining the importance of stewardship in spiritual leadership.
- James 1:17: Acknowledges that every good and perfect gift is from above, reinforcing the idea that all blessings come from God, and stewardship involves using them wisely.
- **2 Corinthians 8:9**: Points to the example of Christ, who, though rich, became poor for our sake, emphasizing sacrificial stewardship for the well-being of others.
- **Proverbs 13:22**: Highlights the idea of leaving an inheritance for future generations, emphasizing long-term thinking and generational stewardship.
- **Luke 12:33**: Advises selling possessions and giving to the needy, promoting a lifestyle of intentional simplicity and generosity as part of Christian stewardship.
- Proverbs 14:31: Stresses that whoever oppresses the poor shows contempt for God, emphasizing the ethical dimension of stewardship and social responsibility.

- **2 Corinthians 9:10-11**: Speaks about the generosity of God leading to thanksgiving and the multiplication of seed for sowing, illustrating the concept of God's provision for faithful stewardship.
- Deuteronomy 8:17-18: Warns against forgetting that it is God who gives the ability to produce wealth, emphasizing a humble acknowledgment of God's role in stewardship.
- Proverbs 19:17: Encourages lending to the Lord by helping the poor, illustrating the idea that acts of kindness toward others are acts of stewardship.
- 1 Peter 4:10: Calls believers to use their gifts to serve others, highlighting the concept of stewardship not only over material resources but also over individual talents and abilities.
- Proverbs 22:9: Speaks about the generous person being blessed, linking generosity with the principle of reaping what is sown in stewardship.
- **Matthew 6:19-21**: Advises storing up treasures in heaven rather than on earth, emphasizing an eternal perspective in stewardship.
- 1 Chronicles 29:14: Acknowledges that everything comes from God, reinforcing the idea of stewardship as recognizing and managing resources that ultimately belong to God.
- **Galatians 6:2**: Encourages bearing one another's burdens, expressing the communal aspect of stewardship in supporting and caring for fellow believers.
- Acts 20:35: Quotes Jesus' saying that it is more blessed to give than to receive, promoting the virtue of generosity and the joy found in selfless stewardship.
- Romans 14:12: Reminds believers that each person will give an account of themselves to God, emphasizing personal responsibility in stewardship.

These verses collectively provide a comprehensive perspective on the biblical concept of stewardship, encompassing the responsible management of various resources, including time, talents, finances, and relationships, with the overarching recognition that all things ultimately belong to God. Stewardship is portrayed not only as a duty but also as a means of expressing gratitude, love, and care for others in alignment with God's will and purposes.

# Holiness and Integrity

# Biblical Commentary on Holiness and Integrity within Ministry, Evangelism, and Missions

Holiness and integrity are essential character traits to all local Christian churches and ministries, and further especially in evangelism and missions, where the message of the gospel is both proclaimed and embodied. Throughout Scripture, God calls His

servants not only to preach truth but to live it. In *1 Peter 1:15–16*, believers are commanded, "But just as he who called you is holy, so be holy in all you do; for it is written: 'Be holy, because I am holy.'" Holiness, in this sense, means being set apart for God's purposes—morally pure, spiritually sincere, and wholly devoted to Christ. For those involved in ministry and outreach, personal holiness is not a private pursuit but a public testimony. When the message of the gospel is delivered through unholy or hypocritical lives, its credibility and impact are deeply damaged. Therefore, ministers and missionaries must first be vessels of God's transformation, allowing His sanctifying power to shape their character before they seek to influence others.

Integrity, which is closely linked to holiness, means living in a way that is consistent with one's beliefs, without deceit or compromise. In *Titus 2:7–8*, Paul instructs, "In everything set them an example by doing what is good. In your teaching show integrity, seriousness and soundness of speech that cannot be condemned." In evangelism and missions, this level of moral and ethical uprightness is essential. The world often scrutinizes Christians not only by what they say but by how they live. An evangelist or missionary who lacks integrity—who manipulates, exaggerates, or pursues personal gain—brings dishonor to Christ and becomes a stumbling block to the very people they are trying to reach. Conversely, when people see that the messenger is trustworthy, humble, and consistent, they are more likely to consider the truth of the message. Integrity is not perfection, but it is transparency, accountability, and a heart that seeks to please God above all.

The Apostle Paul is a profound example of holiness and integrity in mission. In *1 Thessalonians 2:3–5*, he writes, "For the appeal we make does not spring from error or impure motives, nor are we trying to trick you. On the contrary, we speak as those approved by God to be entrusted with the gospel... We were not looking for praise from people." Paul emphasizes that his ministry was marked by pure motives, honest speech, and a desire to honor God, not himself. This kind of integrity gave weight to his words and legitimacy to his mission. Moreover, Paul did not only preach holiness to others—he pursued it personally. In *1 Corinthians 9:27*, he says, "I discipline my body and keep it under control, lest after preaching to others I myself should be disqualified." Holiness and integrity are not optional accessories in ministry—they are core qualifications and spiritual safeguards.

In today's global and digital age, where ministers and missionaries operate under both opportunity and scrutiny, the need for holiness and integrity has never been greater. Scandals and moral failures can discredit entire ministries and turn people away from the gospel. Therefore, churches, mission organizations, and evangelistic teams must cultivate leaders who are not only gifted but also godly. Accountability, repentance, and spiritual discipline must be central to all Christian service. As 2 Timothy 2:21 reminds us, "Those who cleanse themselves... will be instruments for special purposes, made holy, useful to the Master and prepared to do any good work." The message of salvation is holy, and it must be carried by those whose lives reflect the holiness of the God they represent. When holiness and integrity are woven into the fabric of ministry, the result is not only fruitfulness but also lasting impact that brings glory to Christ and draws others into His light.

# Servant of God and Others

Even though Jesus Christ is truly the King of Kings, He did not come to be served but rather He served others to set the example for us to do what is pleasing to God.

Jesus came into this world to set the example for us, by being a servant towards the needs of others; He wants us to follow and do the same: We should never serve out of compulsion but because we desire to freely give the same love to others that He has given to us.

Those who aspire to become a leader must always be a servant of all.

This mindset of servant leadership is at the heart of the gospel and reflects the true character of Christ. True greatness in God's kingdom is not measured by status, power, or recognition, but by humility, compassion, and the willingness to put others first. When we serve others with a sincere heart, we demonstrate God's love in action and bring glory to Him. Just as Jesus washed the feet of His disciples, we too are called to lay aside pride and self-interest in order to uplift and care for those around us.

Luke 22:27 ( Jesus said ) " ... But I am among you as the One who serves."

**Galatians 5:13,14** " For you were called to freedom, brethren: only do not turn your freedom into an opportunity for the flesh, **but through Love serve one another.** For the whole Law is fulfilled in one word, in the statement, 'You shall Love your neighbor as yourself.'

**Matthew 12:26 Jesus said,**" If anyone serves Me, let him follow Me; and where I am, there shall My servant also be; if anyone serves Me, the Father will honor him."

As Christians, we are instructed in God's word to be servants who are alert, faithful, and sensible in accomplishing the will of God and fulfilling certain responsibilities as He has commanded us. If we are faithful to love and serve one another as Jesus Christ loved us, God promises us that our lives will be blessed.

**Matthew 24:46,47** " Blessed is the servant whom his master finds so doing when He comes. Truly I say to you, that He will put him in charge of all his possessions."

**Matthew 25:23** " His master said to him, Well done, good and faithful servant; You have been faithful in a few things, therefore I will put you in charge of many things; enter into the joy of your master."

As Christians, none of us can serve two masters; in other words, we must serve God as the priority of our life, we cannot be self serving, with selfish ambition as we attempt to serve God at the same time.

**Luke 16:13** " No servant can serve two masters; for either he will hate the one, and love the other, or else he will hold to one, and despise the other. You cannot serve God and mammon." ( Riches )

Luke 22:26 "...Let him who the greatest among you become as the youngest, and the leader as the servant."

Mark 9:35 " And sitting down, He ( Jesus ) called the twelve together and said to them, ' If any man wants to be first, let him be last of all, and servant of all.

If you desire to be great in God's Kingdom throughout eternity, then you need to serve the needs of others in this lifetime, as God's directs you.

**Matthew 23:10-12** " And do not be called leaders; for One is your Leader, that is Christ; Therefore the greatest among you, shall be your servant. And whoever exalts himself shall be humbled and whoever humbles himself shall be exalted."

**Mark 10:43-45** But it is not so among you, but whoever wishes to become great among you shall be your servant;

10:44 and whoever wishes to be first among you shall be slave of all.

10:45 For even the Son of Man did not come to be served, but to serve, and give His life a ransom for many.

John 13:5 -17 (AKJV) After that He (Jesus) pours water into a basin, and began to wash the disciples 'feet, and to wipe them with the towel with which he was girded. 6Then comes he to Simon Peter: and Peter says to him, Lord, do you wash my feet? 7Jesus answered and said to him, What I do you know not now; but you shall know hereafter. 8Peter says to him, You shall never wash my feet. Jesus answered him, If I wash you not, you have no part with me. 9Simon Peter says to him, Lord, not my feet only, but also my hands and my head. 10Jesus says to him, He that is washed needs not save to wash his feet, but is clean every whit: and you are clean, but not all. 11For he knew who should betray him; therefore said he, You are not all clean.

12So after he had washed their feet, and had taken his garments, and was set down again, he said to them, Know you what I have done to you? 13You call me Master and Lord: and you say well; for so I am. 14If I then, your Lord and Master, have washed your feet; you also ought to wash one another's feet. 15For I have given you an example, that you should do as I have done to you. 16Truly, truly, I say to you, The servant is not greater than his lord; neither he that is sent greater than he that sent him. 17If you know these things, happy are you if you do them. To be a servant of God and others is to embrace a profound calling that finds its roots in the very character of Jesus Christ. The Bible, from Old Testament to New, teaches that all Christians should have a servant's heart, urging believers to mirror the selfless and servant-hearted nature of our Savior. This means that we should serve and minister to one another addressing the needs of others with the Love of Jesus Christ..

The gospel of Mark succinctly captures the essence of servanthood in the words of Jesus Himself. In Mark 10:45, Jesus declares that He came not to be served but to serve and give His life as a ransom for many. This foundational truth becomes a cornerstone for every believer seeking to emulate the heart of Christ.

In the Old Testament, we encounter the exemplary servant-heartedness of figures like Abraham. In Genesis 18, Abraham extends hospitality to three strangers, unaware that they are divine visitors. This act of service becomes a testament to the intrinsic link between serving others and encountering the divine.

The apostle Paul, in his letters, provides a rich tapestry of teachings on servanthood. In Galatians 5:13, he emphasizes the call to serve one another in love, highlighting the inseparable connection between love and genuine service. This sentiment is echoed in Philippians 2:3-4, where believers are encouraged to consider others above themselves, mirroring the humility of Christ.

The Gospel of John, in depicting Jesus washing the disciples' feet, serves as a poignant visual of servanthood. In John 13:14-15, Jesus articulates the significance of this act, urging His followers to follow His example in humbly serving one another.

The parables shared by Jesus further illuminate the ethos of servanthood. The parable of the Good Samaritan in Luke 10:30-37 exemplifies selfless service irrespective of cultural or societal boundaries. This narrative challenges believers to broaden their understanding of neighbor and embody compassion in action.

Being a servant of God and others is not confined to grand gestures; it permeates the everyday choices and interactions of life. Romans 12:11 calls believers to serve the Lord fervently in whatever they do, emphasizing the holistic nature of servanthood.

Ultimately, the role of a servant is deeply intertwined with love. In Galatians 5:22-23, the fruits of the Spirit include love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control. These virtues, when cultivated, naturally lead to a life of service to God and others.

In conclusion, to be a servant of God and others is to embody the very essence of Christ's teachings. It transcends duty and transforms into a way of life – a life marked by love, humility, and a heart that seeks to serve others with the same sacrificial love demonstrated by the ultimate Servant, Jesus Christ.

The call to be a servant is not a mere task or obligation; it is an invitation to participate in the redemptive work of God in the world. The apostle Peter, in his first epistle, speaks directly to the concept of servanthood. In 1 Peter 4:10-11, believers are encouraged to use their gifts to serve others, recognizing that in doing so, they steward God's grace in its various forms.

Jesus, in Matthew 25:31-46, presents a vivid image of the final judgment, emphasizing the correlation between serving others and serving Him. The righteous are commended for their acts of service, demonstrating that when believers serve those in need, they are, in fact, serving Christ Himself.

The New Testament epistles consistently echo the theme of humble service. James, in James 1:27, defines pure and faultless religion as looking after orphans and widows in their distress. This mirrors the heart of God, who cares deeply for the marginalized and vulnerable.

The early Christian community, as depicted in the book of Acts, provides a compelling model of servanthood. Acts 2:44-45 portrays the believers as having everything in common, selling their possessions, and giving to those in need. This radical generosity and communal living embody the essence of being servants of God and others.

The foundational commandment to love one's neighbor as oneself, reiterated by Jesus in Matthew 22:39, encapsulates the essence of servanthood. When believers extend love, kindness, and practical help to their neighbors, they fulfill this fundamental directive.

Servanthood also extends to leadership within the Christian community. In Mark 10:42-45, Jesus contrasts the leadership styles of the world with the servant leadership expected among His followers. True leadership, according to Jesus, involves being a servant to others, mirroring His own sacrificial example.

The apostle John, in 1 John 3:16-18, underscores the connection between love, action, and servanthood. Believers are challenged not to love with words alone but with deeds and in truth. True servanthood involves tangible expressions of love that meet the practical needs of others.

In essence, to be a servant of God and others is to live out the principles and teachings found throughout the entirety of Scripture. It is a lifestyle that flows from an understanding of God's love and grace, compelling believers to extend that love to those around them. This comprehensive approach to servanthood encompasses both spiritual and practical dimensions, reflecting the holistic nature of God's transformative work in the lives of His people.

The principle that if any man desires to be a leader, he must be a servant of all is a foundational concept taught by Jesus Himself. This profound idea is found in Mark 10:42-45, where Jesus addresses His disciples' ambitions for positions of authority. Instead of promoting a worldly model of leadership marked by dominance and control, Jesus introduces a revolutionary perspective.

In this passage, Jesus contrasts the leadership style of the Gentiles, characterized by rulers lording over their subjects, with the approach expected of His followers. He states unequivocally in Mark 10:43-44 (NIV): "Not so with you. Instead, whoever wants to become great among you must be your servant, and whoever wants to be first must be Serve One AnotherThe model of servant-leadership that Jesus presents is not one of weakness but of strength under control. It's a leadership style that values the well-being of others above personal advancement. This concept is echoed in Philippians 2:3-8, where believers are encouraged to have the same mindset as Christ, who humbled Himself and became obedient to the point of death on a cross.

Practically, the idea of servant-leadership means being attuned to the needs of those being led, fostering a culture of collaboration and mutual support, and prioritizing the growth and development of others. A servant-leader is not preoccupied with titles or status but with the flourishing of the individuals under their care.

This biblical principle has profound implications for various spheres of leadership, including the church, the workplace, and the family. It challenges leaders to assess their motives, check their egos, and ensure that their leadership is characterized by humility and service.

In summary, the concept that if any man desires to be a leader, he must be a servant of all is a counter-cultural and transformative paradigm introduced by Jesus. It redirects our understanding of leadership away from self-centered pursuits toward a Christlike model characterized by humility, service, and sacrificial love.

# Serve One Another

# Text: Galatians 5:13-14 (AKJV):

"For, brothers, you have been called to liberty; only use not liberty for an occasion to the flesh, but by love serve one another. 14For all the law is fulfilled in one word, even in this; You shall love your neighbor as yourself. 15But if you bite and devour one another, take heed that you be not consumed one of another."

#### Introduction: The Call to Serve One Another

In Galatians 5:13-14, the apostle Paul addresses a critical aspect of the Christian life—freedom and service. After explaining in earlier chapters the believer's freedom in Christ, Paul emphasizes that this freedom is not a license for self-indulgence or selfishness, but rather an opportunity to love and serve others. The paradox of Christian liberty is that it does not lead to autonomy or self-centeredness but directs believers to humble service in love. The focus of this commentary will explore what it means to serve one another in love, how this service fulfills the law of Christ, and why it is essential to the flourishing of the Christian community.

# 1. The Biblical Understanding of Freedom

#### 1.1 Freedom in Christ

Paul's instruction on serving one another comes in the context of Christian liberty. In Galatians 5:1, Paul writes, "Stand fast therefore in the liberty wherewith Christ has made us free, and be not entangled again with the yoke of bondage." The freedom that Christians experience through faith in Jesus Christ is freedom from the law's condemnation, sin's power, and the oppressive demands of legalism. This freedom is not an invitation to do whatever one pleases, but rather a call to live according to God's will, empowered by the Holy Spirit, to serve God and one another.

Jesus Himself spoke about freedom in John 8:36, "If the Son therefore shall make you free, you shall be free indeed." Freedom in Christ is liberation from sin and its consequences, but also freedom to love, serve, and live in accordance with God's desires.

#### 1.2 Freedom Not for the Flesh

Paul warns the Galatians not to use their freedom as an excuse for indulging in the flesh (Galatians 5:13). The "flesh" here refers to sinful desires and behaviors that are opposed to God's holiness. Freedom in Christ is not a freedom to live selfishly, but a freedom to live for God and others. The believer is no longer a slave to sin but is now free to serve others in love.

#### 2. The Heart of Service: Love

# 2.1 Serving Through Love

The call to "serve one another by love" (Galatians 5:13) is the cornerstone of the Christian ethic. Paul insists that the motive for service must be love. Christian service is not about duty or obligation, but about expressing the love that God has shown to us in Christ. Love is the driving force behind every act of service that honors God. Jesus Himself modeled this kind of sacrificial love when He washed His disciples 'feet (John 13:14-15) and ultimately laid down His life for humanity (John 15:13).

This love is not limited to those who love us in return; rather, it is unconditional and selfless. The command to love others, even enemies, is central to the Christian gospel and demonstrates the transformative power of God's love in the believer's heart (Matthew 5:44).

### 2.2 The Law of Christ

In verse 14, Paul declares that "all the law is fulfilled in one word, even in this; Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself." This refers to the commandment found in Leviticus 19:18, which Jesus reaffirmed as the second greatest commandment, alongside loving God with all one's heart (Matthew 22:37-39). The "law of Christ" encompasses these two commandments: to love God with all our being and to love our neighbor as ourselves. These are the foundational principles that guide the Christian life and community.

Loving one's neighbor as oneself means not only having empathy and compassion for others but actively seeking their well-being. It calls believers to step outside of their own interests and preferences to serve others in practical and sacrificial ways.

### 3. The Practical Outworking of Service

#### 3.1 Serving One Another in the Body of Christ

Serving one another is a vital expression of Christian community. The apostle Paul emphasizes the importance of mutual service in the body of Christ in passages such as 1 Corinthians 12:4-7, where he compares the church to a body with many parts, each working together for the benefit of the whole. Every believer has been gifted by the Holy Spirit to contribute to the edification of the body through service.

In this context, service involves both the use of spiritual gifts (1 Peter 4:10) and the practical acts of love and care for one another. Whether through encouragement, teaching, hospitality, or providing for others 'needs, service is the means by which Christians demonstrate their love for each other and build up the church.

# 3.2 Serving in the World

While serving within the body of Christ is essential, Christians are also called to serve the broader world. Jesus demonstrated this by reaching out to the marginalized, healing the sick, and showing compassion to the poor and oppressed. The Apostle Paul also encouraged believers to engage in good works for the common good, saying in Galatians 6:10, "As we have therefore opportunity, let us do good unto all men, especially unto them who are of the household of faith."

Serving others in the world may involve acts of kindness, standing for justice, working toward the alleviation of suffering, or sharing the gospel with those who have not yet heard it. In all of these actions, believers serve not only the immediate needs of others but also demonstrate the love of Christ to a watching world.

# 4. The Transformative Power of Serving One Another

#### 4.1 The Reward of Serving

Serving others in love does not go unnoticed by God. In Mark 9:41, Jesus says, "For whoever shall give you a cup of water to drink in my name, because you belong to Christ, truly I say to you, he shall not lose his reward." While the primary motivation for service is love, the promise of God's reward provides encouragement for believers to persevere in serving others.

#### **4.2 Becoming More Like Christ**

Serving others in love also transforms the believer. As we serve, we become more like Christ, who Himself came "not to be served, but to serve" (Mark 10:45). Serving others humbles the heart, challenges selfishness, and fosters compassion and empathy. It is a key part of the sanctification process, as believers grow in Christlikeness and reflect His love to the world.

#### Conclusion: The Call and Freedom to Serve

Galatians 5:13-14 reveals a profound truth: true Christian freedom is not a freedom to live for oneself, but a freedom to live for others in love. The call to serve one another is a call to imitate Christ, who gave Himself for the world. This service is the outworking of love, fulfilling the law of Christ, and is a powerful witness to the world of God's transformative grace.

May we, as the body of Christ, live in such a way that our freedom leads to humble service, that we serve one another in love, and that we reflect God's love in every act of kindness, care, and humility. In doing so, we fulfill the law of Christ and bring glory to God.

# Be Doers of God's Word, Not Just Hearers

**Scripture:** James 1:22-25 (AKJV) "But be you doers of the word, and not hearers only, deceiving your own selves. 23For if any be a hearer of the word, and not a doer, he is like to a man beholding his natural face in a glass: 24For he beholds himself, and goes his way, and straightway forgets what manner of man he was. 25But whoever looks into the perfect law of liberty, and continues therein, he being not a forgetful hearer, but a doer of the work, this man shall be blessed in his deed."

The exhortation to be doers of God's Word, not just hearers, is a fundamental principle of our faith in Jesus Christ. It emphasizes the importance of applying the teachings of Scripture to our lives and living them out in practical obedience. As followers of Christ, we are called not only to hear God's Word but also to act upon it, allowing it to transform us from the inside out. Jesus is the living word of God so when we do what he instructs in his word we are fulfilling the will of God. Everyone one of us is called to love as Jesus loved us, and God's divine love is intended to be demonstrated in deed and truth.

James, in his epistle, warns against the deception of merely listening to the Word without putting it into practice. He compares such individuals to someone who looks at their reflection in a mirror but forgets what they look like as soon as they turn away. Just as a mirror reveals our physical appearance, the Word of God reveals the condition of our hearts and points us to the truth. However, if we fail to apply what we have heard, we deceive ourselves and miss out on the blessings that come from obedience.

True obedience to God's Word involves more than just outward conformity; it requires a genuine transformation of the heart and a commitment to live according to God's principles. Jesus emphasized the importance of obedience in Matthew 7:24-27, likening those who hear His words and put them into practice to a wise builder who constructs their house on a solid foundation. Such individuals withstand the storms of life, while those who hear but do not obey are like a house built on sand, vulnerable to destruction. Furthermore, being doers of God's Word is evidence of a living faith. James 2:17 declares, "faith by itself, if it is not accompanied by action, is dead." Our obedience to God's commands is an expression of our love for Him and our desire to honor Him with our lives. As we obey His Word, we experience His blessings and walk in the abundant life that He has promised.

In conclusion, being doers of God's Word requires intentionality, humility, and perseverance. It involves aligning our thoughts, attitudes, and actions with the teachings of Scripture and allowing the Holy Spirit to work in us to produce fruit that glorifies God. May we not only hear the Word but also put it into practice, living as faithful disciples of Jesus Christ and bearing witness to His transforming power in our lives.

# Go the Extra Mile

Text: Matthew 5:38-42 (AKJV):

"You have heard that it has been said, An eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth: 39But I say to you, That you resist not evil: but whoever shall smite you on your right cheek, turn to him the other also. 40And if any man will sue you at the law, and take away your coat, let him have your cloak also. 41And whoever shall compel you to go a mile, go with him two. 42Give to him that asks you, and from him that would borrow of you turn not you away.

#### Introduction: The Call to Go the Extra Mile

In the midst of the Sermon on the Mount, Jesus challenges His followers with a radical teaching about responding to wrongdoing and injustice. The command to "go the extra mile" comes in a series of instructions where Jesus overturns conventional wisdom and societal norms. His teaching presents an ethic of love, forgiveness, and sacrificial service that defies the natural human tendency to seek vengeance or retaliate in kind.

In Matthew 5:38-42, Jesus expands upon the law of retribution, which is rooted in the Old Testament principle of "an eye for an eye" (Exodus 21:24). However, Jesus introduces a countercultural approach: not merely to avoid retaliation, but to actively love, serve, and even sacrifice for those who wrong us. "Going the extra mile" is not just about being generous, but about demonstrating a Christ-like heart in the face of injustice.

This commentary will explore the meaning of "going the extra mile," the context in which it was spoken, and how this teaching applies to the life of a believer today.

# 1. The Context of "Going the Extra Mile"

#### 1.1 The Roman Custom: A Forced Mile

The phrase "go with him twain" (Matthew 5:41) refers to a specific practice in first-century Palestine, particularly under Roman occupation. Roman soldiers had the legal right to compel a Jewish citizen to carry their gear for a mile. This was a form of forced labor that many Jews resented, as it symbolized the oppression of the Roman Empire. The law required that a person could only be compelled to carry a burden for one mile, and anything beyond that was voluntary.

In this context, when Jesus instructs His followers to go "twain" (two miles) when forced to carry a Roman soldier's pack, He is calling them to demonstrate an extraordinary attitude of grace and love. Instead of begrudgingly fulfilling the legal requirement of one mile, Jesus invites His followers to willingly exceed expectations by going further than what is required, thereby turning an act of oppression into one of kindness.

### 1.2 The Law of Retaliation: Eye for an Eye

Jesus begins this teaching by addressing the common understanding of the law, "An eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth" (Matthew 5:38). This principle, rooted in the Old

Testament (Leviticus 24:20), was meant to limit vengeance, ensuring that retaliation was proportional to the offense. However, by the time of Jesus, it had become a legal tool for seeking personal revenge, rather than a guide for justice.

Jesus challenges this interpretation by commanding His followers not to resist an evil person (Matthew 5:39). He calls them to respond with grace, turning the other cheek, and going beyond the requirements of the law in every situation, including those where they are wronged. This is not passivity, but an active decision to choose love over retaliation.

# 2. The Radical Love of "Going the Extra Mile"

#### 2.1 A Life of Non-retaliation

To "resist not evil" (Matthew 5:39) may sound counterintuitive in a world that often demands an eye for an eye. However, Jesus' command is not about passivity in the face of injustice or enabling wrongdoing. Rather, He is calling His followers to refuse to allow personal grievances and offenses to dictate their actions. By refusing to retaliate, Christians break the cycle of vengeance that perpetuates hatred and division.

Going the extra mile is a demonstration of radical love. In this, Jesus is teaching His followers to love in a way that mirrors the love of God—unmerited, sacrificial, and not based on the behavior of others. As God has shown mercy to us, we are to show mercy to others, even to those who treat us unjustly.

# 2.2 The Spiritual Impact of Non-Violent Resistance

"Going the extra mile" can also be seen as a form of non-violent resistance. By offering more than what is demanded, the believer places the burden of grace on the oppressor, challenging the status quo and opening the door to transformation. This mirrors the example of Christ, who responded to the violence of the world with the power of love, ultimately overcoming sin and death by His sacrificial death on the cross.

In times of conflict, responding with generosity and humility may not immediately change the situation, but it has the potential to change hearts and minds, leading others to reconsider their actions and to witness the love of Christ in us.

#### 2.3 Going Beyond Expectations

The principle of "going the extra mile" extends beyond the specific historical context of Roman soldiers. It applies to everyday life: to the relationships, conflicts, and challenges we face in our communities, workplaces, and homes. Jesus calls us to exceed expectations in all areas of life—not out of obligation, but as an expression of our love for God and for others.

When we as Christians bless others and fulfill their requests, and go beyond their exceptions, this is great testimony of the love of Jesus Christ. Many non-believers desire to know more about Jesus Christ and why we all need Jesus to saved as their lord and Savior by witnessing our actions blessings others more than the norm of society.

Going the extra mile is about showing love in ways that surprise and disarm. It's not just fulfilling basic obligations, but offering something extra—an act of kindness, patience, or generosity that reflects the heart of God. In doing so, we point others to the radical love that Christ has shown us.

# 3. Practical Ways to "Go the Extra Mile"

# 3.1 Responding to Offense with Grace

When someone wrongs us, we often want to seek revenge or justice. Jesus calls us to take a different approach—to respond with grace and generosity. This can be as simple as offering a kind word instead of a harsh retort, or as radical as forgiving someone who has hurt us deeply, without holding it against them.

By responding to offense with grace, we follow the example of Christ, who, despite being unjustly persecuted, prayed for His enemies and forgave those who crucified Him.

# 3.2 Serving Others Beyond Expectation

Going the extra mile can also manifest in acts of service. For example, in the workplace, we might go above and beyond our duties, not out of a desire for recognition, but to serve others well. In our families, we might sacrifice our own time or comfort to support our loved ones in ways that go beyond what is expected of us.

This is a form of love that reflects Christ's sacrificial love for us. Just as He laid down His life for our sake, we are called to serve others with the same selflessness.

# 3.3 Giving Generously

Jesus 'teaching also touches on generosity: "Give to him that asketh thee, and from him that would borrow of thee turn not thou away" (Matthew 5:42). Going the extra mile can include giving when it is inconvenient or when the recipient cannot repay us. Whether through financial support, time, or emotional investment, Jesus calls us to open our hearts and hands to others without expecting anything in return.

# 4. The Ultimate Purpose: Reflecting the Love of Christ

The ultimate purpose of going the extra mile is to reflect the love and character of Christ. By responding to injustice with grace, exceeding expectations with service, and giving generously, we reveal the nature of our Savior to a world that desperately needs it. Jesus calls us to be agents of change in the world—not through force or power, but through love, humility, and sacrifice.

In Matthew 5:16, Jesus says, "Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven." When we go the extra mile, we are not seeking our own glory, but pointing others to the glory of God.

# **Conclusion: Living the Radical Love of Christ**

"Going the extra mile" is a call to live out the radical, sacrificial love of Christ in our everyday lives. It is about responding to others with grace, generosity, and humility, even when we are wronged or taken advantage of. In doing so, we not only demonstrate the love of God but invite others to experience it as well.

As believers, we are called to reflect Christ in every interaction and to live in such a way that our actions reveal the transforming power of His love. May we go beyond what is required, going the extra mile to serve others, to forgive, and to love, so that through us, God's light may shine in a dark world.

# Let Your Light Shine

Text: Matthew 5:14-16 (AKJV):

"You are the light of the world. A city that is set on an hill cannot be hid. 15Neither do men light a candle, and put it under a bushel, but on a candlestick; and it gives light to all that are in the house. 16Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven.."

# Introduction: The Call to Let Your Light Shine

In this passage from the Sermon on the Mount, Jesus offers a powerful exhortation to His followers: "Let your light shine before men." These words are part of His broader teaching on what it means to live as a citizen of the Kingdom of God, to reflect His holiness, and to be a witness to the world. The imagery of light is rich throughout Scripture, symbolizing purity, truth, and the presence of God. By calling His disciples the "light of the world," Jesus is not only highlighting their role in bringing His truth to others, but also the responsibility they bear in living out their faith visibly and publicly. This commentary will explore the meaning of being the light of the world, how we can let our light shine, and the ultimate purpose behind this call to visibility and action. Reflecting the nature of Jesus Christ in our daily lives, is being the light of the world.

### 1. Understanding the Light

#### 1.1 Light in Biblical Symbolism

In Scripture, light is frequently used to symbolize God's presence, holiness, and truth. From the very beginning of creation, God's first command was, "Let there be light!" (Genesis 1:3), and throughout the Bible, light is a metaphor for divine revelation. Psalm 27:1 declares, "The Lord is my light and my salvation; whom shall I fear?" Similarly, in John 8:12, Jesus calls Himself, "the light of the world."

Light in the Bible represents several things:

- **God's Revelation**: Light reveals what is hidden in darkness. In this way, God's truth and wisdom dispel ignorance and sin.
- **Holiness and Purity**: Light is often contrasted with darkness, symbolizing purity in opposition to sin and corruption (1 John 1:5).
- **Guidance and Direction**: As a source of illumination, light also represents guidance. Psalm 119:105 says, "Thy word is a lamp unto my feet, and a light unto my path."

As believers, we are called to reflect the light of God's truth and holiness into a dark world.

# 1.2 Jesus, the Light of the World

Before He tells His followers that they are the light of the world, Jesus declares that He is the Light. In John 8:12, Jesus says, "Then spoke Jesus again to them, saying, I am the light of the world: he that follows me shall not walk in darkness, but shall have the light of life." Jesus is the ultimate source of light, and His life, death, and resurrection reveal the fullness of God's love, truth, and salvation.

It is only because of Christ that we can be light to others. In John 1:4-9, it is written: "In him was life; and the life was the light of men. And the light shineth in darkness; and the darkness comprehended it not."

Jesus, as the Light of the world, illuminates the path to God. As His followers, we are called to share this light with others.

# 2. The Role of Believers as the Light of the World

#### 2.1 A City on a Hill

Jesus states, "You are the light of the world. A city that is set on an hill cannot be hid. 15Neither do men light a candle, and put it under a bushel, but on a candlestick; and it gives light to all that are in the house. 16Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven." (Matthew 5:14-16). This powerful image emphasizes the visibility of the believer's life. A city set on a hill is visible from far away, its light shining brightly in the darkness. In the same way, the life of a Christian should be conspicuous and distinct in a fallen world.

This visible presence is not for self-promotion or for the praise of men, but for the glory of God. The world is in darkness, and our light is meant to guide them toward the truth of the gospel. As Christians, our conduct, speech, and actions should reflect the transformative power of Christ in our lives, making us like a beacon of hope in a broken world.

# 2.2 The Purpose of Our Light

Jesus continues by saying, "Neither do men light a candle, and put it under a bushel, but on a candlestick, and it giveth light unto all that are in the house" (Matthew 5:15). The purpose of a light is to be seen and to dispel darkness. Just as a lamp is placed on a stand to provide light to the entire house, believers are to let their lives shine publicly, so that others may see their good works and glorify God.

This highlights the fact that the light we carry is not for our own benefit or to elevate our own status. It is meant to shine in such a way that others are led to glorify God. Jesus calls us to let our light shine through acts of goodness, kindness, and righteousness that reflect God's love and truth. Our light is meant to be a witness to the world of the glory and grace of God.

# 2.3 The Light of Good Works

Jesus specifically connects our good works to our light shining in the world. In Matthew 5:16, He says, "Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven." Our works are the fruit of our faith and the evidence of Christ's presence in our lives. These works are not a means to earn God's favor, but the natural outflow of a life transformed by His grace.

Good works can take many forms, such as acts of service, charity, kindness, and justice. However, the key to these works is that they point others toward God, leading them to recognize His goodness and glorify Him. Our actions should reflect the love, mercy, and compassion of Christ, revealing the heart of the Father to a world that desperately needs His light.

# 3. Practical Ways to Let Your Light Shine

# 3.1 Living a Godly Life in the World

One of the most basic ways to let your light shine is through living a life that is distinct from the darkness of the world. This includes avoiding sin and embracing holiness in every aspect of life—relationships, work, entertainment, and personal habits. As Paul exhorts in Philippians 2:15, "That you may be blameless and harmless, the sons of God, without rebuke, in the middle of a crooked and perverse nation, among whom you shine as lights in the world;"

The world should notice a difference in the way we speak, act, and respond to challenges. Our lives should be a testimony to the transforming power of the gospel.

#### 3.2 Speaking the Truth in Love

Letting your light shine also involves boldly sharing the truth of the gospel with others. This doesn't necessarily mean preaching to everyone we meet but living and speaking in such a way that others can see the hope and peace that we have in Christ. The apostle Peter encourages believers in 1 Peter 3:15, "But sanctify the Lord God in your hearts: and be ready always to give an answer to every man that asketh you a reason of the hope that is in you with meekness and fear."

By sharing the hope we have in Christ, we point others to the ultimate Light, the source of our transformation.

### 3.3 Serving Others with Christlike Compassion

Serving others is another powerful way to let your light shine. Whether through acts of kindness, social justice work, or caring for the needy, our service reflects the heart of

Christ. Matthew 25:35-40 teaches that when we serve others, especially the least among us, we are serving Christ Himself.

Through our acts of service, we bring God's light into the darkness of human suffering, offering hope, comfort, and tangible assistance to those in need.

# 4. The Ultimate Purpose: Glorifying God

The ultimate purpose of letting our light shine is not self-promotion but to bring glory to God. Jesus says, "Let your light so shine before men, that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in heaven." (Matthew 5:16).

Our good works, when done in humility and love, point others to the greatness and goodness of God. Our light is a reflection of God's light, and as such, it should lead others to worship and honor Him. The Apostle Peter echoes this in 1 Peter 2:12, "Having your conversation honest among the Gentiles: that, whereas they speak against you as evildoers, they may by your good works, which they shall behold, glorify God in the day of visitation."

Our lives are to be a testimony of God's grace, leading others to acknowledge His work in us and to give Him praise.

# **Conclusion: Shining the Light of Christ**

To "let your light shine" is to live in such a way that the light of Christ in us is visible to the world. It is a call to live with integrity, love, humility, and service, so that through our actions and words, others may be drawn to the truth of the gospel and the glory of God. Our light is not our own but is a reflection of the divine light that has transformed our lives. By living as a city set on a hill, we testify to the power of Christ and invite others to come to Him.

May we faithfully shine as lights in a dark world, always pointing others to Jesus (Yeshua) our Savior, and glorifying our Father in heaven in all that we do.

# Charity / Giving To Those In Need

This word has several clear and distinct meanings, many of which can be found in various scripture verses of the Bible. The most significant meanings include:

- 1. Love, kindness, and goodwill, particularly toward our neighbors;
- 2. Generosity and compassion for the poor and suffering, commonly referred to as almsgiving.

Christians should always be charitable and be very giving towards the support of those in need both within the church as well as towards non-christians.

God loves those whom are cheerful givers, who give willingly and expect nothing in return; God abundantly blesses those whom have a kind and generous heart.

# **Isaiah 58:6-7** (AKJV)

" Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that you break every yoke? 7Is it not to deal your bread to the hungry, and that you bring the poor that are cast out to your house? when you see the naked, that you cover him; and that you hide not yourself from your own flesh?"

#### Introduction:

Charity, often synonymous with love in the Scriptures, stands as a cornerstone of the Christian faith. Having a Christlike charitable heart of giving one's time and resources to those in need is a significant aspect of our Christian walk. We should joyfully give to various needed causes to glorify God and not ourselves, therefore we should give in secret whenever possible and not in a boastful way. As disciples of Jesus Christ we should likewise give unselfishly without expecting anything in return. God does reward those who give, but more in spiritual abundance and blessings rather than in a monetary increase. While God does prospers his people both spiritually and sometimes also materially, we should beware of the false prosperity doctrines that have enter some churches.

Matthew 6:1-4 (AKJV) "Take heed that you do not your alms before men, to be seen of them: otherwise you have no reward of your Father which is in heaven. 2Therefore when you do your alms, do not sound a trumpet before you, as the hypocrites do in the synagogues and in the streets, that they may have glory of men. Truly I say to you, They have their reward. 3But when you do alms, let not your left hand know what your right hand does: 4That your alms may be in secret: and your Father which sees in secret himself shall reward you openly."

#### The Biblical Foundation of Charity:

The Bible defines charity not merely as a sentimental feeling but as a selfless, sacrificial act. The apostle Paul beautifully articulates the essence of charity in 1 Corinthians 13:4-7, describing it as patient, kind, not envious or boastful, and always seeking the well-being of others. Jesus, in the parable of the Good Samaritan (Luke 10:25-37), exemplifies charity as extending compassion and aid to those in need, transcending cultural and societal boundaries.

#### **Charity in Action:**

Charity is not merely a thoughtful concern to be understood but a virtue to be practiced. James 2:14-17 challenges us as Christians to demonstrate our faith through deeds of charity, emphasizing that true faith is alive and active. The compassionate acts of charity

go beyond meeting physical needs; they also touch the deepest recesses of the human soul, reflecting the love of Christ.

# The Example of Christ:

The epitome of charity is found in the life, death, and resurrection of Jesus Christ. John 15:13 declares, "Greater love has no one than this, that someone lay down his life for his friends." Jesus not only taught about love but exemplified it through His sacrificial death on the cross. His life serves as the ultimate model for believers to emulate in their practice of charity.

# **Charity as an Expression of Gratitude:**

Our acts of charity are not only a response to God's love but also a reflection of our gratitude for the grace we have received. 1 John 4:19 encapsulates this truth: "We love because he first loved us." Charity, therefore, becomes a tangible expression of our love for God and a demonstration of His love working through us to impact the lives of those around us.

# The Eternal Impact of Charity:

The Scriptures emphasize the eternal impact of acts of charity. In Matthew 25:34-40, Jesus describes how acts of kindness, such as feeding the hungry and clothing the naked, are tantamount to serving Him. The enduring nature of charity lies not only in its immediate effects but also in the lasting legacy it leaves in the hearts and lives of those touched by its grace.

# The Heart of Charity:

At the core of Christian charity is a heart transformed by God's love. Galatians 5:22-23 describes the fruit of the Spirit, with love (agape) being the first listed. This divine love, exemplified in the life of Christ, becomes the wellspring from which genuine charity flows. As disciples of Jesus Christ, we should develop a heart of love, where acts of charity become a natural outpouring of the indwelling Spirit.

#### **Charity in Relationships:**

Christian charity is manifested in our interactions with others, both within and outside the faith community. 1 Peter 4:8 encourages us to "above all, keep loving one another earnestly, since love covers a multitude of sins." Caring for the needs of others around us. This love, characterized by forgiveness and compassion, creates a unity that testifies to the transformative power of Christ in our lives.

#### **Charity in Generosity:**

The Bible calls believers to be generous with their resources, sharing with those in need. 2 Corinthians 9:7 emphasizes cheerful giving, highlighting the principle that God loves a cheerful giver. Acts of charity, whether in financial support, time, or talents, become a tangible expression of gratitude for God's abundant provision and an acknowledgment of our stewardship responsibilities.

#### **Charity in Action:**

Christian charity is not passive but actively seeks to address the needs of others. Jesus, in Matthew 5:42, encourages giving to those who ask and not turning away from those

who want to borrow. Acts of charity, when performed with a Christlike attitude, mirror the compassionate heart of our Savior, creating opportunities for the Gospel to be shared through our actions.

# **Charity as a Witness:**

Christian charity serves as a powerful witness to the world. In John 13:35, Jesus declares, "By this all people will know that you are my disciples, if you have love for one another." A lifestyle of charity, marked by love and compassion, becomes a compelling testimony that draws others to the redemptive love of Christ.

# **Charity to your Neighbor and Strangers:**

The parable of the Good Samaritan (Luke 10:25-37) challenges us to show love to all, as we able and as God directs our hearts especially to those in need. Charity is an attribute of the nature of Christ's love.

# **Charity Beyond Expectations:**

The Gospel challenges believers to go beyond societal norms and expectations in demonstrating charity. In Matthew 5:46-47, Jesus asks, "For if you love those who love you, what reward do you have? Do not even the tax collectors do the same?" Christian charity surpasses conventional boundaries, embracing a love that mirrors the unconditional nature of God's love for us.

# **Charity as a Reflection of God's Character:**

Ultimately, Christian charity is a reflection of God's character. 1 John 4:16 declares, "So we have come to know and to believe the love that God has for us. God is love, and anyone who abides in love abides in God, and God abides in them." As we engage in acts of charity, we mirror the very nature of God, who is the source and embodiment of love.

#### **Key Scriptures**

**Luke 12:33-34 AKJV** Sell that you have, and give alms; provide yourselves bags which wax not old, a treasure in the heavens that fails not, where no thief approaches, neither moth corrupts. 34For where your treasure is, there will your heart be also.

**Matthew 6:1-4 AKJV** Take heed that you do not your alms before men, to be seen of them: otherwise you have no reward of your Father which is in heaven. 2Therefore when you do your alms, do not sound a trumpet before you, as the hypocrites do in the synagogues and in the streets, that they may have glory of men. Truly I say to you, They have their reward. 3But when you do alms, let not your left hand know what your right hand does: 4That your alms may be in secret: and your Father which sees in secret himself shall reward you openly.

**2 Corinthians 9:6-7 AKJV** 2 Corinthians 9:6-7 (AKJV) But this I say, He which sows sparingly shall reap also sparingly; and he which sows bountifully shall reap also bountifully. 7Every man according as he purposes in his heart, so let him give; not grudgingly, or of necessity: for God loves a cheerful giver. :

Matthew 25:34-46 (Then shall the King say to them on his right hand, Come, you blessed of my Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world: 35For I was an hungered, and you gave me meat: I was thirsty, and you gave me drink: I was a stranger, and you took me in: 36Naked, and you clothed me: I was sick, and you visited me: I was in prison, and you came to me. 37Then shall the righteous answer him, saying, Lord, when saw we you an hungered, and fed you? or thirsty, and gave you drink? 38When saw we you a stranger, and took you in? or naked, and clothed you? 39Or when saw we you sick, or in prison, and came to you? 40And the King shall answer and say to them, Truly I say to you, Inasmuch as you have done it to one of the least of these my brothers, you have done it to me.

41Then shall he say also to them on the left hand, Depart from me, you cursed, into everlasting fire, prepared for the devil and his angels: 42For I was an hungered, and you gave me no meat: I was thirsty, and you gave me no drink: 43I was a stranger, and you took me not in: naked, and you clothed me not: sick, and in prison, and you visited me not. 44Then shall they also answer him, saying, Lord, when saw we you an hungered, or thirsty, or a stranger, or naked, or sick, or in prison, and did not minister to you? 45Then shall he answer them, saying, Truly I say to you, Inasmuch as you did it not to one of the least of these, you did it not to me. 46And these shall go away into everlasting punishment: but the righteous into life eternal.

**Acts 20:35 (AKJV)** I have showed you all things, how that so laboring you ought to support the weak, and to remember the words of the Lord Jesus, how he said, It is more blessed to give than to receive.

**Hebrews 13:16 (AKJV)**: "But to do good and to \*communicate forget not: for with such sacrifices God is well pleased." ( \*and to share with others)

**Philippians 4:15-20 (AKJV)**: "Now you Philippians know also, that in the beginning of the gospel, when I departed from Macedonia, no church communicated with me as concerning giving and receiving, but you only. 16For even in Thessalonica you sent once and again to my necessity. 17Not because I desire a gift: but I desire fruit that may abound to your account. 18But I have all, and abound: I am full, having received of Epaphroditus the things which were sent from you, an odor of a sweet smell, a sacrifice acceptable, well pleasing to God. 19But my God shall supply all your need according to his riches in glory by Christ Jesus. 20Now to God and our Father be glory for ever and ever. Amen. ."

**Luke 6:38 (AKJV)**: "Give, and it shall be given to you; good measure, pressed down, and shaken together, and running over, shall men give into your bosom. For with the same measure that you mete with it shall be measured to you again."

**Matthew 19:21-26** ( AKJV) Jesus said to him, If you will be perfect, go and sell that you have, and give to the poor, and you shall have treasure in heaven: and come and follow me. 22But when the young man heard that saying, he went away sorrowful: for he had great possessions.23Then said Jesus to his disciples, Truly I say to you, That a rich man shall hardly enter into the kingdom of heaven. 24And again I say to you, It is easier for a camel to go through the eye of a needle, than for a rich man to enter into the kingdom of God. 25When his disciples heard it, they were exceedingly amazed, saying, Who then can be saved? 26But Jesus beheld them, and said to them, With men this is impossible; but with God all things are possible.

#### Conclusion:

Christian charity, when expressed in the context of God's truth and desire for us to be heartfelt givers, reveals the depth and transformative power of God's love. As we as followers of Jesus extend charity beyond expectations, in times of suffering, and in the pursuit of reconciliation, we embody the inclusive and boundless love of Christ. May our acts of charity be a testament to the profound impact of God's love on a world in need.

# Vision And Objectives

**PROVERBS 29:18** Where there is no vision the people perish.

Christians should have vision or godly goals and objectives to strive towards in faith, in order to fulfill what God has called us to do.

Vision and objectives in missions and ministry play a crucial role in guiding the purpose and activities of every believer and follower of Jesus Christ. These principles are deeply rooted in the Bible to learn, emulate and follow in particular, serves as examples along with God's Holy Spirit being the primary source for giving, shaping the specific vision, callings and objectives of missions and ministry personally to each of us.

God gives each of us general callings in ministry, inviting all believers to love Him and others, to serve Him and share the gospel. In addition, He calls some of us to specific roles or tasks within His Kingdom. To equip us for these purposes, God also provides spiritual gifts and talents, entrusted to us as stewards. These gifts are meant to be used faithfully in fulfilling the unique vision and objectives He has set before us, advancing His will and work in the world.

One key scriptural reference is found in the New Testament, specifically in Matthew 28:19-20, where Jesus issues the Great Commission to his disciples, saying, "Go therefore and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, teaching them to observe all that I have commanded you." This passage underscores the importance of spreading the teachings of the faith globally and making disciples of all people.

The vision for missions and ministry is not only about spreading the message of salvation but also about embodying the love of Christ through practical acts of service and compassion. In Matthew 25:35-36, Jesus outlines the criteria for inheriting the kingdom, stating, "For I was hungry and you gave me food, I was thirsty and you gave me drink, I was a stranger and you welcomed me, I was naked and you clothed me, I was sick and you visited me, I was in prison and you came to me." This passage underscores the importance of meeting the physical and emotional needs of others as an integral part of fulfilling the mission.

Moreover, the book of Isaiah provides prophetic insight into the transformative nature of God's mission. In Isaiah 6:8, the prophet responds to God's call, saying, "Here I am! Send

me." This verse reflects a willingness and readiness to participate in God's mission, echoing the sentiments of individuals and organizations actively engaged in missions and ministry today.

The teachings of Jesus in the Gospel of Luke provide additional insight. In Luke 4:18-19, Jesus reads from the scroll of Isaiah in the synagogue, declaring, "The Spirit of the Lord is upon me because he has anointed me to proclaim good news to the poor. He has sent me to proclaim liberty to the captives and recovering of sight to the blind, to set at liberty those who are oppressed, to proclaim the year of the Lord's favor." This passage encapsulates a mission focused on social justice, compassion, and liberation, aligning with the broader objectives of missions to address the needs of the marginalized and oppressed.

Another significant biblical foundation for mission and ministry vision is found in Acts 1:8, where Jesus tells his disciples, "But you will receive power when the Holy Spirit has come upon you, and you will be my witnesses in Jerusalem and in all Judea and Samaria, and to the end of the earth." This verse emphasizes the empowerment of believers through the Holy Spirit and the call to be witnesses not only in local communities but also in broader geographical regions.

The vision for missions goes beyond geographical expansion; it emphasizes the importance of personal spiritual transformation. At its core, missions is about fostering individual relationships with Jesus Christ through encouragement and discipleship, helping people grow in their faith and become more like Him. As new believers grow in their faith, hearing and receiving the word of God, they will know the truth, they will know God's will and they will learn to seek and to rely on God's Holy Spirit to guide them further into all truth and to be guided and strengthened by God's Holy Spirit every day.

Ephesians 4:11-13 further contributes to the understanding of the objectives of ministry and missions: "And he gave the apostles, the prophets, the evangelists, the shepherds and teachers, to equip the saints for the work of ministry, for building up the body of Christ, until we all attain to the unity of the faith and of the knowledge of the Son of God, to mature manhood, to the measure of the stature of the fullness of Christ." This passage outlines the various roles within the body of Christ and emphasizes the goal of maturity and unity in faith, pointing to the development of believers as a central objective in missions and ministry.

James 1:27 provides a scriptural foundation for this biblical approach, stating, "Religion that is pure and undefiled before God the Father is this: to visit orphans and widows in their affliction and to keep oneself unstained from the world." This verse underscores the importance of addressing social issues and caring for the vulnerable, reflecting a comprehensive vision for missions that involves both spiritual and practical aspects.

Whatever we do, we are called to do it **as unto the Lord Jesus Christ** (Colossians 3:23). This means that every task, every action, whether in our personal lives or in ministry and missions, should be carried out with the heart and mindset of honoring Him. Our work is not simply for ourselves or others but as a reflection of our love and obedience to Christ.

As we engage in His work, we are to **demonstrate the same love** that Jesus showed us—selfless, sacrificial, and holy, filled with divine virtues—in everything we do.

We are called to **pray for His wisdom** in every decision we make, leaning not on our own understanding, but trusting in His perfect guidance. Proverbs 3:5-6 instructs us, "Trust in the Lord with all your heart and lean not on your own understanding; in all your ways submit to Him, and He will make your paths straight." This means we surrender our own plans, asking God to shape our thoughts, actions, and desires according to His will.

In all our endeavors, whether in ministry or daily life, we are to **acknowledge Him and commit our plans to Him** (Proverbs 16:3). This involves more than just asking for His blessing; it means submitting our hearts and intentions to His sovereignty. We pray for His wisdom and discernment, asking Him to reveal His will and give us the courage to follow it. If a plan or direction is not aligned with His purpose, He will gently guide us, redirecting our path and shaping us to walk in the way He desires.

God desires to give us a clear **vision and plan** for fulfilling His calling in ministry and missions. This vision is not just about personal achievement or success, but about partnering with God in His redemptive work in the world. When we **demonstrate the same love** that Christ showed us, we reflect His heart for others—loving the lost, serving the needy, and reaching out with compassion to those in need. In this, we fulfill His calling, not by relying on our own strength or wisdom, but by trusting in His guidance, His timing, and His perfect plan.

As we walk in His calling, we must remember that God's plans are always greater than our own. By committing our paths to Him, we open ourselves to His perfect direction, trusting that He will provide the wisdom, opportunities, and strength we need to accomplish His will. And in everything, we are to love others as Christ loved us—demonstrating His grace, His patience, and His sacrificial love in all that we do. This is the essence of true ministry: loving others as Christ has loved us and doing everything for His glory.

In the end, our calling is to faithfully follow Christ's example, allowing His love to shape our hearts and lives, and to fulfill His mission in the world with His love, wisdom, and strength guiding us every step of the way.

# How can our lives be purposeful for God's kingdom?

**Pray** first to God and ask Him to give you Wisdom and to further to direct your life each day specifically Where and How to serve.

Make a conscious effort each day to **demonstrate God's Love and Truth** in your words and actions towards the following people, ministries, and/or within various community service organizations...

Here a just a few Examples of where, whom and how we can have vision/objectives to serve and share the love of Jesus Christ in various ways;

# Needy:

**Vision:** Meeting the immediate physical and spiritual needs of individuals facing poverty and hardship.

# **Objectives:**

- Providing emergency assistance, including food and shelter.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- · Offering spiritual counseling and mentorship.
- Collaborating with local organizations to address impoverished issues.
- Empowering individuals to break the cycle of poverty through skill development.
- Think and pray for the ways that God could use you to fulfill the needs of the less fortunate specifically in areas near you.
- Be sensitive and aware to when God wants to use you individually to help someone in some way. It may be just a one time charitable act or could be more follow up.
- Be open to being a part of a Christian Team emergency relief ministry

#### Homeless:

**Vision:** Restoring dignity and offering needed support to individuals experiencing homelessness.

### **Objectives:**

- Providing shelters and basic necessities for the homeless.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering counseling and mental health support.
- Facilitating job training and placement programs.
- Advocating for affordable housing and systemic change.
- Provide food, clothing and needed supplies

### Mentally Handicapped:

**Vision:** Creating an inclusive and supportive community that caters to the spiritual and emotional needs of individuals with mental disabilities.

### Objectives: Providing accessible worship services and activities.

- Offering pastoral care and counseling for individuals and their families.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.

- Training church members to be inclusive and supportive.
- Collaborating with mental health professionals for comprehensive care.

#### Sick at Home:

**Vision:** Bringing comfort and spiritual support to individuals who are sick and confined to their homes.

# **Objectives:**

- Offering prayer and emotional support to the sick and their families.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing resources for spiritual reflection and encouragement.
- Personally as a Christian visiting the sick
- Organizing pastoral visits and care teams for the homebound.
- Facilitating virtual or phone-based spiritual activities.

# Family / Friends:

**Vision:** To foster a culture of love, support, and spiritual growth within families and among friends, centered around the teachings of Jesus Christ.

# **Objectives:**

- Strengthening familial bonds through shared spiritual activities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing emotional and spiritual support during challenging times.
- Discipling family members and friends to grow in their faith.
- Creating a safe space for open communication about faith.
- Be Christlike, without hypocrisy, in our daily lives. Live transparently reflecting the love of Jesus Christ, in our words and deeds.

#### Friends:

**Vision:** Building authentic relationships with friends and creating opportunities for spiritual conversations and growth.

- Cultivating genuine friendships through shared interests and activities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Modeling Christian values in daily interactions.
- Engaging in intentional conversations about faith when appropriate.
- Creating a welcoming environment for friends to explore Christianity.

#### Co-Workers:

**Vision:** Integrating Christian principles into the workplace, fostering a positive and ethical work environment.

# **Objectives:**

- Demonstrating Christ-like behavior in professional settings.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing support and encouragement to co-workers.
- Organizing workplace events that promote unity and spiritual growth.
- Offering prayer and spiritual guidance when requested.

#### Students:

**Vision:** Empowering students with a strong moral and spiritual foundation to navigate academic and personal challenges.

# **Objectives:**

- Establishing mentorship programs to guide students in their walk of faith.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Organizing Bible studies or faith-based clubs on campuses.
- Providing resources for spiritual development and coping with academic stress.
- Creating a supportive community for students to share their faith.

# Hospital:

**Vision:** Bringing comfort, hope, and spiritual healing to patients and their families during times of illness.

# **Objectives:**

- Offering prayer and emotional support to patients and their families.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Collaborating with hospital staff to meet the spiritual needs of patients.
- Organizing volunteer teams to provide companionship and assistance.
- Conducting regular worship services and prayer sessions.

### **Prison:**

**Vision:** Bringing the message of redemption and transformation to incarcerated individuals, fostering hope and rehabilitation.

# **Objectives:**

- Providing spiritual mentorship and counseling to inmates.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering resources for education and skill development.
- Organizing worship services and Bible studies within prison facilities.
- Facilitating reintegration programs for released individuals.

# **Boy/Girl Youth Detention:**

**Vision:** Guiding young individuals in detention towards positive change and spiritual growth.

# **Objectives:**

- Providing mentorship and counseling tailored to youth needs.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering educational and vocational training opportunities.
- Organizing recreational and faith-based activities within detention centers.
- Advocating for rehabilitation and community reintegration.

#### **Youth Crisis:**

**Vision:** Offering immediate support and guidance to youth facing crises, both emotional and spiritual.

### **Objectives:**

- Providing crisis intervention and counseling services.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering a safe space for youth to express themselves.
- Organizing support groups and mentoring programs.
- Collaborating with mental health professionals to address underlying issues.

#### **Elderly Care Home:**

**Vision:** Creating a community of care and spiritual enrichment for the elderly residing in care homes.

- Providing companionship and emotional support to residents.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Organizing worship services, devotional activities, and Bible studies.
- Facilitating intergenerational activities to connect with youth.
- Addressing the specific spiritual needs of elderly individuals.

# Handicapped:

**Vision:** Ensuring that individuals with disabilities have equal access to spiritual resources and support.

# **Objectives:**

- Making churches and ministry activities accessible to individuals with disabilities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing adaptive materials and resources for spiritual growth.
- Organizing inclusive events and activities that cater to diverse needs.
- Fostering a culture of inclusion within faith communities.

# Military:

**Vision:** Supporting military personnel and their families with spiritual resources and care during deployment and beyond.

# **Objectives:**

- Providing chaplaincy services to military personnel.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering support to military families during deployments.
- Organizing community events and gatherings for military communities.
- Addressing the unique spiritual challenges faced by those in the military.

# **Ethnic Groups:**

**Vision:** Fostering unity and understanding among diverse ethnic groups through shared faith and community activities.

- Celebrating cultural diversity within the context of faith communities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Organizing multicultural events and activities.
- Offering translated resources and services for diverse language groups.

Promoting intercultural dialogue and understanding.

# **High Schools:**

**Vision:** Providing spiritual guidance, mentorship, and positive influence within high school settings.

# **Objectives:**

- Establishing Christian clubs and organizations on high school campuses.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- · Offering mentorship programs for students.
- Providing resources for character development and spiritual growth.
- Organizing events that promote a positive school culture.

# Colleges:

**Vision:** Equipping college students with a strong foundation of faith and values to navigate the challenges of higher education.

# **Objectives:**

- Establishing campus ministries and Christian organizations.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing resources for spiritual exploration and growth.
- Offering mentorship programs for college students.
- Addressing the unique spiritual challenges faced by students in higher education.

# **Street Evangelism:**

**Vision:** Reaching individuals in public spaces with the message of God's love and salvation.

### **Objectives:**

- Engaging in conversations about faith in public areas.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Distributing literature and resources on the streets.
- Offering prayer and spiritual support to those encountered.
- Organizing street events and activities to attract attention.

#### Children:

**Vision:** Nurturing the spiritual growth and well-being of children, laying a strong foundation for their faith journey.

# **Objectives:**

- Providing age-appropriate Bible studies and activities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Offering mentorship and positive role models.
- Creating a safe and inclusive environment for children to explore faith.
- Involving children in age-appropriate service and outreach activities.

# **Foreign Mission - Country:**

**Vision:** Sharing the Gospel, meeting humanitarian needs, and building sustainable communities in foreign countries.

# **Objectives:**

- Establishing local churches and faith communities.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Providing education, healthcare, and economic support.
- Training and empowering local leaders for long-term impact.
- Building cross-cultural relationships and understanding.

#### **Tourists:**

**Vision:** Offering spiritual guidance and support to tourists, meeting their needs beyond physical comfort.

### **Objectives:**

- Providing hospitality and assistance to tourists in need.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- Engaging in conversations about faith and offering spiritual resources.
- Organizing outreach events tailored for tourists to encounter the Christian message.
- Collaborating with local churches to create a network of support.

# **Corresponding:**

**Vision:** Maintaining connection and providing spiritual support to individuals through correspondence.

- Writing personalized letters and messages of encouragement.
- Sharing the Good News of God's Salvation through Jesus Christ.
- · Sending resources and materials for spiritual growth.
- Offering virtual or phone-based spiritual counseling.
- Establishing a sense of community and support through correspondence.

In each of these areas, the vision is to bring the Good News of Salvation through Jesus Christ, transformative message of Christ while the objectives aim at addressing the unique needs and challenges of the specific group. The overarching goal is to reflect and demonstrate Christ's love, share the Gospel, and contribute positively to the spiritual, emotional, and practical well-being of individuals and communities.

# **Church Planting**

# **Biblical Commentary on Church Planting**

Church planting is the Spirit-led work of establishing new local communities of faith rooted in the gospel of Jesus Christ. This mission is deeply biblical and finds its foundation in the Great Commission, where Jesus commands His followers in *Matthew 28:19–20*: "Go therefore and make disciples of all nations... teaching them to obey everything I have commanded you." The natural result of making disciples is forming them into local gatherings—churches—where they can worship, grow, serve, and be sent out. The early Church in the Book of Acts is a clear model of this pattern. As the apostles preached the gospel, baptized believers, and appointed leaders, new churches sprang up across cities, regions, and cultures. Church planting was not a secondary activity; it was at the heart of the New Testament mission.

The Apostle Paul stands as the most prominent church planter in Scripture. His missionary journeys, detailed in *Acts 13–28*, were marked by a consistent strategy: proclaim Christ, disciple converts, form them into communities, and appoint elders to lead them (see *Acts 14:21–23*). Paul did not just make individual converts; he built churches. For example, he planted churches in places like Philippi, Thessalonica, Corinth, and Ephesus. These churches were not perfect, but they became centers for worship, discipleship, outreach, and support for other believers. Paul often revisited or wrote letters to these churches to strengthen their faith and correct doctrinal or moral errors. Church planting, therefore, was both an evangelistic and pastoral work—rooted in the gospel and sustained by spiritual maturity.

Theologically, church planting reflects the nature of God's kingdom—growing, expanding, and transforming. Jesus often compared the kingdom to a seed that is planted and grows into something greater (*Mark 4:30–32*). Likewise, planting churches is an act of faith that God will grow and multiply His presence through the lives of His people in new places. Church planting also fulfills the apostolic vision of the Church as a body with many members, each local congregation being a unique expression of Christ's global body (*1* 

Corinthians 12:12-27). Each church, no matter how small, becomes a lighthouse of truth, love, and spiritual power in its community. It is a place where the Word is preached, the sacraments are observed, the saints are equipped, and the lost are reached.

Practically, church planting is both challenging and deeply rewarding. It requires faith, vision, leadership, sacrifice, and dependence on the Holy Spirit. New church plants often face spiritual opposition, resource limitations, and cultural barriers. Yet, they are also uniquely positioned to reach unreached people, develop innovative ministry, and embody the gospel in fresh ways. As *Romans 10:14–15* reminds us, "How can they believe in the one of whom they have not heard? And how can they hear without someone preaching to them?" Church planting is one of God's primary ways of bringing that gospel message to places where Christ is not yet known or worshiped. It is a strategic and Spirit-filled endeavor that brings the presence of Jesus to new communities and advances His mission until the whole earth is filled with the knowledge of His glory.